# BEFORE THE ILLINOIS POLLUTION CONTROL BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF:	)	
	)	R17-
REGULATORY RELIEF	)	(Rulemaking-procedural)
MECHANISMS: PROPOSED NEW	)	
35 ILL. ADM CODE PART 104,	)	
SUBPART E	)	

## NOTICE OF FILING

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that I have filed today with the Illinois Pollution Control Board Illinois EPA's MOTION FOR ACCEPTANCE; APPEARANCES; CERTIFICATE OF ORIGINATION; STATEMENT OF REASONS; and PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO 35 ILL. ADM. CODE PART 104, SUBPART E, a copy of which is herewith served upon you.

Respectfully submitted,

ILLINOIS ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY

By: /s/Sara G. Terranova
Sara G. Terranova
Assistant Counsel
Division of Legal Counsel

DATED: 8/9/7017

1021 N. Grand Avenue East P.O. Box 19276 Springfield, IL 62794-9276 (217) 782-5544

## BEFORE THE ILLINOIS POLLUTION CONTROL BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF:	)	
	)	R17-
REGULATORY RELIEF	)	(Rulemaking-procedural)
MECHANISMS: PROPOSED NEW	)	A To the second
35 ILL. ADM CODE PART 104,	)	
SUBPART E	)	

## MOTION FOR ACCEPTANCE

NOW COMES the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency (Illinois EPA), by and through its attorneys, and pursuant to 35 Ill. Adm. Code 102.106, 102.200, and 102.202, moves the Illinois Pollution Control Board to accept the Illinois EPA's proposal for the adoption of a proposed new Subpart E to 35 Ill. Adm. Code Part 104.

This regulatory proposal includes:

- 1) Notice of Filing;
- Appearances of Attorneys for the Illinois EPA;
- 3) Certification of Origination;
- Statement of Reasons (including attachments);
- 5) Proposed Amendments; and
- 6) Certificate of Service

Respectfully submitted,

ILLINOIS ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY

By: /s/Sara G. Terranova
Sara G. Terranova
Assistant Counsel
Division of Legal Counsel
Sara.Terranova@illinois.gov

DATED: Sq / Zei7 1021 N. Grand Avenue East P.O. Box 19276 Springfield, IL 62794-9276 (217) 782-5544 epa.dlc@illinois.gov

## BEFORE THE ILLINOIS POLLUTION CONTROL BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF:	)	
	j	R17-
REGULATORY RELIEF	)	(Rulemaking-procedural)
MECHANISMS: PROPOSED NEW	)	
35 ILL. ADM CODE PART 104,	)	
SUBPART E	)	

## **APPEARANCE**

The undersigned hereby enters her appearance as an attorney on behalf of the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency.

Respectfully submitted,

ILLINOIS ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY

By: /s/Sara G. Terranova
Sara G. Terranova
Assistant Counsel
Division of Legal Counsel

DATED: 8/9/7017

1021 N. Grand Avenue East P.O. Box 19276 Springfield, IL 62794-9276 (217) 782-5544

## BEFORE THE ILLINOIS POLLUTION CONTROL BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF:	)	
	)	R17-
REGULATORY RELIEF	)	(Rulemaking-procedural)
MECHANISMS: PROPOSED NEW	)	
35 ILL. ADM CODE PART 104,	)	
SUBPART E	)	

## **APPEARANCE**

The undersigned hereby enters her appearance as an attorney on behalf of the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency.

Respectfully submitted,

ILLINOIS ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY

By: /s/ Stefanie N. Diers
Stefanie N. Diers
Assistant Counsel
Division of Legal Counsel
Stefanie.Diers@illinois.gov

DATED: 8 9 2017

1021 N. Grand Avenue East P.O. Box 19276 Springfield, IL 62794-9276 (217) 782-5544 epa.dlc@illinois.gov

## BEFORE THE ILLINOIS POLLUTION CONTROL BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF:	)	
	)	R17-
REGULATORY RELIEF	)	(Rulemaking-procedural)
MECHANISMS: PROPOSED NEW	)	
35 ILL. ADM CODE PART 104,	)	
SUBPART E	)	

## CERTIFICATE OF ORIGINATION

NOW COMES the ILLINOIS ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (Illinois EPA) by one of its attorneys, and pursuant to 35 Ill. Adm. Code 102.202(i), the Illinois EPA certifies that the regulatory proposal in the above captioned matter amends the most recent version of Part 104 of the Illinois Pollution Control Board's regulation, as published on the Board's website.

Respectfully submitted,

ILLINOIS ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY

By: /s/Sara G. Terranova
Sara G. Terranova
Assistant Counsel
Division of Legal Counsel

DATED: 5/9/17

1021 N. Grand Avenue East P.O. Box 19276 Springfield, IL 62794-9276 (217) 782-5544

## BEFORE THE ILLINOIS POLLUTION CONTROL BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF:	)	
	)	R17-
REGULATORY RELIEF	)	(Rulemaking-procedural)
MECHANISMS: PROPOSED NEW	)	<b>5</b> 1
35 ILL. ADM CODE PART 104,	)	
SUBPART E	)	

#### STATEMENT OF REASONS

NOW COMES the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency, (Illinois EPA or Agency) by and through its counsel, and hereby submits this Statement of Reasons to the Illinois Pollution Control Board (Board) pursuant to Sections 13, 27, and 28 of the Environmental Protection Act (Act) (415 ILCS 5/13, 27, and 28 (2014)) and 35 Ill. Adm. Code 102.200 and 102.202. The proposal seeks to add a new Subpart E; Time-Limited Water Quality Standards to Part 104 of Title 35 of the Illinois Administrative Code. The proposed procedural rules will allow Illinois to adopt time-limited water quality standards consistent with both the federal and state law requirements.

## I. Legal Framework and Background

## A. Designated Uses and Water Quality Standards

Section 101(a)(2) of the Clean Water Act (CWA) sets forth the national interim goal of achieving water quality which provides for the protection and propagation of fish, shellfish, and wildlife and provides for recreation in and on the water, wherever attainable (hereafter collectively referred to as "the uses specified in section 101(a)(2)"). See 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a)(2). Section 303 of the CWA requires states to adopt water quality standards for waters of the United States within their respective jurisdictions. See 33 U.S.C. § 1313. Section 303(c) of the CWA requires, among other things, that state water quality standards include the designated use or uses applicable to those waters. Section 303(c)(2)(A) of the CWA requires that water quality standards "protect the

public health or welfare, enhance the quality of water and serve the purposes" of the CWA. The United States Environmental Protection Agency's (USEPA) regulations explain that:

Serve the purposes of the [Clean Water] Act" (as defined in sections 101(a)(2) and 303(c) of the [Clean Water] Act) means that water quality standards should, wherever attainable, provide water quality for the protection and propagation of fish, shellfish and wildlife and for recreation in and on the water and take into consideration their use and value of public water supplies, propagation of fish, shellfish, and wildlife, recreation in and on the water, and agricultural, industrial, and other purposes including navigation.

40 C.F.R. §131.2. Water quality standards adopted by the states must include the uses specified in Section 101(a)(2) of the CWA, unless those uses have been shown to be unattainable. See 40 C.F.R. §131.5(a)(7), 131.6(a),131.10(j), and 131.20(a).

Once a state designates the uses specified in Section 101(a)(2) of the CWA for a specific water body, the state can only remove the designated use if, among other things, the state can demonstrate that attaining the designated use is not feasible for at least one of the six reasons set forth in Section 131.10(g) of USEPA's rules (10(g) factors). 40 C.F.R. §131.10.

Unlike with designated uses, nothing in the CWA or USEPA's regulations allows states to relax or modify water quality standards based on concepts of attainability to levels that are not protective of the designated use. Instead, if standards are not attainable, the CWA and USEPA's regulations allow states to 1) remove the current designated use after demonstrating, among other things, that attaining the current designated use is not feasible under one of the 10(g) factors, and replace it with a subcategory of use and then 2) adopt new, potentially less stringent, water quality standards necessary to protect the new designated use. See 33 U.S.C. § 1313 and 40 C.F.R. §131.10

USEPA does allow variances from water quality standard for a limited period of time.

USEPA recognizes that a water quality standards variance is a time-limited use and criterion that is targeted to a specific pollutant(s), source(s) and/or water body or waterbody segment(s) that reflects the highest attainable condition during the specified time period. See Attachment A at

54531. Therefore, a variance provides time for the state or tribe to work with both point and nonpoint sources to determine and implement adaptive management approaches that will improve water quality where the designated use and criterion currently are not being met, but still retain the designated uses as a long-term goal. Id.

Furthermore, USEPA has stated their position on variances in a decision of USEPA's General Counsel. See In Re Bethlehem Steel Corporation, 58 Op. USEPA General Counsel, 1977; Attachment B. The General Counsel's decision reasoned that a state's decision to grant a variance from a water quality standard can be approved by USEPA as being consistent with the CWA and Section 131.10<sup>1</sup> because the state's action in limiting the applicability of an otherwise approvable use removal to a single discharger and a single standard for a limited period would be more stringent than if the state made the use removal applicable to the water body as a whole. Id. at 4.

#### B. Federal Water Quality Standard Variance Rules

On August 21, 2015, USEPA adopted a final rule setting forth requirements for water quality standard variances. See Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions; Final Rule. 80 Fed. Reg. 51020 (Aug. 21, 2015); Attachment A. As stated above, a water quality standard (WQS) variance is defined as a time-limited designated use and water quality criterion for a specific pollutant(s) or water quality parameter(s) that reflect the highest attainable condition during the term of the WQS variance. See 40 C.F. R. §131.3(o).

Under USEPA's regulations it can approve a WQS variance for a single discharger, multiple dischargers, or a water body or waterbody segment when the applicable designated uses are not attainable in the near-term but may be attainable in the future. See 40 C.F.R. § 131.14; See also Attachment A at 51035. As such, the state must demonstrate that it is not feasible for the

When the USEPA General Counsel issued its Opinion, Section 130.10 was codified as Section 130.17.

single discharger, multiple dischargers, or a waterbody or water body segment to attain the water quality based effluent limit derived from the applicable designated use and standard during the term of the variance due to at least one of the 10(g) factors or because actions necessary to facilitate lake, wetland, or stream restoration through dam removal or significant recodification activities preclude attainment of the designated use. 40 C.F.R. §131.10(g); 40 C. F.R. § 131.14(b)(2(i)(A)(2). USEPA added this new factor for instances in which states wish to obtain a WQS variance because they expect a time-limited exceedance of a standard when removing a dam or during significant wetland, lake, or stream reconfiguration/restoration efforts. *See* Attachment A at 51037.

USEPA's rule explicitly states that a WQS variance is subject to the same public participation requirements applicable to a newly adopted or revised WQS and that a WQS variance is subject to USEPA review and approval or disapproval. See 40 C.F.R. §131.14; 40 C.F.R. §131.20(b). The rule clarifies how WQS variances relate to other CWA programs, specifically National Pollutant Discharge Elimination Systems (NPDES) permit programs and Section 401 of the CWA (33 U.S.C. 1341). See 40 C.F.R. §131.14(a). The final rule specifies the information that a state must submit to USEPA when seeking approval of a WQS variance, which includes a quantifiable expression of the highest attainable condition. 40 C.F.R. §131.14(b)(1). USEPA identifies this requirement as an important feature of a WQS variance that facilitates development of NPDES permit limits and requirements and allows states and the public to track progress. See Attachment A at 51037. The rule also clarifies that states must submit to USEPA supporting documentation that demonstrates why the WQS variance is needed (i.e., 10(g) factors) and justifies the term and interim requirements. See 40 C.F.R. §131.14(b)(2). Finally, it clarifies that states must reevaluate WQS variances which are longer than five years on an established schedule with

public involvement. See 40 C.F.R. §131.14(b)(1)(v).

## C. Illinois General Variance History

Generally, the Board may grant individual variances from any rule or order of the Board when a petitioner demonstrates that immediate compliance with an identified Board regulation would impose an "arbitrary and unreasonable hardship" on the petitioner. 415 ILCS 5/35(a). When deciding to grant or deny a variance petition, the Board is required to balance the petitioner's hardship in complying with Board regulations against the impact that the requested variance will have on the environment. *Monsanto Co. v. PCB*, 67 Ill. 2d 276, 292 (1977). While the Board may grant individual variances pursuant to the "arbitrary and unreasonable hardship" threshold, the CWA and federal regulations only allow variances from a water quality standard if, among other things, the state demonstrates that the designated use for the water body at issue is not attainable for at least one of the 10(g) factors. Before the Act was amended in 2017, it did not provide any other mechanism consistent with federal law to grant WQS variances.

# D. Illinois Environmental Protection Act Statutory Change

In 2016, to conform to USEPA's rules on water quality standard variances, Illinois EPA sought to amend the Illinois Environmental Protection Act. The legislation provides Illinois with greater flexibility in addressing compliance with water quality standards, and is the result of the joint efforts of the Illinois EPA, Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Great Chicago, the Illinois Attorney General's Office, Illinois Environmental Regulatory Group, industry, and various environmental groups. The legislation establishes a new relief mechanism called a time-limited water quality standard. This legislation was signed by Illinois Governor Bruce Rauner on February 24, 2017, and became effective immediately. *See* Public Act 99-937, 415 ILCS 5/38.5 Attachment C.

The new legislation authorizes the Board to adopt federally approvable water quality standard variances consistent with USEPA's 2015 final rule. Previously, dischargers could only obtain an individual variance. Now under Public Act 99-937, dischargers may seek additional types of time-limited water quality standards (i.e., single discharger, multiple dischargers, a water body or waterbody segment, and a watershed time-limited water quality standard). The new law creates an administratively efficient process for dischargers to obtain time-limited water quality standards in Illinois. The legislation requires Illinois EPA to propose, and the Board to adopt rules prescribing specific procedures and standards to be used when adopting time-limited water quality standards

Specifically, for watershed, water body, waterbody segment and multiple discharger timelimited water quality standards, the Board is required to include in its adopting opinion, eligibility
criteria that may be used by the Agency to grant coverage under the time-limited water quality
standard during its duration for new or existing dischargers. A discharger may seek coverage from
the Agency at the time of renewal or modification of that entity's NPDES permit or at the time the
person files an application for certification under Section 401 of the CWA. In addition, the
legislation directly provides the public with the right to participate and to appeal final decisions of
the Agency and the Board.

The legislation provides a new mechanism for staying the effectiveness of a given water quality standard under certain circumstances. If a time-limited water quality standard petition is filed within 35 days after the effective date of the water quality standard from which relief is sought, the effectiveness of the water quality standard shall be stayed. In addition, if a time-limited water quality standard petition is filed by any member of a class of dischargers identified by the Board before the established deadline, the effectiveness of the water quality standard shall be stayed.

#### II. REGULATORY PROPOSAL

## A. Regulatory Proposal: Purpose and Effect

The Illinois EPA now submits this regulatory proposal to add a new subpart E, Time-Limited Water Quality Standards, to Part 104 of the Board's procedural rules. The purpose of the new Subpart E is to provide detailed procedural requirements concerning the adoption of time-limited water quality standards consistent with both federal and state law. Specifically, the proposed rules allow Illinois dischargers to seek additional types of time-limited water quality standards (i.e., single discharger, multiple dischargers, a water body, waterbody segment, and a watershed time-limited water quality standard). They create an administratively efficient process for dischargers to obtain time-limited water quality standards in Illinois. The Illinois EPA's proposal also gives the public the right to participate and to appeal final decisions of the Agency and the Board.

The Illinois EPA's proposed rule explains what a time-limited water quality standard is, how they are to be used, and who is able to obtain one. The Agency's rules delineate the different parties (petitioners and participants) and types of notice and service required. The proposed rules also lay out provisions of the statutorily created stay. If a time-limited water quality standard petition is filed within 35 days after the effective date of the water quality standard from which relief is sought, the effectiveness of the water quality standard shall be stayed. In addition, if a time-limited water quality standard petition is filed by any member of a class of dischargers identified by the Board before the established deadline, the effectiveness of the water quality standard shall be stayed.

Illinois EPA's proposed rules contain the procedure to be followed once a time limited water quality standard petition is filed: the Agency must file a response, the Board must establish

classes and deadlines for substantially compliant petitions, and once a substantially compliant petition is filed, the Agency must file a recommendation. The Board must hold a hearing on all petitions that are substantially complaint. After the post-hearing comment period has expired, the Board must issue an order and opinion granting or denying the petition. If the petition is granted, Illinois EPA will submit the time-limited water quality standard to USEAP for review and approval. The proposed rules also include provisions specifying how a discharger who was not a petitioner to the proceedings before the Board may obtain coverage under a Board-approved time-limited water quality standard. Finally, the proposed rules include a procedure for reevaluations when the time-limited water quality standard is greater than five years and extension for instances when the time-limited water quality standard has ended but the designed use still remains unattainable.

The Illinois EPA's proposal is modeled closely after Section 131.14 of the federal rules, Section 38.5 of the Act, and Board's existing rules for variances. 40 C.F.R. §131.14, 415 ILCS 5/38.5; 35 Ill. Adm. Code 104.200. The proposed rule clearly lays out what is specifically required of a petitioner, the Agency, and the Board. In addition, the intent is also to make clear the role participants may have in a time-limited water quality standard proceeding.

## B. Regulatory Proposal: Language

The following is a section-by-section summary of the Illinois EPA's proposal.

## Section 104.500 Purpose

This proposed Section states that the purpose of this Subpart is to set forth procedures for obtaining time-limited water quality standards from water quality standards found in Parts 302 and 303 of the Board's regulations. Also, this Section states that this Subpart must be read in

conjunction with the Board's general procedural rules as found in Part101. See 35 III. Adm. Code 101.

## Section 104.505 Applicability and Use

This Section states that a time-limited water quality standard proceeding is a non-adjudicatory proceeding. A time-limited water quality standard can be adopted for a single discharger, multiple dischargers, water body, a waterbody segment, or a watershed. The extent and coverage of the time-limited water quality standard will be set forth in a Board Order adopting the time-limited water quality standard. Once adopted by the Board and approved by USEPA, the time-limited water quality standard will be placed in the petitioner's NPDES permit. The Agency may use a time-limited water quality standard when issuing certification under Section 401 of the CWA.

## Section 104.510 Severability

The Agency is proposing standard severability language.

#### Section 104.515 Definitions

The Agency is proposing to use the definitions found in Part 101 of the Board's General Rules. Also, the Agency is adding definitions for "time-limited water quality standard" and "pollutant minimization program" which are taken from the federal rule. See 40 C.F.R. §131.3(o) and (p).

#### Section 104.520 General Procedures

Proposed Section 104.520(a) sets forth who may file for a time-limited water quality standard. From February 24, 2017, the effective date of Public Act 99-937, any person may seek a time-limited water quality standard. For those who have filed a variance before the effective

date, their petitions for a variance were converted into a petition for a time-limited water quality standard by operation of law. This subsection largely restates the statutory language found in Section 38.5(b) of the Act.

Proposed Section 104.520(b) defines who the parties are in a time-limited water quality standard proceeding before the Board. First, a petitioner can be a single discharger, a multiple discharger, waterbody, waterbody segment, or a watershed. For those seeking a multi-discharger, waterbody, waterbody segment, or a watershed time-limited water quality standard, all dischargers may act collectively as a single discharger after the Board has established classes pursuant to proposed Section 104.540. A Board Note was included in this Section encouraging persons addressing the same pollutants in the same waterbody, waterbody segment or watershed to join in filing a joint petition whenever possible. When multiple petitions addressing the same pollutants in the same waterbody, waterbody segment or watershed are filed separately, the Board retains the authority to join additional parties pursuant to 35 III. Adm. Code 101.403 of the procedural rules and/or to consolidate the petitions pursuant to Section 101.406. The Board also may incorporate materials and evidence filed in support of one petition as evidence in support of a petition addressing similar issues. 35 III. Adm. Code 101.306.

Other participants to the proceedings are the Agency and any other person who would like to be involved in the proceeding before the Board. The Board is required to develop and maintain a notice list of all those who have expressed interest in the time-limited water quality proceeding. This list must include all Agency identified dischargers or classes of dischargers affected by the time-limited water quality standard requested. *See* Proposed Section 104.535(b)(1).

Section 104.525 Stay

Proposed Section 104.525 is drawn from Section 38.5(h) of the Act. This proposed section clarifies that the water quality standard from which relief was sought is stayed from the effective date of the water quality standard until the stay is terminated and describes who is subject to the stay provision. For persons subject to the stay provision under subsection (a)(1), the effectiveness of the water quality standard from which relief was sought is stayed automatically upon conversion. For persons subject to the stay provisions under subsections (a)(2) and (a)(3), the effectiveness of the water quality standard from which relief was sought is stayed automatically upon filing.

This proposed section also describes when a stay is terminated if a petition is found to be in substantial compliance by the Board. If a petition is found to be in substantial compliance, the stay continues until the Board denies the petition and all rights to judicial review of the Board's order denying the petition are exhausted or until the Board adopts the time-limited water quality standard and USEPA either approves or disapproves the time-limited water quality standard for failure to comply with Section 131.14 of the federal rules.

Proposed Section 104.525(c) describes when a stay is terminated if a petition is not in substantial compliance. If a petition is not in substantial compliance, a petitioner may amend its petition until the Board established deadline pursuant to proposed Section 104.545. If the Board finds an amended petition is in substantial compliance by the deadline, the stay continues until the Board denies the petition and all rights to judicial review of that denial are exhausted, or until the Board adopts the time-limited water quality standard and USEPA either approves or disapproves the time-limited water quality standard for failure to comply with Section 131.14 of the federal rules. If the Board finds that an amended petition is not in substantial compliance by the Board established deadline, then the Board will dismiss the amended petition and the stay shall continue

until all rights to judicial review are exhausted. If the petitioner fails to file an amended petition by the Board established deadline, the Board will dismiss the original petition and the stay continues until all rights to judicial review are exhausted.

Finally, proposed Section 104.525(d) clarifies that a time-limited water quality standard may be sought by any person, even if the underlying water quality standard will not be stayed.

#### Section 104.530 Petition Contents

This proposed Section outlines the 16 elements that must be included in a time-limited water quality standard petition or amended petition. These elements are modeled after the requirements found in Section 104.204 of the Illinois Administrative Code and Section 131.14 of the federal rules.

For a watershed, water body or waterbody segment, the petition or amended petition must include the 16 elements found in this proposed section along with the identification and documentation of any proposed or cost-effective and reasonable best management practices for non-point source controls related to the pollutant or water quality parameter that could be implemented to make progress towards attaining the underlying designated use or criterion. Also, if the petition is for an extension of an existing water quality standard it must provide an explanation of the extent best management practices for non-point source controls were implemented to address the pollutant or water quality standard parameter subject to the time-limited water quality standard and the water quality progress achieved.

Also, the petition or amended petition for a watershed, water body, waterbody segment or multiple discharger time-limited water quality standards, may also include a proposed eligibility criteria to be adopted by Board to be used at the time of renewal or modification of one's NPDES

permit or Part 401 certification to obtain coverage under a Board-approved time-limited water quality standard.

## Section 104.535 Agency Response

This proposed Section requires the Agency to file a response with the Board 21 days after the initial filing of a time-limited water quality standard petition. The response requires the Agency to 1) identify the discharger or classes of dischargers, including applicable permit numbers, affected by the water quality standards requested in the petition, 2) identify the watershed, water bodies, or waterbody segments, including the receiving stream, affected by the water quality standards requested in the petition, 3) identify the appropriate type of time-limited water quality standard, and 4) recommend prompt deadlines by which each class of dischargers must file a substantially compliant petition to stay the effectiveness of a water quality standard pursuant to proposed Section 104.525 (Stay). See 415 ILCS 5/38.5(e). For petitions, not subject to the stay, the Agency does not need to recommend a prompt deadline by which each class of dischargers must file a substantially compliant petition. Furthermore, a petitioner or any person may file a question or response within 14 days of the Agency's filing with the Board.

## Section 104.540 Board Established Classes and Deadlines

This proposed Section requires the Board to enter a final order which delineates the geographic scope of the time-limited water quality standard, establishes the discharger or classes of discharges that may be covered by the time-limited water quality standard, and sets prompt deadlines that must be met for purposes of any stay as provided in proposed Section 104.525. This order must be issued within 30 days after receiving the Agency's response, as required by proposed Section 104.535. See 415 ILCS 5/38.5(f).

# Section 104.545 Substantial Compliance Assessment

Under this proposed Section, the Board must assess whether any petition filed for a timelimited water quality standard, subject to the stay or not, is in substantial compliance with the requirements found in proposed Section 104.530. If a petition is deemed in substantial compliance, the Agency will then file a recommendation with the Board. If the petition is found deficient, the Board would identify the deficiencies in the petition that must be corrected for the petition to be in substantial compliance with proposed Section 104.530.

If the effectiveness of the water quality standard is stayed pursuant to proposed Section 104.525 and the Board determines in an interim order that the petition is not in substantial compliance, the petitioner will be required to file an amended petition by deadlines adopted by the Board pursuant to proposed Section 104.540. A petition may be amended as many times as necessary up until the established deadline. After that deadline passes, the Board must determine in a final order whether the amended petition is in substantial compliance with proposed Section 104.530. Any party may file a motion for reconsideration pursuant to 35 III. Adm. Code 520 of a final Board order determining whether the amended petition is in substantial compliance with proposed Section 104.530.

## Section 104.550 Recommendation and Response

This proposed Section requires the Agency to file a recommendation to the petition. The Agency must file its recommendation within 45 days of the Board's determination that a petition is in substantial compliance or as otherwise ordered by the Board. This Section outlines, at a minimum, what the Agency's recommendation must entail. This Section also allows for the petitioner or any person to file questions or a response to the Agency's recommendation within 14 days of the filing of the recommendation. Finally, to ensure that USEPA is kept informed of significant developments in the time-limited water quality standard proceeding, this proposed

Section requires the Agency to transmit a copy of its recommendation, including a copy of the time-limited water quality standard petition, to USEPA. The submission must be concurrent with the filing of the recommendation with the Board.

#### Section 104.555 Hearing

This proposed Section requires that a public hearing must be held on the petition for timelimited water quality standard and at least 45 days written notice must be provided before the hearing date. The notice will outline the matters to be discussed at the hearing and include information on the availability of relevant matters and procedures to obtain the materials.

At least 30 days before the hearing, the Board is required to provide to the public 1) the relevant information that will be discussed at the hearing; 2) the Agency recommendation; and 3) for watershed, waterbody and water body segments, the petition and the proposed best management practice for non-point source controls.

The hearing will be conducted pursuant to Subpart F of Part 101 of the Board's Procedural Rules unless other requirements are set out in Subpart E of Part 104. Witnesses will be scheduled in advance and the hearing officer will allow time for unscheduled witnesses. At the hearing, the hearing officer will inform the audience of the issues involved and the information which is particularly solicited from the public. Public comments must be filed within 21 days after the hearing transcript is available unless the Hearing Officer specifies a different date. Any person may file written comments. Finally, the Agency is required to notify USEPA of the availability of the hearing transcript and inform USEPA of the comment deadline.

#### Section 104.560 Burden of Proof

Proposed Section 104.560 is modeled after the requirements found Section 131.14 of the federal rules and includes the 10(g) factors. The burden of proof is on the petitioner. This proposed

Section outlines what a petitioner must demonstrate to justify why the time-limited water quality standard is needed, the term of the time-limited water quality standard, and the highest attainable condition.

Proposed Section 105.560(b) indicates that the petitioner must provide justification that attainment of the designated use and criterion is not feasible throughout the term of the time-limited water quality standard because of one of the following factors:

- 1) Naturally occurring pollutant concentrations prevent the attainment of the use;
- Natural, ephemeral, intermittent or low flow conditions or water levels prevent the attainment of the use, unless these conditions may be compensated for by the discharge of sufficient volume of effluent discharges without violating State water conservation requirements to enable uses to be met;
- 3) Human caused conditions or sources of pollution prevent the attainment of the use and cannot be remedied or would cause more environmental damage to correct than to leave in place;
- 4) Dams, diversions or other types of hydrologic modifications preclude the attainment of the use, and it is not feasible to restore the water body to its original condition or to operate such modification in a way that would result in the attainment of the use;
- 5) Physical conditions related to the natural features of the water body, such as the lack of a proper substrate, cover, flow, depth, pools, riffles, and the like, unrelated to water quality, preclude attainment of aquatic life protection uses;
- 6) Controls more stringent than those required by Sections 301(b) and 306 of the Clean Water Act would result in substantial and widespread economic and social impact; or
- 7) Actions necessary to facilitate lake, wetland, or stream restoration through dam removal or other significant reconfiguration activities preclude attainment of the designated use and criterion while the actions are being implemented.

Proposed Section 105.560(c) provides that the petitioner must demonstrate that the term of the time-limited water quality standard is only as long as necessary to achieve the highest attainable condition. Such demonstration must justify the term of the time-limited water quality standard by

describing the pollutant control activities to achieve the highest attainable condition, including those activities through a Pollutant Minimization Program.

## Section 104.565 Opinion and Order

Proposed Section 104.565 is modeled after requirements found in the Section 131.14 of the federal rule. See 40 C.F.R. §131.14. The federal rule explicitly lays out applicability and submission requirements for a time-limited water quality standard. To help ensure a successful adoption of a time-limited water quality standard with USEPA approval, the Illinois EPA proposes to include the applicability and submission requirements provided in Section 131.14.

In addition to the federal requirements, the Illinois EPA proposes to include language from Section 38.5(i) of the Act that requires the Board to include eligibility criteria that may be used by dischargers or classes of dischargers to obtain coverage under a time-limited water quality standard during its duration.

Proposed Section 104.565(a) provides that where the Board adopts a time-limited water quality standard, the Board shall maintain, in its standards, the underlying designated use and criterion addressed by the time-limited water quality standard, unless the Board adopts and USEPA approves a revision to the underlying designated use and criterion consistent with Sections 131.10 and 131.11 of the federal rules.

Proposed Section 104.565(b) provides that a time-limited water quality standard may not be adopted if the designated use and criterion addressed by the time-limited water quality standard can be achieved by implementing technology based effluent limits required under Sections 301(b) and 306 of the CWA and Part 304 of the Board's Rules.

Proposed Section 104.565(c) provides that the Board may not adopt a time-limited water quality standard if petitioner fails to meet its burden of proof as set forth in proposed Section 104.560.

Proposed Section 104.565(d states what all orders adopting a time-limited water quality standard must include. This list includes 1) identification of the pollutant or water quality parameter; 2) applicability, which includes eligibility criteria that may be used by new or existing dischargers or classes of dischargers to obtain coverage under the time-limited water quality standard during its duration; 3) the time-limited water quality standard requirements and conditions that apply throughout the term of the time-limited water quality standard; 4) the highest attainable condition of the waterbody or water segment as a quantifiable expression; 5) a statement providing that the requirements of time-limited water quality standard are either the highest attainable condition identified at the time of the adoption of the time-limited water quality standard, or the highest attainable condition later identified during any reevaluation consistent with Section 104.580, whichever is more stringent; 6) the term of the of the time-limited water quality standard; 7) for a time-limited water quality standard with a term greater than five years, a specified frequency to reevaluate the highest attainable condition pursuant Section 104.580, that must occur no less frequently than every five years after both Board and USEPA approval of the time-limited water quality standard; and finally 8) a provision that the time-limited water quality standard will no longer be the applicable water quality standard for purposes of the CWA if the petitioner does not conduct a reevaluation consistent with the frequency specified in the time-limited water quality standard or the results are not submitted to USEPA as required by Section 104.580.

Proposed Section 104.565(e) provides that any party may file a motion for reconsideration pursuant to the rules in 35 Ill. Adm. Code 101.520 of a final Board order entered pursuant to this proposed Section.

## Section 104.570 USEPA Approval

The federal WQS variance rules explicitly state that a water quality standard variance (i.e., time-limited water quality standard) is a water quality standard subject to USEPA review and approval or disapproval. See 40 C.F.R. §131.14. Proposed Section 104.570(a) requires the Agency to submit any Board adopted time-limited water quality standards to USEPA for approval before the time-limited water quality standard will be considered effective for CWA purposes. The Illinois EPA must to file USEPA's decision with the Board.

If USEPA disapproves of a Board adopted time-limited water quality standard the petitioner may file a petition to modify a Time-Limited Water Quality Standard with the Board. Any petition to modify filed after USEPA disapproval must address all deficiencies raised by USEPA. In addition, all parties to the Board's proceeding adopting the time-limited water quality standard must be served the petition to modify. Under this proposed Section, the Board will automatically incorporate the record from the Board's proceeding adopting the time-limited water quality standard. The Board must accept public comments for at least 30 days after a petition to modify is filed. A hearing will be held if the Board, in its discretion, concludes a hearing would be advisable. The Board must comply with proposed Section 104.565; Opinion and Order, when issuing an order modifying a previously granted time-limited water quality standard. Finally, the Agency must submit any order issued by the Board modifying a previously granted time-limited water quality standard to USEPA for review and approval.

Section 104.575 Coverage Under Board-Approved Time-Limited Water Quality Standard

The intent of proposed Section 104.575 is to create an administratively efficient process for dischargers to obtain time-limited water quality standards in Illinois

Proposed Section 104.575(a) allows any discharger that has not obtained a time-limited water quality standard to obtain coverage under a Board-adopted time-limited water quality standard by satisfying Board-approved criteria for coverage under the time-limited water quality standard. A discharger may obtain coverage at the time of renewal or modification of that entity's NPDES permit or at the time the person files an application for certification under Section 401 of the CWA.

Proposed Section 104.575(b) provides that any applicant obtaining coverage under a Board-approved time-limited water quality standard must comply with the requirements and conditions that apply throughout the term of the time-limited water quality standard established pursuant to proposed Section 104.565(d)(3).

Proposed Section 104.575(c) provides that any applicant obtaining coverage under a Board-approved time-limited water quality standard must participate in any reevaluations conducted pursuant to proposed Section 104.580.

#### Section 104.580 Reevaluation

This proposed Section requires a petitioner or any entity granted coverage under a Board approved time-limited water quality standard to file its proposed reevaluation with the Board if the term of the time-limited water quality standard is greater than five years. This must occur no less frequently than every five years after both the Board and USEPA approval of the time-limited water quality standard. The purpose of the reevaluation is to assess the highest attainable condition using all existing and readily available information. The Board will accept public comments before the Board issues an Order. The Board must reevaluate the highest attainable condition using

all existing and readily available information. Finally, the Agency is required to submit the Board's reevaluation to the USEPA for approval.

## Section 104.585 Appeal Rights

Proposed Section 104.585 is taken directly from Section 38.5(j) of the Act. It provides that any person who is adversely affected or threated by a final Board order entered pursuant to this proposed Subpart E may obtain judicial review of the Board order by filing a petition for review within 35 days after the date the Board order was served on the person affected by the order, under the provisions of the Administrative Review Law, and the rules adopted pursuant thereto, except that review shall be afforded directly in the appellate court for the district in which the cause of action arose and not in the circuit court. For purposes of judicial review under this proposed Section, a person is deemed to have been served with the Board's final order on the date on which the order is first published by the Board on its website.

#### Section 104.590 Extension

This proposed Section allows a petitioner, who at the end of its time-limited water quality standard variance still cannot attain the water quality standard at issue, an opportunity to seek a subsequent time-limited water quality standard. Any subsequent time-limited water quality standard petition will be treated as a new petition before the Board. The extension must contain a detailed explanation showing the progress toward attaining the designated use made during the term of the previous time-limited water quality standard. A petitioner will also have to demonstrate whether conditions have changed such that the designed use and criterion are not attainable. Also, the petitioner must show if new or additional information has become available to indicate that the designated use and criterion are not attainable in the future, along with documentation showing that the requirements and conditions established by the Board with respect to the prior time-limited

water quality standard have been fully met. If the requirements and conditions have not been met, the petitioner must provide a detailed explanation of the reason or reasons why. Finally, the petitioner will be allowed to incorporate any material from the record from the previous time-limited water quality standard.

#### III. OUTREACH

The Agency shared an initial draft of the rules with various stakeholders while legislation was being developed in the fall of 2016. The Agency again shared the draft rules in the spring of 2017 and an outreach meeting was held on April 20, 2017. Industry, environmental groups, state agencies, and other potentially interested parties were invited.<sup>2</sup> At this meeting, the Agency went over the draft rules, answered questions and considered comments. All written comments provided to the Agency by May 8, 2017, were considered by the Agency. The Agency received comments from the Illinois Environmental Regulatory Group, Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Great Chicago, Midwest Generation, LLC, Ice Miller LLP, and the City of Chicago. Finally, draft rules were also sent to USEPA. Based on the comments received regarding early involvement of USEPA in the time-limited water quality standard proceedings, the Agency included language in proposed Section 104.550(d) requiring the Agency to transmit a copy of its recommendation, including a copy of the time-limited water quality standard petition to USEPA. In addition to this, language was added in proposed Section 104.555(h) requiring the Agency to notify USEPA of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Members from the following groups were invited to participate as stakeholders: City of Oak Forest, Village of Lincolnwood, Village of Richton Park, Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Great Chicago, Illinois Department of Transportation, Village of Skokie, City of Evanston, Flint Hills Resources, Noramco, City of Country Club Hills, Village of Wilmette, Midwest Generation, LLC, ExxonMobil Oil Corporation, Village of Tinley Park, Village of Midlothian, Village of Orland Park, Village of Homewood, Citgo Petroleum Corporation and PDV Midwest Refining, Illinois Association of Wastewater Agencies, Chemical Industry Council of Illinois, Sanitary District of Decatur, Lower Des Plains Watershed Workgroup, Chicago Area Waterway System Watershed Workgroup; Huff and Huff, Inc., Stepan Company, Illinois Environmental Regulatory Group, Sierra Club, Environmental Law and Policy Center, Natural Resource Defense Council, Openlands, Illinois Attorney General's Office, and the Illinois Farm Bureau.

availability of the hearing transcript and inform USEPA of the comment deadline. To address comments regarding USEPA disapproval of a Board adopted time-limited water quality standard, language was added to proposed Section 104.570. In addition, language was added to proposed Section 104.570 clarifying that a petitioner may file a Petition to Modify a Time-Limited Water Quality Standard with the Board if USEPA disapproves a Board adopted time-limited water quality standard.

## IV. AFFECTED SOURCES AND ECONOMIC IMPACT

These rules will affect each variance petition converted into a time-limited water quality standard and any discharger seeking a time-limited water quality standard in the future. However, pursuant to Section 38.5(k) of the Act, until rules are adopted, the Board may adopt time-limited water quality standard to the full extent allowed under Section 38.5 of the Act and federal WQS rules. See 40 C.F.R. §131.14.

The Agency believes this rulemaking may provide cost savings to petitioners (dischargers of waste water), the Illinois EPA, and the Board. Individual petitions may be filed collectively or consolidated, thus allowing for petitioners to work collaboratively utilizing the same resources and possibly sharing legal fees. Simultaneously, the Illinois EPA and the Board can respond to a single petition rather than dozens (or even hundreds) of individual petitions. It is not anticipated that the time-limited water quality standard relief mechanism will increase staff needs to the Illinois EPA or the Board. Furthermore, the Agency believes this rule will generally save the State of Illinois money because, after its adoption, dischargers of industrial and municipal waste water will be able to obtain temporary relief from the state's water quality standards. Finally, the Illinois EPA does not anticipate any additional costs to small businesses.

## V. TECHNICAL FEASIBILITY AND ECONOMIC REASONABLENESS

Section 27 of the Act requires the Board to consider the technical feasibility and economic reasonableness of all rulemaking proposals. Because this proposal is a non-substantive procedural rule there would be no need to implement additional treatment technologies if the rules were adopted. For this reason, the Agency's proposed changes are technically feasible and economically reasonable. Failure to establish rules to allow relief from otherwise applicable water quality standards could subject dischargers to permit conditions regardless of the availability of existing technology and the cost of compliance to meet the standard.

#### VI. SYNOPSIS OF TESTIMONY

The Illinois EPA anticipates presenting two witnesses during the Board's hearing on this proposal, Scott Twait and Sanjay Sofat. Mr. Twait, who works in the Standards Unit for the Division of Water Pollution Control will provide testimony with respect to the Agency's proposal. Mr. Twait has been with the Agency for 20 years and has a Bachelor's degree in Civil Engineering from the University of Illinois.

Mr. Sofat is the Chief of the Bureau of Water at the Illinois EPA. He has been in this position for about a year now. Prior to his current position as the Bureau Chief, he was the manager of the Division of Water Pollution Control from 2008 to 2016. From 1999 to 2008, he was as an attorney for the Bureau of Water. He has a bachelor's degree in Mining Engineering from the National Institute of Technology (Rourkela, India), and a master's degree in Mining Engineering from Southern Illinois University at Carbondale. He also has a Juris Doctor degree from Southern Illinois University at Carbondale.

The Agency will not be pre-filing testimony due to the statutory deadline requiring the Board to adopt rules no later than 9 months after the Agency proposes rules that prescribe specific procedures and standards to be used by the Board when adopting time-limited water quality

standard. See 415 ILCS 5/38.5(k). The Agency's witnesses will be prepared, however, to address all questions and concerns during the scheduled hearings.

#### VII. SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS

## A. Documents Relied Upon

The Illinois Administrative Procedure Act provides that all proposed rulemakings must include:

a descriptive title or other description of any published study or research report used in developing the rule, the identity of the person who performed such study, and a description of where the public may obtain a copy of any such study or research report. If the study was performed by an agency or by a person or entity that contracted with the agency for the performance of the study, the agency shall also make copies of the underlying data available to members of the public upon request if the data are not protected from disclosure under the Freedom of Information Act.

5 ILCS 100/5-40(b)(3.5). The Board's procedural rules require the same information to be included with any rulemaking proposal filed with the Board. 35 Ill. Adm. Code 102,202(e). The Agency did not consult with a published study or research report when developing this proposal. The Agency did not perform any new studies, nor did the Agency contract with any outside entities to perform any studies for the development of this rulemaking proposal. Also, because no studies were conducted, there is no underlying data meeting the requirements of 5 ILCS 100/5-40(b)(3.5).

## B. Incorporations by Reference and Attachments

Section 102.202(d) of the Board's procedural rules requires the Agency to submit "[a]ny material to be incorporated by reference within the proposed rule pursuant to section 5-75 of the IAPA [5 ILCS 100/5-75]." The Agency proposes no documents to be incorporated by reference in this rulemaking.

#### VIII. ATTACHMENTS

- A. Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions; Final Rule. 80 Fed. Reg. 51019 (Aug. 21, 2015)
- B. In Re Bethlehem Steel Corporation, No. 58, (March 29, 1977)
- C. Public Act 99-937 2017 Variance legislation

#### IX. CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, for the reasons stated above, the Illinois EPA asks the Board to accept this Statement of Reasons and proceed to hearings on the above-captioned rulemaking proposal.

Respectfully submitted,

ILLINOIS ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY

By: /s/ Sara G. Terranova
Sara G. Terranova
Assistant Counsel
Division of Legal Counsel

By: /s/ Stefanie N. Diers
Stefanie N. Diers
Assistant Counsel
Division of Legal Counsel

DATED: 8 9 7017 1021 N. Grand Ave. East P.O. Box 19276 Springfield, IL 62794-9276 (217) 782-5544

# ATTACHMENT A

80 FR 51020-01, 2015 WL 4941935(F.R.)
RULES and REGULATIONS
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY
40 CFR Part 131
[EPA-HQ-OW-2010-0606; FRL-9921-21-OW]
RIN 2040-AF16

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions Friday, August 21, 2015

AGENCY: Environmental Protection Agency (EPA).

\*51020 ACTION: Final rule.

SUMMARY: EPA updates the federal water quality standards (WQS) regulation to provide a better-defined pathway for states and authorized tribes to improve water quality and protect high quality waters. The WQS regulation establishes a strong foundation for water quality management programs, including water quality assessments, impaired waters lists, and total maximum daily loads, as well as water quality-based effluent limits in National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) discharge permits. In this rule, EPA is revising six program areas to improve the WQS regulation's effectiveness, increase transparency, and enhance opportunities for meaningful public engagement at the state, tribal and local levels. Specifically, in this rule EPA: Clarifies what constitutes an Administrator's determination that new or revised WQS are necessary; refines how states and authorized tribes assign and revise designated uses for individual water bodies; revises the triennial review requirements to clarify the role of new or updated Clean Water Act (CWA) section 304(a) criteria recommendations in the development of WOS by states and authorized tribes, and applicable WQS that must be reviewed triennially; establishes stronger antidegradation requirements to enhance protection of high quality waters and promotes public transparency; adds new regulatory provisions to promote the appropriate use of WOS variances; and clarifies that a state or authorized tribe must adopt, and EPA must approve, a permit compliance schedule authorizing provision prior to authorizing the use of schedules of compliance for water quality-based effluent limits (WQBELs) in NPDES permits. In total, these revisions to the WQS regulation enable states and authorized tribes to more effectively address complex water quality challenges, protect existing water quality, and facilitate environmental improvements. The final rule also leads to better understanding and proper use of available CWA tools by promoting transparent and engaged public participation. This action finalizes the WQS regulation revisions initially proposed by EPA on September 4, 2013.

DATES: This final rule is effective on October 20, 2015.

ADDRESSES: EPA has established a docket for this action under Docket ID No. EPA-HQ-OW-2010-0606. All documents in the docket are listed on the http://www.regulations.gov Web site. Although listed in the index, some information is not publicly available, e.g., confidential business information or other information whose disclosure is restricted by statute. Certain other material, such as copyrighted material, is not placed on the Internet and will be publicly available only in hard copy form. Publicly available docket materials are available either electronically through http://www.regulations.gov or in hard copy at the Office of Water Docket Center, EPA/DC, William Jefferson Clinton West Building, Room 3334, 1301 Constitution Ave. NW., Washington, DC 20004. The Public Reading Room is open from 8:30 a.m., to 4:30 p.m., Monday through Friday, excluding legal holidays. The telephone number for the Public Reading Room is (202) 566-1744, and the telephone number for the Office of Water Docket Center is (202) 566-2426. To view docket materials, call ahead to schedule an appointment. Every user is entitled to copy 266 pages per day before incurring a charge. The Docket Center may charge \$0.15 for each page over the 266-page limit, plus an administrative fee of \$25.00.

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Janita Aguirre, Standards and Health Protection Division, Office of Science and Technology (4305T). Environmental Protection Agency, 1200 Pennsylvania Ave. NW., Washington DC 20460; telephone number: (202) 566-1860; fax number: (202) 566-0409; email address: WQSRegulatoryClarifications@epa.gov.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: The supplementary information section is organized as follows:

#### Table of Contents

- I. General Information
- A. Does this action apply to me?
- B. What is the statutory and regulatory history of the federal WQS regulation?
- C. What environmental issues do the final changes to the federal WQS regulation address?
- D. How was this final rule developed?
- E. When does this action take effect?
- II. Rule Revisions Addressed in This Rule
- A. Administrator's Determinations that New or Revised WQS Are Necessary
- B. Designated Uses
- C. Triennial Reviews
- D. Antidegradation
- E. WQS Variances
- F. Provisions Authorizing the Use of Schedules of Compliance for WQBELs in NPDES Permits
- G. Other Changes
- III. Economic Impacts on State and Authorized Tribal WQS Programs
- IV. Statutory and Executive Order Reviews
- A. Executive Order 12866: Regulatory Planning and Review and Executive Order 13563: Improving Regulation and Regulatory Review
- B. Paperwork Reduction Act (PRA)
- C. Regulatory Flexibility Act (RFA)
- D. Unfunded Mandates Reform Act (UMRA)
- E. Executive Order 13132: Federalism
- F. Executive Order 13175: Consultation and Coordination with Indian Tribal Governments
- G. Executive Order 13045: Protection of Children from Environmental Health Risks and Safety Risks

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

- H. Executive Order 13211: Actions Concerning Regulations That Significantly Affect Energy Supply, Distribution, or Use
- I. National Technology Transfer and Advancement Act
- J. Executive Order 12898: Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority Populations and Low-Income Populations
- K. Congressional Review Act (CRA)

#### 1. General Information

#### A. Does this action apply to me?

The entities potentially affected by this rule are shown in the table below.

Category	Examples of potentially affected entities
Part IV	
States and Tribes	States and authorized tribes responsible for administering or overseeing water quality programs.
Industry	Industries discharging pollutants to waters of the United States.
Municipalities	Publicly owned treatment works or other facilities discharging pollutants to waters of the United States.

This table is not exhaustive, but rather it provides a guide for entities that may be directly or indirectly affected by this action. Citizens concerned with water quality and other types of entities may also be interested in this rulemaking, although they might not be directly impacted. If you have questions \*51021 regarding the applicability of this action to a particular entity, consult the person listed in the preceding FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT section.

#### B. What is the statutory and regulatory history of the federal WQS regulation?

The Clean Water Act (CWA or the Act)—initially enacted as the Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 1972 (Pub. L. 92-500) and subsequent amendments—determined the basic structure in place today for regulating pollutant discharges into waters of the United States. The objective of the CWA is "to restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the Nation's waters," and to achieve "wherever attainable, an interim goal of water quality which provides for the protection and propagation of fish, shellfish, and wildlife and provides for recreation in and on the water" (CWA sections 101(a) and 101(a)(2)).

The CWA establishes the basis for the water quality standards (WQS or standards) regulation and program. CWA section 303 addresses the development of state and authorized tribal WQS that serve the CWA objective for waters of the United States. The core components of WQS are designated uses, water quality criteria that support the uses, and antidegradation requirements. Designated uses establish the environmental objectives for a water body and water quality criteria [FN2] define the minimum conditions necessary to achieve those environmental objectives. The antidegradation requirements provide a framework for maintaining and protecting water quality that has already been achieved.

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

CWA section 301 establishes pollutant discharge restrictions for point sources. Specifically, it provides that "the discharge of any pollutant by any person shall be unlawful" except in compliance with the terms of the Act, including industrial and municipal effluent limitations specified under CWA sections 301 and 304 and "any more stringent limitation, including those necessary to meet water quality standards, treatment standards, or schedule of compliance, established pursuant to any [s]tate law or regulations."

The CWA gives states and authorized tribes discretion on how to control pollution from nonpoint sources. Although the CWA includes specific requirements for the control of pollution from certain discharges, state and authorized tribal WQS established pursuant to CWA section 303 apply to the water bodies themselves, regardless of the source(s) of pollution/pollutants. Thus, the WQS express the desired condition and level of protection for a water body, regardless of whether a state or authorized tribe chooses to place controls on nonpoint source activities, in addition to point source activities required to obtain permits under the CWA. Section 303(c) of the Act also requires that states and authorized tribes hold a public hearing to review their standards at least once every three years (i.e., triennial review), and that EPA review and approve or disapprove any new or revised state and authorized tribal standards. Furthermore, if EPA disapproves a state's or authorized tribe's WQS under CWA sections 303(c)(3) and 303(c)(4)(A), or if the Administrator makes a determination under CWA section 303(c)(4)(B) that a new or revised WQS is necessary. EPA must propose and promulgate federal standards for a state or authorized tribe, unless the state or authorized tribe develops and EPA approves its own WQS first.

EPA established the core of the WQS regulation in a final rule issued in 1983. That rule strengthened provisions that had been in place since 1977 and codified them as 40 CFR part 131.[FN3] In support of the 1983 regulation. EPA issued a number of guidance documents, such as the Water Quality Standards Handbook (WQS Handbook),[FN4] that provide guidance on the interpretation and implementation of the WQS regulation and on scientific and technical analyses that are used in making decisions that would impact WQS. EPA also developed the Technical Support Document for Water Quality-Based Toxics Control [FN5] that provides additional guidance for implementing state and authorized tribal WQS.

EPA modified the 40 CFR part 131 regulation twice since 1983. First, in 1991 pursuant to section 518 of the Act, EPA added §§ 131.7 and 131.8 which extended to Indian tribes the opportunity to administer the WQS program and outlined dispute resolution mechanisms. [FN6] Second, in 2000, EPA finalized § 131.21(c)-(f), commonly known as the "Alaska Rule," which specifies that new and revised standards adopted by states and authorized tribes and submitted to EPA after May 30, 2000, become applicable standards for CWA purposes only when approved by EPA. [FN7]

In 1998, EPA issued an Advance Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (ANPRM) to discuss and invite comment on over 130 aspects of the federal WQS regulation and program, with the goal of identifying specific changes that might strengthen water quality protection and restoration, facilitate watershed management initiatives, and incorporate evolving water quality criteria and assessment science into state and authorized tribal WQS programs. [FN8] Although EPA chose not to move forward with a rulemaking after the ANPRM. EPA identified a number of high priority issue areas for which the Agency developed guidance, provided technical assistance, and continued further discussion and dialogue to ensure more effective program implementation. This action is part of EPA's ongoing effort to clarify and strengthen the WQS program.

#### C. What environmental issues do the final changes to the federal WQS regulation address?

Since EPA first established the WQS regulation in 1983, the regulation has acted as a powerful force to prevent pollution and improve water quality by providing a foundation for a broad range of water quality management programs. Since 1983, however, diverse and complex challenges have arisen, including new types of contaminants, pollution stemming from multiple sources, extreme weather events, hydrologic alteration, and climate change-related impacts. These challenges necessitate a more effective, flexible and practicable approach for the implementation of WQS and

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

protecting water quality. Additionally, extensive experience with WQS implementation by states, authorized tribes, and EPA revealed a need to update the regulation to help meet these challenges.

This rulemaking revises the requirements in six program areas: (1) Administrator's determination that new or revised WQS are necessary, (2) designated uses, (3) triennial reviews, (4) antidegradation, (5) WQS variances, and (6) permit compliance schedule authorizing provisions.

The provisions related to designated uses help states and authorized tribes restore and maintain resilient and \*51022 robust ecosystems by requiring that states and authorized tribes evaluate and adopt the highest attainable use when changing designated uses. The rule provides clearer expectations for when an analysis of attainability of designated uses is or is not required. Such clarity allows for better and more transparent communication among EPA, states, authorized tribes, stakeholders and the public about the designated use revision process, and the appropriate level of protection necessary to meet the purposes of the CWA.

This rule ensures better protection and maintenance of high quality waters that have better water quality than minimally necessary to support propagation of fish, shellfish, and wildlife, and recreation in and on the water. Through protection of habitat, water quality, and aquatic community structure, high quality waters are better able to resist stressors, such as atmospherically deposited pollutants, emerging contaminants, severe weather events, altered hydrology, or other effects resulting from climate change. This rule strengthens the evaluation used to identify and manage high quality waters and increases the opportunities for the public and stakeholders to be involved in the decision-making process. Specifically, there must be a transparent, public, robust evaluation before any decision is made to allow lowering of high quality water. Thus, this rule will lead to better protection of high quality waters.

The rule addresses WQS variances and permit compliance schedules, which are two CWA tools which can be used where WQS are not being attained. The provisions related to WQS variances allow states and authorized tribes to address water quality challenges in a transparent and predictable way. The rule also includes provisions for authorizing the use of permit compliance schedules to ensure that a state or authorized tribal decision to allow permit compliance schedules includes public engagement and transparency. These two tools help states and authorized tribes focus on making incremental progress in improving water quality, rather than pursuing a downgrade of the underlying water quality goals through a designated use change, when the current designated use is difficult to attain.

Lastly, the Administrator's determination and triennial review provisions in this rule promote public transparency and allow for effective communication among EPA, states, authorized tribes, and stakeholders to ensure WQS continue to be consistent with the CWA and EPA's implementing regulation. Meaningful and transparent involvement of the public is an important component of triennial review when making decisions about whether and when criteria will be adopted or revised to protect designated uses. The rule provides more clearly defined and transparent requirements, so that states and authorized tribes consider the latest science as reflected in the CWA section 304(a) criteria recommendations, and the public understands the decisions made.

#### D. How was this final rule developed?

In developing this rule, EPA considered the public comments and feedback received from stakeholders. EPA provided a 120-day public comment period after the proposed rule was published in the Federal Register on September 4, 2013. [FN9] In addition, EPA held two public webinars, a public meeting, and a tribal consultation to discuss the contents of the proposed rule and answer clarifying questions in order to allow the public to submit well-informed comments.

Over 150 organizations and individuals submitted comments on a range of issues. EPA also received 2,500 letters from individuals associated with mass letter writing campaigns. Some comments addressed issues beyond the scope of the proposed rulemaking. EPA did not expand the scope of the rulemaking or make regulatory changes to address the substance of these comments. In each section of this preamble, EPA discusses certain public comments so that the public

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

is fully aware of its position. For a full response to these and all other comments, see EPA's Response to Comments document in the official public docket.

In addition, EPA met with all stakeholders who requested time to discuss the contents of the proposed rule. Such discussions occurred with members of state and tribal organizations and the environmental community. Records of each meeting are included in the official public docket.

#### E. When does this action take effect?

This regulation is effective October 20, 2015. For judicial review purposes, this rule is promulgated as of 1 p.m. EST (Eastern Standard Time) on the effective date, which will be 60 days after the date of publication of the rule in the Federal Register.

States and authorized tribes are subject to the requirements of this final rule on the effective date of the rule. EPA's expectation is that, where a new or revised requirement necessitates a change to state or authorized tribal WQS, such revisions will occur within the next triennial review that the state or authorized tribe initiates after publication of the rule.

As a general matter, when EPA reviews new or revised state or authorized tribal WQS it reviews the provisions to determine whether they are consistent with the CWA and regulation applicable at the time of EPA's review. However, for a short period of transition, EPA will review the provisions and approve or disapprove based on whether they are consistent with the CWA and the relevant part 131 regulation that is in effect prior to the final rule's effective date if (1) they were submitted before the effective date of this final rule or (2) if a state or authorized tribe has held its public hearing(s) and the public comment period has closed before the effective date of this rule and the state or authorized tribe has submitted the new or revised WQS within nine months of the effective date of this final rule. This approach is reasonable for the transition period because EPA recognizes that states and authorized tribes may have invested a significant amount of resources drafting new or revised WQS for the public to comment on without the benefit of knowing EPA's final rule requirements and the state or authorized tribe may not have had sufficient notice to alter the WQS prior to submission to EPA. It would be inefficient and unfair for the state or authorized tribe to have to re-propose and re-start the rulemaking process when it can address the issue in the next triennial review consistent with the final rule. In addition, changing the applicable federal standards that will be basis of EPA's review after the public has put in the effort to provide constructive comments to the state or authorized tribe would be inefficient and could render the comments obsolete. Nine months is a reasonable timeframe to accommodate states and authorized tribes that have legislative processes such that new or revised WQS cannot be submitted to EPA until the legislature has passed the regulation at its soonest legislative session after close of the public comment period. Except for the circumstances outlined in this paragraph regarding the transition period, EPA will work with states and authorized tribes to ensure that new or revised WQS meet the requirements of the final rule.

In the event that a court sets aside any portion of this rule, EPA intends for the remainder of the rule to remain in effect.

#### \*51023 11. Rule Revisions Addressed in This Rule

EPA provides a comparison document showing the revisions made by this final rule, and a second document showing the revisions made between the proposed and final rule. EPA has posted both documents at http://water.epa.gov/lawsregs/ lawsguidance/wqs5Findex.cfm.

A. Administrator's Determinations That New or Revised WQS Are Necessary

What does this rule provide and why?

# Electronic Filing: Received, Clerk's Office 8/9/2017 \* \* R2018-018 \* \* Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

Open communication among states, tribes and EPA facilitates the sharing of information to ensure that WQS continue to adequately protect waters as new challenges arise. However, the public has occasionally mistaken such communication from EPA for a "determination" by the Administrator that new or revised WQS are necessary under CWA section 303(c) (4)(B) (hereafter referred to as "Administrator's determination").[FN10]

With the clarification provided by this rule, stakeholders and the public can readily distinguish Administrator's determinations from routine EPA communications on issues of concern and recommendations regarding the scope and content of state and authorized tribal WQS. This rule minimizes the potential for stakeholders to misunderstand EPA's intent with its communications and allows EPA to provide direct and transparent feedback. It will also preserve limited resources that would otherwise be spent resolving the confusion through litigation.

An Administrator's determination is a powerful tool, and this rule ensures that it continues to be used purposefully and thoughtfully. This rule contains two requirements related to an Administrator's determination at § 131.22(b). The first requirement provides that, in order for a document to constitute an Administrator's determination, it must be signed by the Administrator or duly authorized delegate. The second requirement is that such a determination must include a statement that the document is an Administrator's determination for purposes of section 303(c)(4)(B) of the Act. This requirement makes clear that this provision applies to Administrator's determinations made under CWA section 303(c) (4)(B) rather than determinations made under CWA section 303(c)(4)(A).

Section 303(c)(4) of the Act provides two different scenarios under which the Administrator has the authority to "promptly prepare and publish proposed regulations setting forth a revised or new water quality standard for the navigable waters involved" following some sort of determination. Section 303(c)(4)(A) of the Act gives EPA the authority to propose regulations where states or authorized tribes have submitted new or revised WQS that the Administrator "determines" are not consistent with the Act. In this instance, EPA disapproves new or revised WQS and specifies the changes necessary to meet CWA requirements. If a state or authorized tribe fails to adopt and submit the necessary revisions within 90 days after notification of the disapproval determination, EPA must promptly propose and promulgate federal WQS as specified in CWA section 303(c)(4)(A) and 40 CFR 131.22(a). This action does not address or affect this authority.

Absent state or authorized tribal adoption or submission of new or revised WQS, section 303(c)(4)(B) of the CWA gives EPA the authority to determine that new or revised WQS are necessary to meet the requirements of the Act. Once the Administrator makes such a determination, EPA must promptly propose regulations setting forth new or revised WQS for the waters of the United States involved, and must then promulgate such WQS, unless a state or authorized tribe adopts and EPA approves such WQS first.

Commenters expressed concern that the proposed rule was not clear with respect to which of these authorities was addressed in this rule. EPA's final rule makes clear that these requirements only refer to Administrator's determinations under CWA section 303(c)(4)(B).

Based on comments, EPA reviewed the use of the term "states" throughout the regulation and found that, in § 131.22(b), this term did not accurately describe the scope of waters for which the CWA provides authority to the EPA Administrator. Thus, consistent with CWA section 303(c)(4), this rule provides that the Administrator may propose and promulgate a regulation applicable to one or more "navigable waters," as that term is defined in CWA section 502(7) after determining that new or revised WQS are necessary to meet the requirements of the CWA. Consistent with the statute's plain language, this authority applies to all navigable waters located in any state or in any area of Indian country.[FN11]

#### What did EPA consider?

EPA considered finalizing the revision to § 131.22(b) as proposed. However, EPA decided it was important to clarify that this provision only addresses Administrator's determinations made pursuant to section 303(c)(4)(B) of the Act, which

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

was not clear given the comments received. EPA also considered foregoing revisions to § 131.22(b) altogether. However, this option would not meet EPA's policy objective, described previously, which many commenters supported.

#### What is EPA's position on certain public comments?

Some commenters requested that EPA clarify whether this revision will affect the petition process under section 553(e) of the Administrative Procedure Act (APA) (5 U.S.C. 553(e)). This action does not affect the public's ability to petition EPA to issue, amend, or repeal a rule. Nor does this action affect the Agency's obligations for responding to an APA petition or the ability of a petitioner to challenge the Agency for unreasonable delay in responding to a petition. In the event that the Administrator grants a petition for WQS rulemaking and makes an Administrator's determination that new or revised WQS are necessary, this provision does not affect the obligation the Agency has to promptly propose and promulgate federal WQS.

Some commenters requested that EPA clarify how the Administrator delegates authority. The laws, Executive Orders, and regulations that give EPA its authority typically, but not always, indicate that "the Administrator" shall or may exercise certain authorities. In order for other EPA management officials to act on behalf of the Administrator, the Administrator must delegate the authority granted by Congress or the Executive Branch. The Administrator may do so by regulation or through the Agency's delegation process by signing an official letter that is then maintained as a legal record of authority.

#### B. Designated Uses

#### What does this rule provide and why?

CWA section 303(c)(2)(A) requires that new or revised WQS shall consist \*51024 of designated uses and water quality criteria based on such uses. It also requires that such WQS shall protect the public health or welfare, enhance the quality of the water, and serve the purposes of the Act. Section 101(a) of the CWA provides that the ultimate objective of the Act is to restore and to maintain the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the Nation's waters. The national goal in CWA section 101(a)(2) is water quality that provides for the protection and propagation of fish, shellfish, and wildlife and for recreation in and on the water "wherever attainable." EPA's WQS regulation at 40 CFR part 131, specifically §§ 131.10(j) and (k), interprets and implements these provisions through requirements that WQS protect the uses specified in CWA section 101(a)(2) unless states and authorized tribes show those uses are unattainable through a use attainability analysis (UAA) consistent with EPA's regulation, effectively creating a rebuttable presumption of attainability.[FN12] This underlying requirement remains unchanged by this rule. EPA discussed the 1983 requirements and the rebuttable presumption in the preamble to the proposed rule as background discussion of the existing regulatory requirements. The revisions to § 131.10 establish the additional requirement to adopt the highest attainable use (HAU) after demonstrating that CWA section 101(a)(2) uses are not attainable.

CWA section 303(c)(2)(A) also requires states and authorized tribes to establish WQS "taking into consideration their use and value" for a number of purposes, including those addressed in section 101(a)(2) of the Act. EPA's final 1983 regulation at § 131.10(a) implements this provision by requiring that the "[s]tate must specify appropriate water uses to be achieved and protected" and that the "classification of the waters of the [s]tate must take into consideration the use and value of water for public water supplies, protection and propagation of fish, shellfish and wildlife, recreation in and on the water, agricultural, industrial, and other purposes including navigation."

The revisions to the designated use requirements improve the process by which states and authorized tribes designate and revise uses to better help restore and maintain resilient water quality and robust aquatic ecosystems. The revisions reduce potential confusion and conflicting interpretations of the regulatory requirements for establishing designated uses that can hinder environmental progress. Designated uses drive state and authorized tribal criteria development and water

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

quality management decisions. Therefore, clear and accurate designated uses are essential in maintaining the actions necessary to restore and protect water quality and to meet the goals and objectives of the CWA.

The CWA distinguishes between two broad categories of uses: uses specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act and uses specified in section 303(c)(2) of the Act. For the purposes of this final rule, the phrase "uses specified in section 101(a) (2) of the Act" refers to uses that provide for the protection and propagation of fish, [FN13] shellfish, and wildlife, and recreation in and on the water, as well as for the protection of human health when consuming fish, shellfish, and other aquatic life. A "sub-category of a use specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act" refers to any use that reflects the subdivision of uses specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act into smaller, more homogenous groups for the purposes of reducing variability within the group. [FN14] A "non-101(a)(2) use" is a use that is not related to the protection or propagation of fish, shellfish, wildlife or recreation in or on the water. Non-101(a)(2) uses include those listed in CWA section 303(c)(2), but not those listed in CWA section 101(a)(2), including use for public water supply, agriculture, industry, and navigation.

For uses specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act, this rule clarifies when a UAA is and is not required. This rule also makes clear that once a state or authorized tribe has rebutted the presumption of attainability by demonstrating through a required UAA that a use specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act is not attainable, it must adopt the HAU, as defined in this rule. The HAU requirement supports adoption of states' and authorized tribes' WQS to enhance the quality of the water and to serve the purposes of the Act, including ensuring water quality that provides for uses described in CWA section 101(a)(2) where attainable and to restore and maintain the chemical, physical and biological integrity of the Nation's waters.

For non-101(a)(2) uses, this rule provides that a UAA is not required when a state or authorized tribe removes or revises a non-101(a)(2) use, but clarifies that states and authorized tribes must still submit documentation consistent with CWA section 303(c)(2)(A) to support the state or authorized tribe's action. This requirement recognizes that states' and authorized tribes' decisions about non-101(a)(2) uses must be consistent with the statute and transparent to the public and EPA. This rule also provides a regulatory definition for a non-101(a)(2) use at § 131.3(q). Non-101(a)(2) uses are separate and distinct from uses specified in CWA section 101(a)(2) and sub-categories of such uses.

To clarify when a UAA is and is not required, this rule revises § 131.10(g) and (j) so that when the provisions are read together, it is clear that the factors at § 131.10(g) are only required to be considered when the state or authorized tribe must conduct a UAA under § 131.10(j). In addition, this rule revises § 131.10(k) into new § 131.10(k)(1) and (2) to eliminate a possible contradiction with § 131.10(j)(2), as described in the preamble to the proposed rule.[FN15]

Section 131.10(j) describes when a UAA is required. Section 131.10(k) specifies when a UAA is not required. Further, the definition of a UAA at § 131.3(g) says that a UAA "is a structured scientific assessment of the factors affecting the attainment of the use which may include physical, chemical, biological, and economic factors as described in § 131.10(g)." Section 131.10(g) provides that states and authorized tribes may remove a designated use if they can demonstrate that attaining a designated use is not feasible because of one of six specified factors.

EPA revises § 131.10(j)(1) to clarify that a UAA is required whenever a state or authorized tribe designates uses for the first time that do not include the uses specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act. Section 131.10(j)(1) also clarifies that a UAA is required where a state or authorized tribe has previously designated uses that do not include the \*51025 uses specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act.[FN16] EPA revises § 131.10(j)(2) to clarify that a UAA is required when removing or revising a use specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act as well as when removing or revising a sub-category of such a use. These revisions also clarify that when adopting a sub-category of a use specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act with less stringent criteria, a UAA is only required when the criteria are less stringent than the previously applicable criteria. EPA made corresponding revisions to § 131.10(g) to explicitly reference § 131.10(j). This rule also includes editorial changes to § 131.10(g) that are not substantive in nature. Lastly, EPA establishes a new § 131.10(k)(1) and (2) to explain when a UAA is not required.

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

To ensure that states and authorized tribes adopt WQS that continue to serve the Act's goal of water quality that provides for the uses specified in section 101(a)(2) of the CWA to the extent attainable and enhance the quality of the water, this rule revises § 131.10(g) to provide that where states and authorized tribes adopt new or revised WQS based on a required UAA, they must adopt the HAU as defined at § 131.3(m). These new requirements make clear that states and authorized tribes may remove unattainable uses, but they must retain and designate the attainable use(s). The final regulation does not prohibit states and authorized tribes from removing a designated use specified in CWA section 101(a)(2) or a subcategory of such a use, altogether, where demonstrated to be unattainable. For example, a state or authorized tribe may remove an aquatic life use if it can demonstrate through a UAA that no aquatic life use or sub-category of aquatic life use is attainable. EPA expects such situations to be rare; however to clarify that this outcome is possible, EPA adds a sentence to the definition of HAU at § 131.3(m) to make explicit that where the state or authorized tribe demonstrates the relevant use specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act and sub-categories of such a use are not attainable, there is no required HAU to be adopted. If a state or authorized tribe removes the designated use, altogether, and in the same action adopts another designated use in a different broad use category (e.g., agricultural use, recreational use), it may appear as though the state or authorized tribe intends the newly adopted use to be the HAU. In fact, this is a separate state or tribal decision in the same rulemaking.

The concept of HAU is fundamental to the WQS program. Adopting a use that is less than the HAU could result in the adoption of water quality criteria that inappropriately lower water quality and could adversely affect aquatic ecosystems and the health of the public recreating in and on such waters. For example, a state or authorized tribe may be able to demonstrate that a use supporting a particular class of aquatic life is not attainable. However, if some less sensitive aquatic organisms are able to survive at the site under current or attainable future conditions, the state's or authorized tribe's WQS are not continuing to serve the goals of the CWA by removing the aquatic life use designation and applicable criteria altogether without adopting an alternate CWA section 101(a)(2) use or sub-category of such a use that is feasible to attain, and the criteria that protect that use. EPA's regulation at §§ 131.5(a)(2), 131.6(c), and 131.11(a) explicitly requires states and authorized tribes to adopt water quality criteria that protect designated uses.

Commenters expressed concern that the proposed definition of HAU used overly subjective terminology that would make it difficult for states and authorized tribes to adopt an HAU that would not be challenged by stakeholders. The definition of HAU at § 131.3(m) includes specific terms to ensure that the resulting HAU is clear to states, authorized tribes, stakeholders and the public.

First, the word "modified" makes clear that when adopting the HAU, the state or authorized tribe is adopting a different use within the same broad CWA section 101(a)(2) use category, if any such use is attainable. For example, if a state or authorized tribe removes a warm water aquatic life use, then the HAU is a modified version of the warm water aquatic life use, such as a "limited warm water aquatic life use." The definition makes clear that states and authorized tribes are not required to determine whether one broad use category is better than another (e.g., to determine that a recreation use is better than an aquatic life use).

Second, EPA adds the phrase "based on the evaluation of the factor(s) in § 131.10(g) that preclude(s) attainment of the use and any other information or analyses that were used to evaluate attainability" to the final HAU definition to be clear that the HAU is the attainable use that results from the process of determining what is not attainable. For example, where the state or authorized tribe demonstrates that a use cannot be attained due to substantial and widespread economic and social impacts, the state or authorized tribe may then determine the HAU by considering the use that is attainable without incurring costs that would cause a substantial and widespread economic and social impact consistent with § 131.10(g)(6). Although the definition continues to include the terms "highest" and "closest to," which some commenters said were subjective terms, the new definition does not necessarily mean that the use with the most numerically stringent criteria must be designated as the HAU. The CWA does not require states and authorized tribes to adopt designated uses to protect a level beyond what is naturally occurring in the water body. Therefore, a state's or

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

authorized tribe's determination of the HAU must take into consideration the naturally expected condition for the water body or waterbody segment. For example, Pacific Northwest states provide specific levels of protection for different life stages of salmonids. While the different life stages require different temperature criteria, the designated use with the most numerically stringent temperature criterion may not be required under § 131.11(a) to protect the HAU, if the life stage that temperature criterion protects does not naturally occur in that water body or waterbody segment.

When conducting a UAA and soliciting input from the public, states and authorized tribes need to consider not only what is currently attained, but also what is attainable in the future after achievable gains in water quality are realized. EPA recommends that such a prospective analysis involve the following:

- · Identifying the current and expected condition for a water body;
- \* Evaluating the effectiveness of best management practices (BMPs) and associated water quality improvements;
- · Examining the efficacy of treatment technology from engineering studies; and
- . Using water quality models, loading calculations, and other predictive tools.

The preamble to the proposed rule also provided several examples of how states and authorized tribes can articulate the HAU. These examples include using an existing designated use framework, adopting a new statewide sub-category of a use, or adopting a new sub-category of a use that uniquely recognizes the limiting condition for a specific water body (e.g., aquatic life limited by naturally high levels of copper).

One example of where a state adopted new statewide sub-categories to protect \*51026 the highest attainable use was related to a class of waters the state defines as "effluent dependent waters." The state conducted a UAA to justify the removal of the aquatic life use in these waters. It was not feasible for these waters to attain the same aquatic life assemblage expected of waters assigned the statewide aquatic life use. The state identified the highest attainable aquatic life use for these waters and created two new sub-categories (effluent-dependent fisheries and effluent-dependent non-fish bearing waters) with criteria that are sufficiently protective of these uses. These EPA-approved sub-categories reflect the aquatic life use that can be attained in these waters, while still protecting the effluent dependent aquatic life.

Some commenters expressed concern with the difficulty of articulating a specific HAU because doing so may require additional analyses. Where this may be the case, an alternative method of articulating the HAU can be for a state or authorized tribe to designate for a water body a new or already established, broadly defined HAU (e.g., limited aquatic life use) and the criteria associated with the best pollutant/parameter levels attainable based on the information or analysis the state or authorized tribe used to evaluate attainability of the designated use. This is reasonable because the state or authorized tribe is essentially articulating that the HAU reflects whatever use is attained when the most protective, attainable criteria are achieved.

One example where a state used this alternative method involved adoption of a process by which the state can tailor site-specific criteria to protect the highest attainable use as determined by a UAA. EPA approved the state's adoption of a broad "Limited Use" and the subsequent adoption of a provision to allow the development of site-specific criteria for certain pollutants to protect that use. The "Limited Use" shares the same water quality criteria as the state's full designated use for recreation and fish and wildlife protection "except for any site-specific alternative criteria that have been established for the water body." Such site-specific criteria are limited to numeric criteria for nutrients, bacteria, dissolved oxygen, alkalinity, specific conductance, transparency, turbidity, biological integrity, or pH. The state restricts application of the "Limited Use" to waters with human induced physical or habitat conditions that prevent attainment of the full designated use for recreation and fish and wildlife protection, and to either (1) wholly artificial waters, or (2)

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

altered water bodies dredged and filled prior to November 28, 1975. Through this process, the state is able to articulate the HAU by identifying the most protective, attainable criteria that can be achieved.

Where a state or authorized tribe does not already have a statewide use in their regulation that is protective of the HAU, the state or authorized tribe will need to find an approach that meets the requirements of the CWA and § 131.10(g). States and authorized tribes are not limited by the examples described in this section and can choose a different approach that aligns with their specific needs, as long as their preferred approach is protective of the HAU and is consistent with the CWA and § 131.10.[FN17]

As an example of how a UAA informs the identification of the HAU, consider a state or authorized tribe with a designated aquatic life use and associated dissolved oxygen criterion. The state or authorized tribe determines through a UAA that a particular water body cannot attain its designated aquatic life use due to naturally occurring dissolved oxygen concentrations that prevent attainment of the use (i.e., the use is not attainable pursuant to § 131.10(g)(1)). Such an analysis also shows that the low dissolved oxygen concentrations are not due to anthropogenic sources, but rather due to the bathymetry of the water body. The state or authorized tribe then evaluates what level of aquatic life use is attainable in light of the naturally low dissolved oxygen concentration, as well as any data that were used to evaluate attainability (e.g., biological data). The state or authorized tribe concludes that the naturally low dissolved oxygen concentration precludes attainment of the full aquatic life use, and requires an alternative dissolved oxygen criterion that protects the "highest" but limited aquatic life that is attainable. Once this analysis is complete and fully documented in the UAA, the state or authorized tribe would then designate the HAU and adopt criteria to protect that use.

To clarify what is required when a state or authorized tribe adopts new or revised non-101(a)(2) uses, this rule finalizes a new paragraph (3) at § 131.10(k) to specify that states and authorized tribes are not required to conduct a UAA whenever they wish to remove or revise a non-101(a)(2) use, but must meet the requirements in § 131.10(a). This rule defines a non-101(a)(2) use at § 131.3(q) as: "any use unrelated to the protection and propagation of fish, shellfish, wildlife or recreation in or on the water." While the CWA specifically calls out the protection and propagation of fish, shellfish, and wildlife and recreation in and on the water as the national goal, wherever attainable, this does not mean that non-101(a) (2) uses are not important. This rule revises § 131.10(a) to be explicit that where a state or authorized tribe is adopting new or revised designated uses other than the uses specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act, or removing designated uses, it must submit documentation justifying how its consideration of the use and value of water for those uses listed in § 131.10(a) appropriately supports the state's or authorized tribe's action. EPA refers to this documentation as a "use and value demonstration." These requirements are consistent with EPA's previously existing regulation at §§ 131.10(a) [FN18] and 131.6.[FN19] A UAA can also be used to satisfy the requirements at § 131.10(a).

EPA encourages states and authorized tribes to work closely with EPA when developing a use and value demonstration. States and authorized tribes must consider relevant provisions in § 131.10, including downstream protection (§ 131.10(b)) and existing uses of the water (§ 131,10(h)(1)). EPA recommends states and authorized tribes also consider a suite of other factors, including, but not limited to:

- Relevant descriptive information (e.g., identification of the use that is under consideration for removal, location of the water body/waterbody \*51027 segment, overview of land use patterns, summary of available water quality data and/or stream surveys, physical information, information from public comments and/or public meetings, anecdotal information. etc.),
- Attainability information (i.e., the § 131.10(g) factors as described previously, if applicable),
- Value and/or benefits (including environmental, social, cultural, and/or economic value/benefits) associated with either retaining or removing the use, and

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

· Impacts of the use removal on other designated uses.

As an example of what a use and value demonstration for a non-101(a)(2) use can look like, consider a small water body that a state or authorized tribe generically designated as a public water supply as part of a statewide action. The state or authorized tribe decides there is no use and value in retaining such a use for that water body. The state or authorized tribe could provide the public and EPA with documentation that public water supply is not an existing use (e.g., there is no evidence that the water body was used for this purpose and the water quality does not support this use); the nearby population uses an alternative drinking water supply; and projected population trends suggest that the current supply is sufficient to accommodate future growth. States and authorized tribes must make this documentation available to the public prior to any public hearing, and submit it to EPA with the WQS revision.

#### What did EPA consider?

In developing this rule, EPA considered foregoing the revisions to § 131.10(g), (j), and (k), but this option would not clarify when a UAA is or is not required and thus not accomplish the Agency's objectives. EPA considered finalizing the revisions to § 131.10(g), (j), and (k)(1) and (2) as proposed; however, in response to comments received. EPA made revisions to better accomplish its objectives.

EPA considered foregoing the HAU requirement at § 131.10(g), but this option would not support the adoption of WQS that continue to serve the purposes of the Act and enhance the quality of the water. EPA also considered finalizing the requirement as proposed but not finalizing a regulatory definition; however, the absence of a regulatory definition could lead to confusion and hinder environmental protection.

EPA considered not specifying what is required when removing or revising a non-101(a)(2) use in the final rule; however, multiple commenters indicated that EPA's proposed rule only specified that a UAA is not required to remove or revise a non-101(a)(2) use and did not specify what is required. Given the confusion about existing requirements, EPA decided to make the requirement explicit in § 131.10(a) and (k)(3).

#### What is EPA's position on certain public comments?

Numerous commenters disagreed with EPA's position that the consumption of aquatic life is a use specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act and requested that EPA document the rationale for this position. Based on the CWA section 303(c)(2) (A) requirement that WQS protect public health. EPA interprets the uses under section 101(a)(2) of the Act to mean that not only can fish and shellfish thrive in a water body, but when caught, they can also be safely eaten by humans.[FN20]

EPA first articulated this interpretation in the 1992 National Toxics Rule.[FN21] For example, EPA specified that all waters designated for even minimal aquatic life protection (and therefore a potential fish and shellfish consumption exposure route) are protected for human health. EPA also described its interpretation in the October 2000 Human Health Methodology.[FN22] Consistent with this interpretation, most states have adopted human health criteria as part of their aquatic life uses, as the purpose of the criteria is to limit the amount of a pollutant in aquatic species prior to consumption by humans. However, states and authorized tribes may also choose to adopt human health criteria as part of their recreational uses, recognizing that humans will consume fish and shellfish after fishing, which many states consider to be a recreational use. EPA leaves this flexibility to states and authorized tribes as long as the waters are protecting humans from adverse effects of consuming aquatic life, unless the state or authorized tribe has shown that consumption of aquatic life is unattainable consistent with EPA's regulation.

EPA also received comments requesting clarification on existing uses. EPA notes that in addressing these comments, EPA is not reopening or changing the regulatory provision at § 131.10(h)(1). The proposed change to § 131.10(g) simply referred back to the requirement that is housed in § 131.10(h)(1) and was not intended to change requirements regarding existing uses. This is also the case in the final rule. The WQS regulation at § 131.3(e) defines an existing use as "those uses

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

actually attained in the water body on or after November 28, 1975, whether or not they are included in the water quality standards." EPA provided additional clarification on existing uses in the background section of the proposed preamble, [FN23] as well as in a September 2008 letter from EPA to the State of Oklahoma. [FN24] Specifically, EPA explained that existing uses are known to be "actually attained" when the use has actually occurred and the water quality necessary to support the use has been attained. EPA recognizes, however, that all the necessary data may not be available to determine whether the use actually occurred or the water quality to support the use has been attained. When determining an existing use, EPA provides substantial flexibility to states and authorized tribes to evaluate the strength of the available data and information where data may be limited, inconclusive, or insufficient regarding whether the use has occurred and the water quality necessary to support the use has been attained. In this instance, states and authorized tribes may decide that based on such information, the use is indeed existing.

Some commenters expressed concern that this interpretation supports the removal of a designated use in a situation where the use has actually occurred but the water quality necessary to protect the use has never been attained, as well as in a situation where the water quality has been attained but the use has not actually occurred. Such an interpretation may be contrary to a state's or authorized tribe's environmental restoration efforts or water quality management goals. For example, a state or authorized tribe may designate a highly modified water body for primary contact recreation even though the water quality has never been attained to support such a use. In this situation, if the state or authorized tribe exercises its discretion to recognize such an existing use, then consistent with EPA's regulation the designated use may not be removed.

\*51028 If a state or authorized tribe chooses not to recognize primary contact recreation as an existing use in this same situation, the state or authorized tribe still must conduct a UAA to remove the primary contact use. The state or authorized tribe may only remove the primary contact recreation use if the use is not an existing use or if more stringent criteria are being added; the use cannot be attained by implementing effluent limits required under sections 301(b) and 306 of the Act and by implementing cost-effective and reasonable best management practices for nonpoint source control (§ 131.10(h)(1) and(2)); and the state or authorized tribe can demonstrate that one of the factors listed at § 131.10(g) precludes attainment of the primary contact recreation use. The combination of all the requirements at § 131.10 ensures that states and authorized tribes designate uses consistent with the goals of the Act unless the state or authorized tribe has demonstrated that such a use is not attainable. It also requires states and authorized tribes to maintain uses that have actually been attained.

#### C. Triennial Reviews

#### What does this rule provide and why?

The CWA and EPA's implementing regulation require states and authorized tribes to hold, at least once every three years, a public hearing for the purpose of reviewing applicable WQS (i.e. a triennial review). The CWA creates a partnership between states and authorized tribes, and EPA, by assigning states and authorized tribes the primary role of adopting WQS (CWA sections 101(b) and 303), and EPA the oversight role of reviewing and approving or disapproving state and authorized tribal WQS (CWA section 303(c)). Consistent with this partnership, the statute also assigns EPA the role of publishing national recommended criteria to assist states and authorized tribes in establishing water quality criteria in their WQS (CWA section 304(a)(1)). States and authorized tribes have several options for developing and adopting chemical, physical and biological criteria. They may use EPA's CWA section 304(a) criteria recommendations, modify EPA's CWA section 304(a) criteria recommendations to reflect site-specific conditions, or establish criteria using other scientifically defensible methods. Ultimately, states and authorized tribes must adopt criteria that are scientifically defensible and protective of the designated use to ensure that WQS continue to "protect the public health or welfare, enhance the quality of water and serve the purposes of" the Act (CWA section 303(c)(2)(A)).

In some cases, states and authorized tribes do not transparently communicate with the public their consideration of EPA's CWA section 304(a) criteria recommendations when deciding whether to revise their WQS. As a result, the public

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

may be led to believe that states and authorized tribes are not considering some of the latest science that is reflected in EPA's new or updated CWA section 304(a) criteria recommendations. To ensure public transparency and clarify existing requirements, the final rule contains two revisions to the triennial review requirements at 40 CFR 131.20(a). First, the rule requires that if states and authorized tribes choose not to adopt new or revised criteria during their triennial review for any parameters for which EPA has published new or updated criteria recommendations under CWA section 304(a), they must explain their decision when reporting the results of their triennial review to EPA under CWA section 303(c) (1) and 40 CFR 131.20(c). Second, the rule clarifies the "applicable water quality standards" that states and authorized tribes must review triennially.

The first revision addresses the role of EPA's CWA section 304(a) criteria recommendations in triennial reviews. While states and authorized tribes are not required to adopt EPA's CWA section 304(a) criteria recommendations, they must consider them. EPA continues to invest significant resources to examine evolving science for the purpose of updating existing and developing new CWA section 304(a) criteria recommendations to help states and authorized tribes meet the requirements of the Act. Those recommendations are based on data and scientific judgments about pollutant concentrations and environmental or human health effects.[FN25]

EPA's proposed rule, requiring states and authorized tribes to "consider" EPA's new or updated CWA section 304(a) criteria recommendations, raised several commenter questions and concerns about how states and authorized tribes were to "document" such consideration.

Commenters also expressed concern that EPA was overstepping its authority by dictating how states and authorized tribes conduct their triennial reviews and by requiring states and authorized tribes to adopt EPA's CWA section 304(a) criteria recommendations. This rule focuses on how a state or authorized tribe explains its decisions to EPA (and the public) rather than on how the state or authorized tribe conducts its review. The CWA section 304(a) criteria are national recommendations, and states or authorized tribes may wish to consider site-specific physical and/or chemical water body characteristics and/or varying sensitivities of local aquatic communities. While states and authorized tribes are not required to adopt the CWA section 304(a) criteria recommendations, they are required under the Act and EPA's implementing regulations to adopt criteria that protect applicable designated uses and that are based on sound scientific rationale. Since EPA revises its CWA section 304(a) recommendations periodically to reflect the latest science, it is important that states and authorized tribes consider EPA's new or updated recommendations and explain any decisions on their part to not incorporate the latest science into their WQS.

An important component of triennial reviews is meaningful and transparent involvement of the public and intergovernmental coordination with local, state, federal, and tribal entities. Communication with EPA (and the public) about these decisions provides opportunities to assist states and authorized tribes in improving the scientific basis of its WQS and can build support for state and authorized tribal decisions. Such coordination ultimately increases the effectiveness of the state and authorized tribal water quality management processes. Following this rulemaking, when states and authorized tribes conduct their next triennial review they must provide an explanation for why they did not adopt new or revised criteria for parameters for which EPA has published new or updated CWA section 304(a) criteria recommendations since May 30, 2000.[FN26] During the triennial reviews that follow, states and authorized tribes must do the same for criteria related to parameters for which EPA has published CWA section 304(a) criteria recommendations since the states' or authorized tribes' most recent triennial review. This requirement applies regardless of whether new or updated CWA section 304(a) criteria recommendations are \*51029 more stringent or less stringent than the state's or authorized tribe's applicable criteria because all stakeholders should know how the state or authorized tribe considered the CWA section 304(a) criteria recommendations when determining whether to revise their own WQS following a triennial review. A state's or authorized tribe's explanation may be situation-specific and could involve consideration of priorities and resources. EPA will not approve or disapprove this explanation pursuant to CWA section 303(c) nor will the explanation be used to disapprove new or revised WQS that otherwise meet the requirements of the CWA. Rather, it will inform both the public and EPA of the state's or authorized tribe's plans with respect to adopting new or revised

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

criteria in light of the latest science. EPA strongly encourages states and authorized tribes to include their explanation on a publically accessible Web site or some other mechanism to inform the public of their decision.

The second revision addresses confusion expressed in public comments regarding the meaning of § 131,20(a) so that states, authorized tribes and the public are clear on the scope of WQS to be reviewed during a triennial review. By not addressing this issue directly in the proposal, EPA may have inadvertently created ambiguity by implying that the only criteria states and authorized tribes need to re-examine during a triennial review are those criteria related to the parameters for which EPA has published new or updated CWA section 304(a) criteria recommendations. However, EPA's intent was not to qualify the initial sentence in § 131.20(a) regarding "applicable water quality standards" (which are all WQS either approved or promulgated by EPA for a state or tribe) but to supplement it by adding more detail regarding the triennial review of any and all existing criteria established pursuant to 40 CFR 131.11. Thus, the final rule clarifies what the regulation means by "applicable water quality standards." [FN27]

When conducting triennial reviews, states and authorized tribes must review all applicable WQS adopted into state or tribal law pursuant to §§ 131.10-131.15 [FN28] and any federally promulgated WQS.[FN29] Applicable WQS specifically include designated uses (§ 131.10), water quality criteria (§ 131.11), antidegradation (§ 131.12), general policies (§ 131.13). WQS variances (§ 131.14), and provisions authorizing the use of schedules of compliance for WQBELs in NPDES permits (§ 131.15).[FN30] If, during a triennial review, the state or authorized tribe determines that the federally promulgated WQS no longer protect its waters, the state or authorized tribe should adopt new or revised WQS. If EPA approves such new or revised WQS. EPA would withdraw the federally promulgated WQS because they would no longer be necessary.

Some states and authorized tribes target specific WQS during an individual triennial review to balance resources and priorities. The final rule does not affect states' or authorized tribes' discretion to identify such priority areas for action. However, the CWA and EPA's implementing regulation require the state or authorized tribe to hold, at least once every three years, a public hearing [FN31] for the purpose of reviewing applicable WQS, not just a subset of WQS that the state or authorized tribe has identified as high priority. In this regard, states and authorized tribes must still, at a minimum, seek and consider public comment on all applicable WQS.

#### What did EPA consider?

EPA considered finalizing the revision to \( \) 131.20(a) as proposed. However, given public commenters' confusion and concerns, as discussed previously, EPA ultimately rejected this option. EPA also considered foregoing revisions to \( \) 131.20(a) altogether. However, this option would not ensure that states and authorized tribes adopt criteria that reflect the latest science, and thus EPA rejected it.

#### What is EPA's position on certain public comments?

One commenter requested a longer period than three years for states and authorized tribes to consider new or updated CWA section 304(a) criteria recommendations because it was neither reasonable nor feasible to conduct a comprehensive review and rulemaking in this timeframe, including the public participation component. Other commenters suggested that EPA allow triennial reviews to occur "periodically," while some suggested that nine or 12 years would be a more appropriate frequency of review.

Although EPA acknowledges the challenges (e.g., the legal and administrative processes, resource constraints) that states and authorized tribes may experience when conducting triennial reviews, the three-year timeframe for triennial review comes directly from CWA section 303(c)(1). EPA has no authority to provide a longer timeframe for triennial reviews.

#### D. Antidegradation

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

One of the principal objectives of the CWA is to "maintain the chemical, physical and biological integrity of the Nation's waters." [FN32] Congress expressly affirmed this principle of "antidegradation" in the Water Quality Act of 1987 in CWA sections 101(a) and 303(d)(4)(B). EPA's WQS regulation has included antidegradation provisions since 1983. In particular, 40 CFR 131.12(a)(2) includes a provision that protects "high quality" waters (i.e., those with water quality that is better than necessary to support the uses specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act.)

Maintaining high water quality is critical to supporting economic and community growth and sustainability. Protecting high water quality also provides a margin of safety that will afford the water body increased resilience to potential future stressors, including climate change. Degradation of water quality can result in increased public health risks, higher treatment costs that must be borne by ratepayers and local governments, and diminished aquatic communities, ecological diversity, and ecosystem services. Conversely, maintaining high water quality can lower drinking water costs, provide revenue for tourism and recreation, support commercial and recreational fisheries, increase property values, create jobs and sustain local communities.[FN33] While preventing degradation and maintaining a reliable source of clean water involves costs, it can be more effective and efficient than \*51030 investing in long-term restoration efforts or remedial actions.

This rule revises the antidegradation regulation to enhance protection of high quality waters and to promote consistency in implementation. The new provisions require states and authorized tribes to follow a more structured process when making decisions about preserving high water quality. They also increase transparency and opportunities for public involvement, while preserving states' and authorized tribes' decision-making flexibility. The revisions meet the objectives of EPA's proposal, although EPA made some changes to the regulatory language after further consideration of the Agency's policy objectives and in response to public comments.

This rule establishes requirements in the following areas: Identification of high quality waters, analysis of alternatives, and antidegradation implementation methods. In addition to the substantive changes described in the following section, this rule also includes editorial changes that are not substantive in nature. For a detailed discussion of EPA's CWA authority regarding antidegradation, see the preamble to the proposed rule at 78 FR 54526 (September 4, 2013).

#### Identification of Waters for High Quality Water (Tier 2) Protection

#### What does this rule provide and why?

Tier 2 refers to a decision-making process by which a state or authorized tribe decides how and how much to protect water quality that exceeds levels necessary to support the uses specified in Section 101(a)(2) of the Act. The final rule at § 131.12(a)(2)(i) provides that states and authorized tribes may identify waters for Tier 2 protection on either a parameter-by-parameter or a water body-by-water body basis. The rule also specifies that, where states and authorized tribes identify waters on a water body-by-water body basis, states and authorized tribes must involve the public in any decisions pertaining to when they will provide Tier 2 protection, and the factors considered in such decisions. Further, states and authorized tribes must not exclude water bodies from Tier 2 protection solely because water quality does not exceed levels necessary to support all of the uses specified in CWA section 101(a)(2). This rule requires that states' and authorized tribes' antidegradation policies be consistent with these new requirements.

States and authorized tribes typically use one of two approaches to identify high quality waters consistent with the CWA. States and authorized tribes using a parameter-by-parameter approach generally identify high quality waters at the time an entity proposes the activity that would lower water quality. Under this approach, states and authorized tribes identify parameters for which water quality is better than necessary to support the uses specified in CWA section 101(a)(2) and provide Tier 2 protection for any such parameters. Alternatively, states and authorized tribes using a water body-by-water body approach generally identify waters that will receive Tier 2 protection by weighing a variety of factors, in advance of any proposed activity. States and authorized tribes can identify some waters using a parameter-by-parameter approach and other waters using a water body-by-water body approach.

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

The 1983 WQS regulation did not specify which approach states and authorized tribes must use to identify waters for Tier 2 protection. In the 1998 ANPRM, EPA articulated that either approach, when properly implemented, is consistent with the CWA, and described advantages and disadvantages to both approaches. A parameter-by-parameter approach can be easier to implement, can be less susceptible to challenge, and can result in more waters receiving some degree of Tier 2 protection. The ANPRM also articulated: "[t]he water body-by-water body approach, on the other hand, allows for a weighted assessment of chemical, physical, biological, and other information (e.g., unique ecological or scenic attributes). In this regard, the water body-by-water body approach may be better suited to EPA's stated vision for the [WQS] program . . . This approach also allows for the high quality water decision to be made in advance of the antidegradation review . . ., which may facilitate implementation. A water body-by-water body approach also allows [s]tates and [t]ribes to focus limited resources on protecting higher-value [s]tate or [t]ribal waters. The water body-bywater body approach can . . . preserve high quality waters on the basis of physical and biological attributes, rather than high water quality attributes alone."

Because the original WQS regulation did not provide specific requirements regarding use of the water body-by-water body approach, it was possible for states and authorized tribes to identify high quality waters in a manner inconsistent with the CWA and the intent of EPA's implementing regulation. In some cases, states and authorized tribes have used the water body-by-water body approach without documenting the factors that inform the decision or informing the public. For example, some states or authorized tribes have excluded waters from Tier 2 protection entirely based on the fact that the water was included on a CWA section 303(d) list for a single parameter without allowing an opportunity for the public to provide input.

This rule reaffirms EPA's support for both approaches. The new regulatory requirements included at § 131.12(a)(2)(i) only apply to the water body-by-water body approach because they are unnecessary for the parameter-by-parameter approach. States and authorized tribes using the parameter-by-parameter approach provide Tier 2 protection to all chemical, physical, and biological parameters for which water quality is better than necessary to protect the uses specified in CWA section 101(a)(2). Because the identification of waters that are high quality with respect to relevant parameters would occur in the context of allowing a specific activity, the level of protection is already subject to any public involvement required for that activity. For example, an NPDES permit writer calculating WQBELs would use available data and information about the water body to determine whether assimilative capacity exists for the relevant parameters. The state or authorized tribe would then provide Tier 2 protection for all parameters for which assimilative capacity exists. The draft permit would reflect the results of the Tier 2 review, hence providing an opportunity for public involvement.

The requirement at § 131.12(a)(2)(i) regarding public involvement increases the transparency of and accountability for states' and authorized tribes' water quality management decisions. The final rule is consistent with the CWA and the WQS regulation's emphasis on the public's role in water quality protection. A key part of a state's or authorized tribe's antidegradation process involves decisions on how to manage high water quality, a shared public resource. Commenters expressed concern that the proposed rule did not require states and authorized tribes to engage the public on decisions when implementing a water body-by-water body approach. Consequently, the public would not know the factors a state or authorized tribe considered in deciding that the water body did not merit Tier 2 protection, which would limit the public's ability to provide constructive input during the permit's public notice and comment period.

To provide for well-informed public input and to aid states and authorized tribes in making robust decisions, EPA \*51031 recommends states and authorized tribes document their evaluation of the Tier 2 decision, including the factors considered and how those factors were weighed. The case of Ohio Valley Envtl. Coalition v. Horinko demonstrates why it is important for states and authorized tribes to articulate the rationale for their decisions.[FN34] In this case, the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia considered whether the record contained sufficient evidence to justify EPA's approval of the state's exclusion of particular water bodies from Tier 2 protection. The state

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

had classified some CWA section 303(d) listed waters as waters to receive Tier 2 protection, while it had excluded other similar waters with similar impairments from Tier 2 protection. The Court found the administrative record insufficient to support EPA's decision to approve the state's classification because the state's CWA section 303(d) listing was the only evidence related to the water quality of those river segments. The Court did not opine on whether, in a different factual situation, categorically excluding waters from Tier 2 protection based on CWA section 303(d) impairments would be consistent with the CWA.

To minimize the administrative processes associated with this rule, EPA uses the phrase "opportunity for public involvement" rather than "public participation." "Public participation" at 40 CFR 131.20(b) [FN35] refers to a state or authorized tribe holding a public hearing for the purpose of reviewing WQS. With this rule, EPA provides states and authorized tribes the flexibility to engage the public in a way that suits the state or authorized tribe and the public. For example, a state or authorized tribe could develop lists of waters that will and will not receive Tier 2 protection along with descriptions of the factors considered in making each of those decisions and post that information on its Web site. To obtain public input, the state or authorized tribe could share these lists during a triennial review and/or during revision of antidegradation implementation methods. Such an approach has the advantage of streamlining both the decision-making and public involvement processes. As another example, a state could use the NPDES process to engage the public at the time it drafts a permit that would allow a lowering of water quality. The state would document the relevant information related to its decision in the permit fact sheet provided to the public and specifically request comment on its Tier 2 protection decision.

States and authorized tribes can provide additional avenues for public involvement by providing structured opportunities for the public to initiate antidegradation discussions. For example, a state or authorized tribe could provide a petition process in which citizens request Tier 2 protection for specific waters, and those citizens could provide data and information for a state's or authorized tribe's consideration. Also, states and authorized tribes can establish a process to facilitate public involvement in identifying waters as Outstanding National Resource Waters (ONRWs).

An additional requirement at § 131.12(a)(2)(i) provides that states and authorized tribes must not exclude a water body from the protections in § 131.12(a)(2) solely because water quality does not exceed levels necessary to support all of the uses specified in CWA section 101(a)(2). For a discussion on why such an approach is inconsistent with the Act, see the preamble to the proposed rule at 78 FR 54527 (September 4, 2013). Thus, when considering whether to exclude waters from Tier 2 protection, states and authorized tribes must consider the overall quality of the water rather than whether water quality is better than necessary for individual chemical, physical, and biological parameters to support all the uses specified in CWA section 101(a)(2). The rule provides for a decision-making process where states and authorized tribes consider water quality and reasons to protect water quality more broadly. This can lead to more robust evaluations of the water body, and potentially more waters receiving Tier 2 protection. To make a decision to exclude a water body from Tier 2 protection, states and authorized tribes must identify the factors considered which should include factors that are rooted in the goals of the CWA, including the chemical, physical, and biological characteristics of a water body. Where states and authorized tribes wish to consider CWA section 303(d) listed impairments, it would be important that they also consider all other relevant available data and conduct an overall assessment of a water's characteristics. It would also be important that states and authorized tribes consider the public value of the water. This includes the water's impact on public health and welfare, the existing aquatic and recreational uses, and the value of retaining ecosystem resilience against the effects of future stressors, including climate change. For additional information on this overall assessment, see the preamble to the proposed rule at 78 FR 54527 (September 4, 2013).

This requirement is consistent with the proposed rule. However, to accurately articulate the requirement, and to remain consistent with § 131.12(a)(2), the final rule text reflects that for a water to have available assimilative capacity for which to provide Tier 2 protection, the water quality must "exceed" the levels necessary (i.e., be better than necessary) to support the uses specified in CWA section 101(a)(2). Commenters stated that some members of the public could misinterpret the phrase "high quality waters" in the proposal to include waters that meet but do not exceed the water quality necessary

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

to support the uses specified in CWA section 101(a)(2). The final rule replaces "high quality waters" with the phrase "waters for the protections described in (a)(2) of this section." The final rule also says waters cannot be excluded from Tier 2 protection solely "because water quality does not exceed levels necessary to support all of the uses specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act" instead of "because not all of the uses specified in CWA section 101(a)(2) are attained," as stated in the proposal.

Where water quality is better than necessary to support all of the uses specified in CWA section 101(a)(2), § 131.12(a) (2) requires states and authorized tribes to provide Tier 2 protection. Where water quality is not better than necessary to support all of the uses specified in CWA section 101(a)(2), the final rule does not require states and authorized tribes to provide Tier 2 protection for the water body. However, in instances where states and authorized tribes lack data and information on the water quality to make individual water body conclusions, EPA recommends that they provide all or a subset of their waters with Tier 2 protection, by default. Doing so will increase the probability that these waters will maintain a level of resiliency to future stressors.

This rule requires states' and authorized tribes' antidegradation policies (which are legally binding state and authorized tribal provisions subject to public participation) to be consistent with the new requirements related to identifying waters for Tier 2 protection. Since states and authorized tribes must provide for public participation on their antidegradation policies, placing their requirements for identification of high quality waters in their antidegradation policies increases accountability and transparency. The proposed rule \*51032 articulated that states and authorized tribes must design their implementation methods to achieve the requirements for identifying high quality waters. Commenters questioned whether the proposed requirement for identifying high quality waters was mandatory, since the proposal did not require states and authorized tribes to adopt the requirement into their legally binding policies. Some commenters suggested requiring states and authorized tribes to adopt all implementation methods into binding provisions. While some states and authorized tribes find adoption of their implementation methods to be helpful, others view it as burdensome. EPA determined that while adopting implementation methods increases accountability and transparency, states and authorized tribes could still provide this accountability and transparency for identification of waters for Tier 2 protection without a requirement to adopt implementation methods. Therefore, the final rule requires antidegradation policies to be consistent with the provision at § 131.12(a)(2)(i). States and authorized tribes have the discretion and flexibility to adopt antidegradation provisions that address other aspects of antidegradation that are not specifically addressed in § 131.12(a). Where a state or authorized tribe chooses to include antidegradation implementation methods in non-binding guidance, the methods must be consistent with the applicable state or authorized tribal antidegradation requirements that EPA has approved. Consistent with § 122.44(d)(1)(vii)(a), permits must derive from and comply with all applicable WQS. Otherwise, EPA could have a basis to object to the permits.

#### What did EPA consider?

EPA considered not revising § 131.12(a)(2) and continuing to provide no new regulatory requirements for identification of waters for Tier 2 protection. EPA also considered prohibiting the water body-by-water body approach. Providing no regulatory requirements would continue to allow states and authorized tribes to implement a water body-by-water body approach that is potentially inconsistent with the CWA, while prohibiting the water body-by-water body approach would limit states' and authorized tribes' flexibility to prioritize their waters for Tier 2 protection. EPA rejected these options in favor of a more balanced approach by placing conditions on how states and authorized tribes use their discretion to better ensure protection of high quality waters.

EPA considered finalizing the rule as proposed, without a requirement for public involvement in decisions about whether to provide Tier 2 protection to a water body; however, EPA found that public involvement is critical for increasing accountability and transparency and included the requirement in the final rule. EPA also considered providing for an EPA approval or disapproval action under CWA section 303(c) of states' and authorized tribes' decisions on whether to provide Tier 2 protection to each water. EPA ultimately decided not to include such a requirement because of concern that it would add more administrative and rulemaking burden for states and authorized tribes than EPA determined was

# Electronic Filing: Received, Clerk's Office 8/9/2017 \* \* R2018-018 \* \* Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

necessary to ensure public involvement. EPA considered specifying precisely which waters must receive Tier 2 protection. However, EPA did not include such specificity in the rule because there are multiple ways that states and authorized tribes can make well-reasoned decisions on Tier 2 protection based on case-specific facts.

#### Analysis of Alternatives

#### What does this rule provide and why?

The final rule at § 131.12(a)(2)(ii) provides that before allowing a lowering of high water quality, states and authorized tribes must find, after an analysis of alternatives, that such a lowering is necessary to accommodate important economic or social development in the area in which the waters are located. That analysis must evaluate a range of non-degrading and less degrading practicable alternatives. For the purposes of this requirement, the final rule at § 131.3(n) defines "practicable" to mean "technologically possible, able to be put into practice, and economically viable." When an analysis identifies one or more such practicable alternatives, states and authorized tribes may only find that a lowering is necessary if one such alternative is selected for implementation. This rule requires that states' and authorized tribes' antidegradation policies must be consistent with these new requirements.

Section 131.12(a)(2)(ii) requires a structured analysis of alternatives, which will increase transparency and consistency in states' and authorized tribes' decisions about high water quality. The new requirement makes the analysis of alternatives an integral part of a state's or authorized tribe's finding that degradation of high quality water is "necessary." Such an analysis provides states and authorized tribes with a basis to make informed and reasoned decisions, assuring that degradation only occurs where truly necessary. This rule refers to "analysis of alternatives" rather than "alternatives analysis" as in the proposal. This makes clear that the analysis required in § 131.12(a)(2)(ii) is distinct from the "alternatives analysis" required in other programs, such as the National Environmental Policy Act and CWA section 404 permitting.

Section 131.12(a)(2)(ii) is consistent with the proposed rule, but makes clear that states' and authorized tribes' findings that a lowering is necessary depends on both an analysis of alternatives and an analysis related to economic or social development. Commenters were concerned that the proposed rule seemed to remove the requirement at § 131.12(a)(2) for states and authorized tribes to consider whether a lowering of water quality will "accommodate important economic or social development in the area in which the waters are located."

This rule preserves states' and authorized tribes' discretion to decide the order in which they satisfy these requirements. A state or authorized tribe can choose to first review an analysis of economic or social development. If it finds that the proposed lowering of water quality would accommodate important economic or social development, it can then require an analysis of alternatives to see if the lowering could be prevented or lessened. If, on the other hand, a state or authorized tribe finds that the proposed lowering of water quality would not accommodate important economic or social development, it could choose to disallow lowering of water quality and terminate the Tier 2 review without ever requiring an analysis of alternatives. Similarly, a state or authorized tribe could first choose to require an analysis of alternatives and then examine an analysis of economic or social development. In this case, if a non-degrading alternative is selected for implementation, the state or authorized tribe does not need to proceed with an analysis of economic or social development.

Although states and authorized tribes are responsible for making a finding to allow a lowering of water quality based on a reasonable, credible, and adequate analysis of alternatives, states and authorized tribes themselves need not conduct the analysis of alternatives or select the alternative to be implemented. Commenters expressed concern that the proposed rule language implied that states and authorized tribes must perform the analysis themselves, when \*51033 other entities may be best positioned to analyze the alternatives. The final rule language allows states and authorized tribes to rely on analyses prepared by third parties (e.g., a permit applicant). This preserves appropriate flexibility for states' and authorized tribes' decision-makers, and can bring additional resources and expertise to the analysis. States and authorized

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

tribes remain ultimately responsible for making findings to allow degradation and for basing their decisions on adequate analyses. If the state or authorized tribe deems an initial analysis of alternatives insufficient to support a finding that a lowering of high water quality is "necessary," it can request additional analyses of alternatives from the permit applicant or other entities. A state or authorized tribe can also obtain information on common practicable alternatives appropriate for a proposed activity from additional existing resources. [FN36]

The final rule specifies that states and authorized tribes must analyze "practicable alternatives that would prevent or lessen the degradation," rather than "non-degrading and minimally degrading practicable alternatives that have the potential to prevent or minimize the degradation," as proposed. While non-degrading or minimally degrading alternatives preserve high water quality to a greater extent, in cases where no minimally-degrading alternatives exist, a less degrading alternative will still provide a margin of protection for the high quality water. The final rule requires a broader, more complete analysis.

To enhance clarity and provide for consistency in implementation, this rule finalizes a definition of the word "practicable." The definition embodies a common sense notion of practicability—i.e., an alternative that can actually be implemented under the circumstances. Because "practicable" appears in other contexts related to water quality, the definition at § 131.3(n) is only applicable for § 131.12(a)(2)(ii). This definition is consistent with the one articulated in the preamble to the proposed rule.[FN37] but eliminates redundancy and omits "at the site in question" in response to commenters' concern that relocation of a proposed activity may be a less degrading alternative that the state or authorized tribe can consider.

Section 131.12(a)(2)(ii) provides for preservation of high water quality by requiring a less degrading practicable alternative to be selected for implementation, if available, before states and authorized tribes may find that a lowering of water quality is necessary. This requirement applies even if the analysis identifies only one alternative. States and authorized tribes must still make a finding that a lowering is necessary if the analysis does not identify any practicable alternatives that lessen degradation. On the other hand, if the analysis results in choosing an alternative that avoids degradation, a state or authorized tribe need not make a finding. Regardless of the number of alternatives identified, the analysis should document a level of detail that reflects the significance and magnitude of the particular circumstances encountered, to provide the public with the necessary information to understand how the state or authorized tribe made its decision.

EPA chose not to require implementation of the least degrading practicable alternative to allow states and authorized tribes the flexibility to balance multiple considerations. Some alternatives to lowering water quality can have negative environmental impacts in other media (e.g., air, land). For example, incinerating pollutants rather than discharging the pollutants to surface waters could adversely impact air quality and energy use, and land application of pollutants could have adverse terrestrial impacts. EPA recommends that states and authorized tribes consider cross-media impacts and, where possible, seek alternatives that minimize degradation of water quality and also minimize other environmental impacts.

The final rule requires states' and authorized tribes' antidegradation policies (which are legally binding provisions subject to public participation) to be consistent with the new requirements related to analysis of alternatives. As with the provision on identification of waters for Tier 2 protection at § 131.12(a)(2)(i), EPA determined that antidegradation policies must be consistent with the federal regulation on analysis of alternatives at § 131.12(a)(2)(ii) to increase accountability and transparency.

#### What did EPA consider?

EPA considered finalizing the proposed rule without alteration. EPA did not choose this option in light of commenters' suggestions to clarify the language in order to avoid confusion as to who is responsible for conducting the analysis. EPA also rejected an option to forego any revisions related to an analysis of alternatives, as this would not provide

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

clarification regarding what type of analysis supports states' or authorized tribes' decisions that a lowering of water quality is "necessary," thus risking a greater loss of water quality.

#### Antidegradation Implementation Methods

#### What does this rule provide and why?

The rule at § 131.12(b) requires states' and authorized tribes' antidegradation implementation methods (whether or not those methods are adopted into rule) to be consistent with their antidegradation policies and with § 131.12(a). This rule also requires states and authorized tribes to provide an opportunity for public involvement during the development and any subsequent revisions of antidegradation implementation methods, and to make the methods available to the public.

Finally, this rule adds § 131.5(a)(3) to explicitly specify that EPA has the authority to determine whether the states' and authorized tribes' antidegradation policies and any adopted antidegradation implementation methods [FN38] are consistent with the federal antidegradation requirements at § 131.12. This revision does not expand EPA's existing CWA authority, rather it ensures § 131.5 is consistent with §§ 131.6 and 131.12.

The public involvement requirement at § 131.12(b) increases transparency, accountability, and consistency in states' and authorized tribes' implementation. EPA proposed a requirement that implementation methods be publicly available. As EPA discussed in the preamble to the proposed rule, CWA section 101(e) provides that "public participation in the development, revision, and enforcement of any regulations, standard, effluent limitation, plan, or program established... under this Act shall be provided for, encouraged, and assisted..." Thus, this rule also provides for public involvement during development or revision of implementation methods. A state or authorized tribe may decide to offer more than one opportunity to most effectively engage the public. States and authorized tribes can use various mechanisms to provide such \*51034 opportunities, including a public hearing, a public meeting, a public workshop, and different ways of engaging the public via the Internet, such as webinars and Web site postings. If a state or authorized tribe adopts antidegradation implementation methods as part of its WQS or other legally binding provisions, the state's or authorized tribe's own public participation requirements and 40 CFR part 25 and § 131.20(b) of the federal regulation, will satisfy this requirement.

Section 131.5(a)(3) makes explicit EPA's authority to review states' and authorized tribes' antidegradation policies and any adopted antidegradation implementation methods and to determine whether those policies and methods are consistent with § 131.12. EPA recommends states and authorized tribes adopt binding implementation methods to provide more transparency and consistency for the public and other stakeholders and to increase accountability. States and authorized tribes may find that the Continuing Planning Process provisions described at CWA section 303(e) and § 130.5 can facilitate the state's or authorized tribe's establishment and maintenance of a process for WQS implementation consistent with the requirements of the final rule.

Here, EPA clarifies the terms "antidegradation policy" and "antidegradation implementation methods." For the purposes of § 131.12, states' and authorized tribes' "antidegradation policies" must be adopted in rule or other legally binding form, and must be consistent with the requirements of § 131.12(a). EPA originally promulgated this requirement in 1983. "Antidegradation implementation methods" refer to any additional documents and/or provisions in which a state or authorized tribe describes methods for implementing its antidegradation policy, whether or not the state or authorized tribe formally adopts the methods in regulation or other legally binding form. If a state or authorized tribe does not choose to adopt the entirety of its implementation methods, EPA recommends, at a minimum, adopting in regulation or other legally binding form any antidegradation program elements that substantively express the desired instream level of protection and how that level of protection will be expressed or established for such waters in the future.

#### What did EPA consider?

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

EPA considered not adding § 131.5(a)(3). EPA rejected this option in light of commenters' suggestions to clarify the extent of EPA's authority. EPA also considered not adding § 131.12(b) or establishing § 131.12(b), as proposed. However, public involvement in the development and implementation of states' and authorized tribes' antidegradation implementation methods is fundamental to meeting the CWA requirements to restore and maintain water quality. EPA considered revising the rule to require that all states and authorized tribes adopt the entirety of their antidegradation implementation methods in regulation to improve accountability and transparency, as some commenters suggested. EPA did not make this change because it would limit states' and authorized tribes' ability to easily revise their implementation methods in order to adapt and improve antidegradation protection in a timely manner. Some states and authorized tribes have difficulty adopting their methods because of resource constraints, state or tribal laws, or complex rulemaking processes. Instead of requiring adoption of implementation methods, the final rule achieves more accountability by establishing specific requirements for states' and authorized tribes' antidegradation policies regarding two key aspects of Tier 2 implementation.

#### What is EPA's position on certain public comments?

Commenters requested clarification concerning whether states and authorized tribes must change their approaches to antidegradation to be consistent with the final rule. Where a state or authorized tribe already has established antidegradation requirements consistent with this rule, EPA does not anticipate the need for further changes.

Many commenters requested clarification concerning whether the proposed rule affects states' and authorized tribes' ability to use de minimis exclusions. Some states and authorized tribes use de minimis exclusions to prioritize and manage limited resources by excluding activities from Tier 2 review if they view the activity as potentially causing an insignificant lowering of water quality. This allows states and authorized tribes to use their limited resources where it can have the greatest environmental impact. Although EPA did not propose any revisions related to defining or authorizing de minimis exclusions, some commenters requested that EPA finalize a rule that explicitly accepts them, and others asked EPA to prohibit them. Section 131.12—including the revisions in this rule—does not address de minimis exclusions. States and authorized tribes can use de minimis exclusions, as long as they use them in a manner consistent with the CWA and § 131.12.

The DC Circuit explained in Ala. Power v. Costle that under the de minimis doctrine, "[c]ategorical exemptions may also be permissible as an exercise of agency power, inherent in most statutory schemes, to overlook circumstances that in context may fairly be considered de minimis." [FN39] The Court went on to explain that the authority to create a de minimis provision "is not an ability to depart from the statute, but rather a tool to be used in implementing the legislative design." [FN40] The Sixth Circuit has also explained that de minimis provisions are created through an "administrative law principle which allows an agency to create unwritten exceptions to a statute or rule for insignificant or 'de minimis' matters." [FN41]

States and authorized tribes have historically defined "significant degradation" in a variety of ways. Significance tests range from simple to complex, involve qualitative or quantitative measures or both, and may vary depending upon the type of pollution or pollutant (e.g., the approach may be different for highly toxic or bioaccumulative pollutants). EPA does not endorse one specific approach to identifying what constitutes insignificant degradation, though EPA does recognize that one potential way a state or authorized tribe could describe its de minimis methodology would be to identify a "significance threshold" as percentage of assimilative capacity loss for a parameter or lowering of water quality that would be considered "insignificant." EPA has not found a scientific basis to identify a specific percentage of loss of assimilative capacity or lowering of water quality that could reasonably be considered insignificant for all parameters, in all waters, at all times, for all activities. Depending on the water body's chemical, physical, and biological characteristics and the circumstances of the lowering of water quality, even very small changes in water quality could cause significant effects to the water body.

# Electronic Filing: Received, Clerk's Office 8/9/2017 \* \* R2018-018 \* \* Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

Courts have explained that the implied de minimis provision authority is "narrow in reach and tightly bounded by the need to show that the situation \*51035 is genuinely de minimis or one of administrative necessity." [FN42] Accordingly, this authority only applies "when the burdens of regulation yield a gain of trivial or no value." [FN43] Finally, a "determination of when matters are truly de minimis naturally will turn on the assessment of particular circumstances, and the agency will bear the burden of making the required showing." [FN44]

Unless a state or authorized tribe can provide appropriate technical justification, it should not create categorical exemptions from Tier 2 review for specific types of activities based on a general finding that such activities do not result in significant degradation. States and authorized tribes should also consider the appropriateness of exemptions depending on the types of chemical, physical, and biological parameters that would be affected. For example, if a potential lowering of water quality contains bioaccumulative chemicals of concern, a state or authorized tribe should not apply a categorical de minimis exclusion because even extremely small additions of such chemicals could have a significant effect. For such pollutants, it could be possible to apply a de minimis exclusion on a case by case basis, but the state or authorized tribe should carefully consider any such proposed lowering prior to determining that it would be insignificant. States and authorized tribes should also consider the potential effects of cumulative impacts on the same water body to ensure that the cumulative degradation from multiple activities each considered to have a de minimis impact will not cumulatively add up to a significant impact. Finally, if a state or authorized tribe intends to use de minimis exclusions, then EPA recommends that it describe how it will use de minimis in its antidegradation implementation methods. This guarantees that states and authorized tribes will inform the public ahead of time about how they will use de minimis exemptions.

EPA also encourages states and authorized tribes to consider other ways to help focus limited resources where they may result in the greatest environmental protection. A state or authorized tribe should consider whether it will require more effort and resources to justify a de minimis exemption than it would take to actually complete a Tier 2 review for the activity. EPA encourages states and authorized tribes to develop ways to streamline Tier 2 reviews, rather than seeking to exempt activities from review entirely.

## E. WQS Variances

#### What does this rule provide and why?

This rule establishes an explicit regulatory framework for the adoption of WQS variances that states and authorized tribes can use to implement adaptive management approaches to improve water quality. States and authorized tribes can face substantial uncertainty as to what designated use may ultimately be attainable in their waters. Pollutants that impact such waters can result from large-scale land use changes, extreme weather events, or environmental stressors related to climate change that can hinder restoration and maintenance of water quality. In addition, pollutants can be persistent in the environment and, in some cases, lack economically feasible control options. WQS variances are customized WQS that identify the highest attainable condition applicable throughout the WQS variance term. For a discussion of why it is important for states and authorized tribes to include the highest attainable condition, see the preamble to the proposed rule at 78 FR 54534 (September 4, 2013). States and authorized tribes could use one or more WQS variances to require incremental improvements in water quality leading to eventual attainment of the ultimate designated use.

While EPA has long recognized WQS variances as an available tool, the final rule provides regulatory certainty to states and authorized tribes, the regulated community, and the public that WQS variances are a legal WQS tool. The final rule explicitly authorizes the use of WQS variances and provides requirements to ensure that WQS variances are used appropriately. Such a mechanism allows states and authorized tribes to work with stakeholders and assure the public that WQS variances facilitate progress toward attaining designated uses. When all parties are engaged in a transparent process that is guided by an accountable framework, states and authorized tribes can move past traditional barriers and begin efforts to maintain and restore waters. As discussed in the preamble to the proposed rule at 78 FR 54531 (September 4, 2013), a number of states have not pursued WQS variances. For WQS variances submitted to EPA between 2004 and 2015, 75% came from states covered by the "Water Quality Guidance for the Great Lakes System" rulemaking at 40

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

CFR part 132. EPA attributes the Region 5 states' success in adopting and submitting WQS variances to the fact that the states and their stakeholders have had more specificity in regulation regarding WQS variances than the rest of the country. This final rule is intended to provide the same level of specificity nationally.

EPA's authority to establish requirements for WQS variances comes from CWA sections 101(a) and 303(c)(2). This rule reflects this authority by explicitly recognizing that states and authorized tribes may adopt time-limited WQS with a designated use and criterion reflecting the highest attainable condition applicable throughout the term of the WQS variance, instead of pursing a permanent [FN45] revision of the designated use and associated criteria. WQS variances serve the national goal in section 101(a)(2) of the Act and the ultimate objective of the CWA to restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the Nation's waters because WQS variances are narrow in scope and duration and are designed to make progress toward water quality goals. When a WQS variance is in place, all other applicable standards not addressed in the WQS variance continue to apply, in addition to the ultimate water quality objectives (i.e., the underlying WQS). Also, by requiring the highest attainable condition to be identified and applicable throughout the term of the WQS variance, the final rule provides a mechanism to make incremental progress toward the ultimate water quality objective for the water body and toward the restoration and maintenance of the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the Nation's waters.

This rule adds a new regulatory section at § 131.14 that explicitly authorizes the use of WQS variances when the applicable designated uses are not attainable in the near-term but may be attainable in the future. The rule clarifies how WQS variances relate to other CWA programs and specifies the information that the state and authorized tribe must adopt in any WQS variance, including the highest attainable condition. States and authorized tribes must submit to EPA supporting documentation that demonstrates why the WQS variance is \*51036 needed and justifies the term and interim requirements. Finally, the rule requires states and authorized tribes to reevaluate WQS variances longer than five years on an established schedule with public involvement. The changes from the proposed rule respond to public comments and remain consistent with the Agency's clearly articulated policy objectives in the proposed rule. This rule also includes editorial changes that are not substantive in nature.

First, to provide clarity, this rule includes a new section at § 131.14 to explicitly authorize states and authorized tribes to adopt WQS variances. States and authorized tribes may adopt WQS variances for a single discharger, multiple dischargers, or a water body or waterbody segment, but it only applies to the permittee(s) or water body/waterbody segment(s) specified in the WQS variance. The rule defines a WQS variance at § 131.3(o) as a time-limited designated use and criterion for a specified pollutant(s), permittee(s), and/or water body or waterbody segment(s) that reflects the highest attainable condition applicable throughout the specified time period. The rule further specifies that a WQS variance is a new or revised WQS subject to EPA review and approval or disapproval,[FN46] requires a public process, and must be reviewed on a triennial basis. All other applicable standards not specifically addressed by the WQS variance remain applicable. This rule adds § 131.5(a)(4) to explicitly specify that EPA has the authority to determine whether any WQS variances adopted by a state or authorized tribe are consistent with the requirements at § 131.14. A WQS variance shall not be adopted if the designated use and criterion can be achieved by implementing technology-based effluent limits required under sections 301(b) and 306 of the Act.

To make incremental water quality improvements, it is important that states' and authorized tribes' WQS continue to reflect the ultimate water quality goal. This rule, therefore, requires states and authorized tribes to retain the underlying designated use and criterion in their standards to apply to all other permittees not addressed in the WQS variance, and for identifying threatened and impaired waters under CWA section 303(d), and for establishing a Total Maximum Daily Load (TMDL).[FN47] For further clarity, this rule also specifies that once EPA approves a WQS variance, including the highest attainable condition, it applies for purposes of developing NPDES permit limits and requirements under 301(b)(1)(C). WQS variances can also be used by states, authorized tribes, and other certifying entities when issuing certifications under CWA section 401. If EPA disapproves a WQS variance, the state or authorized tribe will have an opportunity to revise and re-submit the WQS variance for approval. Until EPA approves the re-submitted WQS variance.

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

the underlying designated use and criteria remain applicable for all CWA purposes. This rule reinforces the requirements at § 122.44(d)(1)(vii)(A) by specifying that any limitations and requirements necessary to implement the WQS variance must be included as enforceable conditions of the implementing NPDES permit.

Second, to provide public transparency, this rule requires states and authorized tribes to include specific information in the WQS variance. States and authorized tribes must specify the pollutant(s) or water quality parameter(s) and the water body/waterbody segment(s) to which the WQS variance applies. A state or authorized tribe must also identify the discharger(s) subject to a discharger-specific WQS variance. As an alternative to identifying the specific dischargers at the time of adoption of a WQS variance for multiple dischargers, states and authorized tribes may adopt specific eligibility requirements in the WQS variance. This will make clear what characteristics a discharger must have in order to be subject to the WQS variance for multiple dischargers. It is EPA's expectation that states and authorized tribes that choose to identify the dischargers in this manner will subsequently make a list of the facilities covered by the WQS variance publicly available (e.g., posted on the state or authorized tribal Web site). It may be appropriate for a state or authorized tribe to adopt one WQS variance that applies to multiple dischargers experiencing the same challenges in meeting their WQBELs for the same pollutant so long as the WQS variance is consistent with the CWA and § 131.14. [FN48] A multiple discharger WQS variance may not be appropriate or practical for all situations and can be highly dependent on the applicable pollutants, parameters, and/or permittees.

States and authorized tribes must also specify the term of any WQS variance to ensure that WQS variances are timelimited. States and authorized tribes have the flexibility to express the WQS variance term as a specific date (e.g., expires on December 31, 2024) or as an interval of time after EPA-approval (e.g., expires 10 years after EPA approval), as long as it is only as long as necessary to achieve the highest attainable condition. If, at the end of the WQS variance, the underlying designated use remains unattainable, the state or authorized tribe may adopt a subsequent WQS variance(s), consistent with the requirements of § 131.14.

To ensure that states and authorized tribes use WQS variances that continue to make water quality progress, the rule does not allow a WQS variance to lower currently attained ambient water quality, except in circumstances where a WQS variance will allow short-term lowering necessary for restoration activities consistent with § 131.14(b)(2)(i)(A)(2). Moreover, states and authorized tribes must specify in the WQS variance itself the interim requirements reflecting the highest attainable condition. Where a permittee cannot immediately meet the WQBEL derived from the terms of a WQS variance, the permitting authority can decide whether to provide a permit compliance schedule (where authorized) so the permittee can remain in compliance with its NPDES permit.[FN49] (See CWA section [502(17)] for a definition of "Schedules of compliance" and 40 CFR 122.47).[FN50] Any such compliance schedule must include a final effluent limit based on the applicable highest attainable condition and must require compliance with the permit's WQBEL "as soon as possible." If the compliance schedule exceeds one year, the permitting authority must include interim requirements and the dates for their achievement.

For example, if the underlying criterion requires an NPDES WQBEL of 1 mg/L for pollutant X, but the permittee's current effluent quality is at 10 mg/L, the state or authorized tribe could adopt the highest attainable condition of 3 mg/L to be achieved at the end of 15 years and obtain EPA approval if they have met the requirements of § 131.14. Once approved by EPA, the highest attainable condition of 3 mg/L is the applicable \*51037 criterion for purposes of deriving the NPDES WQBEL and developing the NPDES permit limits and requirements for the facility covered by the WQS variance. For this example, assume the permitting authority is developing the NPDES permit without allowing dilution (i.e., applying the criterion end of pipe). In this case, the facility will need 15 years to implement the activities necessary to meet the limit based on the 3 mg/L. The permitting authority could include a 15 year compliance schedule with a final effluent limit based on 3 mg/L and an enforceable sequence of actions that the permitting authority determines are necessary to achieve the final effluent limit. As discussed later in this section, the documentation that a state or authorized tribe provides to EPA justifying the term of the WQS variance informs the permitting authority when determining the enforceable sequence of actions.

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

This rule requires states and authorized tribes to provide a quantifiable expression of the highest attainable condition. This requirement is an important feature of a WQS variance that facilitates development of NPDES permit limits and requirements and allows states, authorized tribes, and the public to track progress. This rule provides states and authorized tribes the flexibility to express the highest attainable condition as numeric pollutant concentrations in ambient water, numeric effluent conditions, or other quantitative expressions of pollutant reduction, such as the maximum number of combined sewer overflows that is achievable after implementation of a long-term control plan or a percent reduction in pollutant loads.

The final rule at § 131.14(b)(1)(ii) provides states and authorized tribes with different options to specify the highest attainable condition depending on whether the WQS variance applies to a specific discharger(s) or to a water body or waterbody segment. For a discharger(s)-specific WQS variance, the rule allows states and authorized tribes to express the highest attainable condition as an interim criterion without specifying the designated use it supports. EPA received comments suggesting that identifying both an interim use and interim criterion for a WQS variance is unnecessary. EPA agrees that the level of protection afforded by meeting the highest attainable criterion in the immediate area of the discharge(s) results in the highest attainable interim use at that location. Therefore, the highest attainable interim criterion is a reasonable surrogate for both the highest attainable interim use and interim criterion when the WQS variance applies to a specific discharger(s). For similar reasons, as explained in the preamble to the proposed rule, states and authorized tribes may choose to articulate the highest attainable condition as the highest attainable interim effuent condition.[FN51] Neither of these options, however, is appropriate for a WQS variance applicable to a water body or waterbody segment. Such a WQS variance impacts the water body or waterbody segment in a manner that is similar to a change in a designated use and, therefore, must explicitly articulate the highest attainable condition as the highest attainable interim designated use and interim criterion. A state's or authorized tribe's assessment of the highest attainable interim designated use and interim criterion for this type of WQS variance necessarily involves an evaluation of all pollutant sources.

Where the state or authorized tribe cannot identify an additional feasible pollutant control technology, this rule provides options for articulating the highest attainable condition using the greatest pollutant reduction achievable with optimization of currently installed pollutant control technologies and adoption and implementation of a Pollutant Minimization Program (PMP). The rule makes this option available for a WQS variance that applies to a specific discharger(s) as well as a WQS variance applicable to a water body or waterbody segment. EPA defines PMP at § 131.3(p) as follows: "Pollutant Minimization Program, in the context of § 131.14, is a structured set of activities to improve processes and pollutant controls that will prevent and reduce pollutant loadings . . . ." Pollutant control technologies represent a broad set of pollutant reduction options, such as process or raw materials changes and pollution prevention technologies, practices that reduce pollutants prior to entering the wastewater treatment system, or best management practices for restoration and mitigation of the water body. This option requires states and authorized tribes to adopt the PMP along with other elements that comprise the highest attainable condition. As part of the applicable WQS, the permitting authority must use the PMP (along with the quantifiable expression of the "greatest pollutant reduction achievable") to derive NPDES permit limits and requirements.

As discussed later in this section, states and authorized tribes must reevaluate WQS variances on a regular and predictable schedule. To ensure that a WQS variance reflects the highest attainable condition throughout the WQS variance term, states and authorized tribes must adopt a provision specifying that the applicable interim WQS shall be either the highest attainable condition initially adopted, or a higher attainable condition later identified during any reevaluation. The rule requires such a provision only for WQS variances longer than five years. This provision must be self-implementing so that if any reevaluation yields a more stringent attainable condition, that condition becomes the applicable interim WQS without additional action. Upon permit reissuance, the permitting authority will base the WQBEL on the more stringent interim WQS consistent with the NPDES permit regulation at § 122.44(d)(vii)(A). Where the reevaluation identifies a condition less stringent than the highest attainable condition, the state or authorized tribe must revise the WQS variance

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

consistent with CWA requirements and obtain EPA approval of the WQS variance before the permitting authority can derive a WQBEL based on that newly identified highest attainable condition.

Third, to ensure EPA has sufficient information to determine whether the WQS variance is consistent with EPA's WQS regulation, states and authorized tribes must provide documentation to justify why the WOS variance is needed, the term for the WQS variance, and the highest attainable condition. For a WQS variance to a designated use specified in CWA section 101(a)(2) and sub-categories of such uses, states and authorized tribes must demonstrate that the use and criterion are not feasible to attain on the basis of one of the factors listed in § 131.10(g) or on the basis of the new restoration-related factor in § 131.14(b)(2)(i)(A)(2). EPA added this new factor for when states and authorized tribes wish to obtain a WQS variance because they expect a time-limited exceedance of a criterion when removing a dam or during significant wetlands, lake, or stream reconfiguration/restoration efforts. EPA includes "lake" in the regulatory language for this factor, on the basis of public comments suggesting that the rule also apply to lake restoration activities. States and authorized tribes may only use this factor to justify the time necessary to remove the dam or the length of time in which wetland, lake, or stream restoration activities are actively on-going. Although such a WQS \*51038 variance might not directly impact an NPDES permittee or the holder of a federal license or permit, states and authorized tribes could rely on the WQS variance when deciding whether to issue a CWA section 401 certification in connection with an application for a federal license or permit. The central feature of CWA section 401 is the state or authorized tribe's ability to grant, grant with conditions, deny or waive certification for federally licensed or permitted activities that may discharge into navigable waters. Many states and authorized tribes rely on CWA section 401 certification to ensure that federal projects do not cause adverse water quality impacts. By adopting a WQS variance, the state or authorized tribe lays the groundwork for issuing a certification (possibly with conditions, as per CWA section 401(d)) that allows a federal license or permit to be issued. Without a WQS variance, the state or authorized tribe's only options might be to deny certification which prevents issuance of the federal license or permit, or waive certification and allow the license or permit to be issued without conditions. If a state or authorized tribe issues a CWA certification based on a WQS variance, EPA recommends that the state or tribe consider whether to include the applicable interim requirements from the WQS variance as conditions of its certification.

For WQS variances to non-101(a)(2) uses, this rule specifies that states and authorized tribes must document and submit a use and value demonstration consistent with § 131.10(a) (see section 11.B for additional discussion on use and value demonstrations). EPA's proposed rule would have required that a "[s]tate must submit a demonstration justifying the need for a WQS variance" and the preamble to the proposed rule noted that the demonstrations for uses specified in CWA section 101(a)(2) and non-101(a)(2) may differ. EPA received comments questioning the requirements for WQS variances to non-101(a)(2) uses and this rule explicitly makes clear that the documentation requirement for removing or adopting new or revised designated uses in §§ 131.10(a) and 131.6 also applies to non-101(a)(2) WQS variances. States and authorized tribes may also use the factors at § 131.14(b)(2)(i)(A) to justify how their consideration of the use and value appropriately supports the WQS variance.

States and authorized tribes must justify the term of any WQS variance on the basis of the information and factors evaluated to justify the need for the WQS variance. States and authorized tribes must also describe the pollutant control activities, including those identified through a PMP, that the state or authorized tribe anticipates implementing throughout the WQS variance term to achieve the highest attainable condition. During its review of the WQS variance, EPA will evaluate this description of activities which must reflect only the time needed to plan activities, implement activities, or evaluate the outcome of activities. Explicitly requiring the state or authorized tribe to document the relationship between the pollutant control activities and the WQS variance term ensures that the term is only as long as necessary to achieve the highest attainable condition and that water quality progress is achieved throughout the entire WQS variance term. The pollutant control activities specified in the supporting documentation serve as milestones for the WQS variance and inform the permitting authority when developing the enforceable terms and conditions of the NPDES permit necessary to implement the WQS variance, as required at 40 CFR 122.44(d)(1).

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

The degree of certainty associated with pollutant control activities and pollutant reductions will inform EPA's review and evaluation of whether the state's or authorized tribe's submission sufficiently justifies the need and the term of WQS variances. There can be instances where a state or authorized tribe has information to determine that the underlying designated use and criterion cannot be attained for a particular period of time, but does not have sufficient information to identify the highest attainable condition that would be achieved in that same period of time. In such cases, EPA anticipates that a state or authorized tribe will adopt a shorter WQS variance reflecting the highest attainable condition that is supported by the available information, including the pollutant control activities identified in the WQS submission. States and authorized tribes could then determine the appropriate mechanism to continue making progress towards the underlying designated use and criterion, which may include adoption of subsequent WQS variances as more data are gathered and additional pollutant control activities are identified.

This rule also includes two additional requirements to ensure states and authorized tribes use all relevant information to establish a WQS variance for a water body or waterbody segment. States and authorized tribes must identify and document cost-effective and reasonable BMPs for nonpoint sources, and provide for public notice and comment on that documentation. States and authorized tribes must also document whether and to what extent BMPs were implemented and the water quality progress achieved during the WQS variance term to justify a subsequent WQS variance. Nonpoint sources can have a significant bearing on whether the designated use and associated criteria for the water body are attainable. It is essential for states and authorized tribes to consider how controlling these sources through application of cost-effective and reasonable BMPs could impact water quality before adopting such a WQS variance. Doing so informs the highest attainable condition, the duration of the WQS variance term, and the state's or authorized tribe's assessment of the interim actions that may be needed to make water quality progress.

Fourth, to ensure that states and authorized tribes thoroughly reevaluate each WQS variance with a term longer than five years, this rule requires states and authorized tribes to specify, in the WQS variance, the reevaluation frequency and how they plan to obtain public input on the reevaluation. Additionally, they must submit the results of the reevaluation to EPA within 30 days of completion. States and authorized tribes may specify the frequency of reevaluations to coincide with other state and authorized tribal processes (e.g., WQS triennial reviews or NPDES permit reissuance), as long as reevaluations occur at least every five years. Although EPA does not review and approve or disapprove the results of a WQS variance reevaluation, the results could inform whether the Administrator exercises his or her discretion to determine that new or revised WQS are necessary. The rule also requires states and authorized tribes to adopt a provision specifying that the WQS variance will no longer be the applicable WQS for CWA purposes if they do not conduct the required reevaluation or do not submit the results of the reevaluation within 30 days of completion. If a state or authorized tribe does not reevaluate the WQS variance or does not submit the results to EPA within 30 days, the underlying designated use and criterion become the applicable WQS for the permittee(s) or water body specified in the WQS variance without EPA, states or authorized tribes taking an additional WQS action. In such cases, subsequent NPDES WQBELs for the associated permit must be based on the underlying designated use and criterion rather than the highest attainable condition, even if the originally specified variance term has not expired. As discussed earlier in \*51039 this section, states and authorized tribes must also adopt a provision that ensures the WQS variance reflects the highest attainable condition initially adopted or any more stringent highest attainable condition identified during a reevaluation that is applicable throughout the WQS variance term.

EPA proposed a maximum allowable WQS variance term of 10 years to ensure that states and authorized tribes reevaluate long-term WQS challenges at least every 10 years before deciding whether to continue with a WQS variance. EPA explained in the preamble to the proposed rule that the purpose of this maximum WQS variance term was as follows: "Establishing an expiration date will ensure that the conditions of a [WQS] variance will be thoroughly reevaluated and subject to a public review on a regular and predictable basis to determine (1) whether conditions have changed such that the designated use and criterion are now attainable; (2) whether new or additional information has become available to indicate that the designated use and criterion are not attainable in the future (i.e., data or information supports a

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

use change/refinement); or (3) whether feasible progress is being made toward the designated use and criterion and that additional time is needed to make further progress (i.e., whether a [WQS] variance may be renewed)." [FN52]

Some commenters suggested that 10 years is too long and does not provide adequate assurance that the state or authorized tribe will periodically reevaluate a WQS variance in a publicly transparent manner. Other commenters suggested that 10 years is too short because states often adopt WQS variances through conventional rulemaking processes and that such a maximum term would result in unnecessary rulemaking burden where it is widely understood that long-term pollution challenges require more time to resolve. A 10-year maximum could also discourage the use of WQS variances.

In response, EPA concludes that establishing specific reevaluation requirements for WQS variances longer than five years is the best way to achieve EPA's policy objective of active, thorough, and transparent reevaluation by states and authorized tribes while minimizing rulemaking burden. The reevaluation requirements in this rule eliminate the need to specify a maximum WQS variance term because they ensure the highest attainable condition is always the applicable WQS throughout the WQS variance term, thus driving incremental improvements toward the underlying designated use. These requirements also ensure the public has an opportunity to provide input throughout the WQS variance term. EPA chose five years as the maximum interval between reevaluations because five years is the length of a single NPDES permit cycle, allowing the reevaluation to inform the permit reissuance process. Although this rule does not specify a maximum WQS variance term, states and authorized tribes must still identify the WQS variance term and provide documentation demonstrating that the term is only as long as necessary to achieve the highest attainable condition. EPA will use this information to determine whether to approve or disapprove the WQS variance submitted for review, based on the requirements in § 131.14.

WQS variances remain subject to the triennial review and public participation requirements specified in § 131.20. The final rule requirements ensure that the public has the opportunity to work with states and authorized tribes in a predictable and timely manner to search for new or updated data and information specific to the WQS variance that could indicate a more stringent highest attainable condition exists than the state or authorized tribe originally adopted. "New or updated data and information" include, but are not limited to, new information on pollutant control technologies, changes in pollutant sources, flow or water levels, economic conditions, and BMPs that impact the highest attainable condition. Where there is an EPA-approved WQS variance, the permitting authority must refer to the reevaluation results when reissuing NPDES permits to ensure the permit implements any more stringent applicable WQS that the reevaluation provides. States and authorized tribes can facilitate this coordination by publishing and making accessible the results of reevaluations.

While this rule only requires reevaluations of WQS variances with a term longer than five years, states and authorized tribes must review all WQS variances during their triennial review. If a state or authorized tribe synchronizes a WQS variance reevaluation with permit reissuance, the reevaluation must occur on schedule even if there is a delay in the permit reissuance.

EPA previously promulgated specific variance procedures when EPA established federal WQS for Kansas (§ 131.34(c)) and Puerto Rico (§ 131.40(c)). To provide national consistency, this rule authorizes the Regional Administrator to grant WQS variances in Kansas and Puerto Rico in accordance with the provisions of § 131.14.

#### What did EPA consider?

In addition to considering the option EPA proposed, EPA considered options that provide a maximum WQS variance term more than or less than 10 years. EPA rejected these options because retaining a maximum term of any duration does not accomplish EPA's goal of a balanced approach that ensures both flexibility and accountability as effectively as requiring periodic reevaluations of the WQS variance. Additionally, on the basis of commenters' suggestions, EPA considered requiring identification and documentation of cost-effective and reasonable BMPs for nonpoint sources for

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

all WQS variances and not just for WQS variances applicable to a water body or waterbody segment. To achieve EPA's policy objectives, EPA chose instead to add a requirement for all WQS variances that states and authorized tribes describe the pollutant control activities to achieve the highest attainable condition (see § 131.14(b)(2)(ii)).

#### What is EPA's position on certain public comments?

EPA received comments that suggested confusion between WQS variances and NPDES permit compliance schedules. WQS variances can be appropriate to address situations where it is known that the designated use and criterion are unattainable today, but progress could be made toward attaining the designated use and criterion. Typically, a permit authority grants a permit compliance schedule when the permittee needs additional time to modify or upgrade treatment facilities in order to meet its WQBEL based on the applicable WQS (i.e., designated use and criterion). After the effective date of this rule, a permit authority could also grant a permit compliance schedule when the permittee needs additional time to meet its WQBEL based on the applicable WQS variance (i.e., highest attainable condition) such that a schedule and resulting milestones will lead to compliance with the effluent limits derived from the WQS variance "as soon as possible." If a WQS variance is about to expire and a state or authorized tribe concludes the underlying designated use is now attainable, it is not appropriate for the state or authorized tribe to adopt a subsequent "51040 WQS variance. However, if a permittee is unable to immediately meet a WQBEL consistent with the now attainable WQS, and the permitting authority can specify an enforceable sequence of actions that would result in achieving the WQBEL, the permitting authority could grant a permit compliance schedule consistent with § 122.47. If the underlying designated use is still not attainable, the state or authorized tribe can adopt a subsequent WQS variance.

EPA also received comments questioning how a WQS variance works with a TMDL and CWA section 303(d) impaired waters listing(s). These comments suggested the proposed rule creates a conflict in how the NPDES permitting regulation requires permitting authorities to develop WQBELs. Section 122.44(d)(1)(vii)(A) specifies that all WQBELs in an NPDES permit must derive from and comply with all applicable WQS. Section 122.44(d)(1)(vii)(B) specifies that the WQBEL of any NPDES permit must be consistent with the assumptions and requirements of any available (emphasis added) waste load allocation (WLA) in an EPA-approved or EPA-established TMDL. Because the WLA of the TMDL is based on the underlying designated use and criterion (and not the highest attainable condition established in the WQS variance), then the WLA in the TMDL is not available to the permittee covered by the WQS variance for NPDES permitting purposes while the WQS variance is in effect. The permitting authority must develop WQBELs for the permittees subject to the WQS variance based on the interim requirements specified in the WQS variance. Upon termination of the WQS variance, the NPDES permit must again derive from and comply with the underlying designated use and criterion and be consistent with the assumptions and requirements of the WLA (as it is again "available").

Some commenters questioned what would happen if a state or authorized tribe does not coordinate a WQS variance term with the expiration date of an NPDES permit. If information is available to the permitting authority indicating that the term of a WQS variance will end during the permit cycle, the permitting authority must develop two WQBELs: one WQBEL based on the highest attainable condition applicable throughout the WQS variance term, and another WQBEL based on the underlying designated use and criterion to apply after the WQS variance terminates. Including two sets of WQBELs that apply at different time periods in the permit ensures that the permit will derive from and comply with WQS throughout the permit cycle. If the state or authorized tribe adopts and EPA approves a subsequent WQS variance during the permit term to replace an expiring WQS variance, the new WQS variance would constitute "new regulations" pursuant to § 122.62(a)(3)(i), and the permitting authority could modify the permit to derive from and comply with the subsequent WQS variance. At the request of the permittee, the permitting authority can also utilize the Permit Actions condition specified in § 122.41(f) to modify a permit and revise the WQBEL to reflect the new WQS variance.

Some commenters questioned whether states and authorized tribes must modify WQS variances that states and authorized tribes adopted before the effective date of the final rule. States and authorized tribes must meet the requirements of this rule on the effective date of the final rule. As with any WQS effective for CWA purposes, WQS variances are subject to the triennial review requirements at § 131.20(a). When a state or authorized tribe reviews a WQS

# Electronic Filing: Received, Clerk's Office 8/9/2017 \* \* R2018-018 \* \* Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

variance that was adopted before § 131.14 becomes effective, EPA strongly encourages the state or authorized tribe to ensure the WQS variance is consistent with this rule. EPA encourages the public to engage in triennial reviews and request revisions to WQS variances that states and authorized tribes adopted and EPA approved prior to the effective date of the final rule so that the public can provide information supporting the need to modify the WQS variances. Some states and authorized tribes may also have adopted binding WQS variance policies and/or procedures. Such policies and procedures are not required by EPA's regulation before utilizing WQS variances, however, where state and authorized tribes have them and they are inconsistent with this rule, those states and authorized tribes must revise such policies and/or procedures prior to, or simultaneously with, adopting the first WQS variance after the effective date of the final rule.

A state or authorized tribe may be able to streamline its WQS variance process in several ways. As discussed earlier in this section, one way is to adopt multiple discharger WQS variances. In justifying the need for a multiple discharger WQS variance, states and authorized tribes should account for as much individual permittee information as possible. A permittee that cannot qualify for an individual WQS variance cannot qualify for a multiple discharger WQS variance. EPA recommends that states and authorized tribes provide a list of the dischargers covered under the WQS variance on their Web sites or other publicly available sources of state or authorized tribal information, particularly when using multiple discharger WQS variances.

A second way is to adopt an administrative procedure that fulfills the WQS submittal and review requirements and specifies that if the state or authorized tribe follows the procedure, the WQS variance is legally binding under state or tribal law. A state or authorized tribe could submit such an administrative procedure for a WQS variance, as a rule, to EPA for review and approval under § 131.13. Once approved, the state or authorized tribe can follow this administrative procedure and develop a final document for each WQS variance. Because the state or tribal law specifies this WQS variance document is legally binding, there is no need for the state or authorized tribe to do a separate rulemaking for each individual WQS variance. Rather, the state or authorized tribe could submit each resulting WQS variance document, with an Attorney General or appropriate tribal legal authority certification, and EPA could take action under CWA section 303(c).

Some commenters questioned how this rule affects states and authorized tribes under the 1995 Great Lakes Water Quality Guidance (GLWQG) [FN53] because those requirements are different than the WQS variance requirements in the final rule. For waters in the Great Lakes basin, states and authorized tribes must meet the requirements of both 40 CFR parts 131 and 132. The practical effect of this requirement is that, where regulations in 40 CFR parts 131 and 132 overlap, the more stringent regulation applies. In some cases, the flexibilities and requirements in the national rule will not be applicable to waters in the Great Lakes basin. For example, the GLWQG limits any WQS variance to a maximum term of five years (with the ability to obtain a subsequent WQS variance). Therefore, any WQS variance on waters that are subject to the GLWQG cannot exceed five years even though the final rule in 40 CFR part 131 does not specify a maximum term. On the other hand, because GLWQG WQS variances cannot exceed five years, the requirements in the final rule that pertain to conducting reevaluations (for WQS variances greater than five years) are not applicable.

\*51041 Finally, some commenters questioned the level of "scientific rigor" required for a WQS variance as compared to a UAA required for changes to 101(a)(2) uses. Section 40 CFR 131.5(a)(4) provides that EPA's review under section 303(c) involves a determination of whether the state's or authorized tribe's "standards which do not include the uses specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act are based upon appropriate technical and scientific data and analyses. . . . ." Because WQS variances are time-limited designated uses and criteria, this requirement applies to WQS variances. States and authorized tribes must adopt WQS variances based on appropriate technical and scientific data and analyses. Therefore, the level of rigor required for a WQS variance is no different than for a designated use change. That said, the appropriate technical and scientific data required to support a designated use change and WQS variance can vary depending on the complexity of the specific circumstances. EPA recognizes that the data and analyses often needed to support adoption of a WQS variance could be less complex and require less time and resources compared to removing a designated use because many WQS variances evaluate only one parameter for a single permittee for a limited period of

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

time. The level of effort a state or authorized tribe needs to devote to a WQS variance will in large part be determined by the complexity of the water quality problem the state or authorized tribe seeks to address.

#### F. Provisions Authorizing the Use of Schedules of Compliance for WQBELs in NPDES Permits

#### What does this rule provide and why?

In 1990, EPA concluded that before a permitting authority can include a compliance schedule for a WQBEL in an NPDES permit, the state or authorized tribe must affirmatively authorize its use in its WQS or implementing regulations. [FN54] EPA approval of the state's or authorized tribe's permit compliance schedule authorizing provision as a WQS ensures that any NPDES permit WQBEL with a compliance schedule derives from and complies with applicable WQS as required by § 122.44(d)(1)(vii)(A). Because the state's or authorized tribe's approved WQS authorize extended compliance, any delay in compliance with a WQBEL pursuant to an appropriately issued permit compliance schedule is consistent with the statutory implementation timetable in CWA section 301(b)(1)(C).

The use of legally-authorized permit compliance schedules by states and authorized tribes provides needed flexibility for many dischargers undergoing facility upgrades and operational changes designed to meet WQBELs in their NPDES permits. This flexibility will become increasingly important as states and authorized tribes adopt more stringent WQS, including numeric nutrient criteria, and address complex water quality problems presented by emerging challenges like climate change.

Some states have adopted compliance schedule authorizing provisions but have not submitted them to EPA for approval as WQS pursuant to CWA section 303(c). Other states have not yet adopted compliance schedule authorizing provisions. A permit could be subject to legal challenge where a state and authorized tribe decide to authorize permit flexibility using permit compliance schedules, but do not have a compliance schedule authorizing provision approved by EPA as a WQS.

Section 131.15 in this final rule requires that if a state or authorized tribe intends to authorize the use of compliance schedules for WQBELs in NPDES permits, it must first adopt a permit compliance schedule authorizing provision. The authorizing provision must be consistent with the CWA and is subject to EPA review and approval as a WQS. This rule adds § 131.5(a)(5) to explicitly specify that EPA has the authority to determine whether any provision authorizing the use of schedules of compliance for WQBELs in NPDES permits adopted by a state or authorized tribe is consistent with the requirements at § 131.15. This rule also includes a number of non-substantive editorial changes.

By expressly requiring that the state or authorized tribe adopt a permit compliance schedule authorizing provision, the first sentence of the final regulation at § 131.15 ensures that the state or authorized tribe has expressly made a determination that, under appropriate circumstances, it can be lawful to delay permit compliance. Formal adoption as a legally binding provision ensures public transparency and facilitates public involvement.

Some commenters expressed concern that the proposed regulatory language regarding state and authorized tribal adoption could be interpreted to refer to permit compliance schedules themselves, rather than their authorizing provisions. To address that concern, the final rule refers to "the use of" schedules of compliance. The phrase "the use of" indicates that the mere adoption of an authorizing provision, by itself, does not extend the date of compliance with respect to any specific permit's WQBEL; rather, its adoption allows the state or authorized tribe to use schedules of compliance, as appropriate, on a case-by-case basis in individual permits.

The second sentence of the final regulation at § 131.15 provides that states' and authorized tribes' authorizing provisions must be consistent with the CWA and are WQS subject to EPA review and approval. By incorporating the authorizing provision into the state's or authorized tribe's approved WQS, the state or authorized tribe ensures that a permitting authority can then legally issue compliance schedules for WQBELs in NPDES permits that are consistent with CWA section 301(b)(1)(C). Only the permit compliance schedule authorizing provisions are WQS subject to EPA approval:

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

individual permit compliance schedules are not. The final rule provides flexibility for a state or authorized tribe to include the authorizing provision in the part of state or tribal regulations where WQS are typically codified, in the part of state or tribal regulations dealing with NPDES permits, or in other parts of the state's or authorized tribe's implementing regulations. Regardless of where the authorizing provision is codified, as long as the provision is legally binding, EPA will take action on it under CWA section 303(c). If a state or authorized tribe has already adopted an authorizing provision that is consistent with the CWA, it need not readopt the provision for purposes of satisfying the final rule. Instead, the state or authorized tribe can submit the provision to EPA with an Attorney General or appropriate tribal legal authority certification. Moreover, consistent with § 131.21(c), any permit compliance schedule authorizing provision that was adopted, effective, and submitted to EPA before May 30, 2000, is applicable for purposes of § 131.15.

This final rule does not change any permit compliance schedule requirements at § 122.47.

Other judicial and administrative mechanisms issued pursuant to other authorities, such as an enforcement order issued by a court, can delay the need for compliance with WQBELs. This rule does not address those other mechanisms.

#### What did EPA consider?

EPA considered finalizing § 131.15, as proposed. Given the comments \*51042 indicating that ambiguity in the proposed language could lead to confusion over whether the requirements to adopt and submit for EPA approval applied directly to permit compliance schedules themselves. EPA did not select this option. Instead, EPA added clarifying language to address the commenters' concern and streamlined the text of the proposed rule without making substantive changes. EPA also considered foregoing the addition of § 131.15. Many commenters, however, supported adding § 131.15 as a useful clarification of the need and process for states and authorized tribes to adopt compliance schedule authorizing provisions.

#### What is EPA's position on certain public comments?

Some commenters said that the following proposed regulatory language - "authorize schedules of compliance for water quality-based effluent limits (WQBELs) in NPDES permits"-could have the effect of narrowing the universe of NPDES permits and permit requirements for which permitting authorities can include permit compliance schedules. The regulation does not narrow that universe, nor does it preclude other appropriate uses of permit compliance schedules as provided for in § 122.47. The new § 131.15 requirements only apply to the authorization of compliance schedules for WQBELs in NPDES permits. Such WQBELs are designed to meet WQS established by the state or authorized tribe and approved by EPA under CWA section 303(c).[FN55] Adding this new provision to the WQS regulation will ensure that the state or authorized tribe takes the necessary steps to ensure that any NPDES permit with a permit compliance schedule for a WQBEL is consistent with the state's or authorized tribe's applicable WQS. The requirement in § 131.15 does not preclude, or apply to, use of compliance schedules for permit limitations or conditions that are not WQBELs. A permitting authority can grant a permit compliance schedule for non-WQBEL NPDES permit limits or conditions without an EPA-approved authorizing provision, provided the permit compliance schedule is consistent with the CWA, EPA's permitting regulation, especially \$\\ 122.2 and 122.47, and any applicable state or tribal laws and regulations. Permitting authorities can include such permit compliance schedules without an EPA-approved permit compliance schedule authorizing provision because such limits and conditions are not themselves designed to implement the state's or authorized tribe's approved WQS.

#### G. Other Changes

#### What does this rule provide and why?

Regulatory provisions can only be effective if they are clear and accurate. Even spelling and grammar mistakes, and inconsistent terminology can cause confusion. This rule, therefore, corrects these types of mistakes and inconsistencies

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

in the following 11 regulatory provisions: §§ 131.2, 131.3(h), 131.3(j), 131.5(a)(1), 131.5(a)(2), 131.10(j), 131.10(j)(2), 131.11(a)(2), 131.11(b), 131.12(a)(2), and 131.20(b). The rule finalizes eight of the provisions, as proposed. However, based on public comments, EPA revised how it is correcting §§ 131.5(a)(2), 131.12(a)(2), and 131.20(b). EPA notes that in correcting these minor pre-existing errors, it did not re-examine the substance of these regulatory provisions. Thus EPA did not reopen these regulatory provisions.

With regard to the revision at § 131.5(a)(2), the final rule adds a reference to § 131.11 and "sound scientific rationale" to make the link clear. Commenters expressed concern that "sound scientific rationale" was an ambiguous and subjective point of reference and may interfere with the ability of states and authorized tribes to use narrative criteria. By linking the two regulatory sections, this rule makes clear that this provision does not contradict the requirements and flexibilities provided in § 131.11.

This rule at § 131.12(a)(2) correctly cites to the CWA language and makes no other changes. EPA proposed revising "assure" to "ensure," however, the final rule does not include this change. Commenters raised the question of whether the revision changed the meaning of the provision. Although both "assure" and "ensure" mean "to make sure," EPA recognizes that the context surrounding the word is important. While "ensure" is used in § 131.10(b), in this context, the states and authorized tribes can "make sure" their WQS meet the regulatory requirements. However, § 131.12(a)(2). addresses water quality, not WQS. While states and authorized tribes have control over their WQS, they do not have the same control over the resulting water quality as it can be affected by many other factors. So use of the word "ensure" would not be appropriate in this provision.

This rule clarifies four points related to public hearings. First, it clarifies that 40 CFR part 25 is EPA's public participation regulation that sets the minimum requirements for public hearings and removes the nonexistent citation to "EPA's water quality management regulation (40 CFR 130.3(b)(6))." Second, it clarifies that holding one public hearing may satisfy the legal CWA requirement although states and authorized tribes may hold multiple hearings. The purpose of this revision is to provide consistency with the language of CWA section 303(c)(1) and § 131.20(a), not to create a requirement that states and authorized tribes must hold multiple hearings when reviewing or revising WQS. Third, EPA's corresponding change in § 131.5(a)(6) clarifies that EPA's authority in acting on revised or new WQS includes determining whether the state or authorized tribe has followed the "applicable" legal procedures. Applicable legal procedures include those required by the CWA and EPA's implementing regulations. In particular, states and authorized tribes must comply with the requirement in § 131.20(b) to hold a public hearing in accordance with 40 CFR part 25 when reviewing or revising WQS. The purpose of the § 131.20(b) requirements is to implement the CWA and provide an opportunity for meaningful public input when states or authorized tribes develop WQS, which is an important step to ensure that adopted WQS reflect full consideration of the relevant issues raised by the public. Finally, § 131.20(b) and EPA's corresponding deletion of § 131.10(e) clarify that a public hearing is required when (1) reviewing WQS per § 131.20(a); (2) when revising WQS as a result of reviewing WQS per § 131.20(a); and (3) whenever revising WQS, regardless of whether the revision is a result of triennial review per § 131.20(a). EPA reviewed the use of the phrase "an opportunity for a public hearing" used in § 131,10(e) and found that such language contradicts the CWA and § 131,20(b). Therefore, EPA is deleting this provision as a conforming edit to its clarifications in § 131.20(b). As suggested by commenters, EPA replaced its proposed language of "reviewing or revising" to "reviewing as well as when revising" to make clear that public participation is required in all of these circumstances.

#### What is EPA's position on certain public comments?

A commenter requested that EPA further revise the regulation to allow states and authorized tribes to gather public input in formats other than public hearings (e.g., public meetings, webinars). Although EPA acknowledges \*51043 the challenges that states and authorized tribes may experience when planning and conducting a public hearing, the requirement to hold hearings for the purposes of reviewing, and as appropriate, modifying and adopting WQS comes directly from CWA section 303(c)(1). Further, meaningful involvement of the public and intergovernmental coordination with local, state, federal, and tribal entities with an interest in water quality issues is an important component of the WQS

# Electronic Filing: Received, Clerk's Office 8/9/2017 \* \* R2018-018 \* \* Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

process. States and authorized tribes have discretion to use other outreach efforts in addition to fulfilling the requirement for a public hearing.

A "public hearing" may mean different things to different people. At a minimum, per § 131,20(b), states and authorized tribes are required to follow the provisions of state or tribal law and EPA's public participation regulations at 40 CFR part 25. EPA's public participation regulation, at 40 CFR 25.5, sets minimum requirements for states and authorized tribes to publicize a hearing at least 45 days prior to the date of the hearing; provide to the public reports, documents, and data relevant to the discussion at the public hearing at least 30 days before the hearing; hold the hearing at times and places that facilitate attendance by the public; schedule witnesses in advance to allow maximum participation and adequate time; and prepare a transcript, recording, or other complete record of the hearing proceedings. See 40 CFR 25.5 for the actual list of federal public hearing requirements. State and tribal law may include additional requirements for states and authorized tribes to meet when planning for and conducting a hearing. In addition to meeting the requirements of state and tribal law and 40 CFR part 25, states and authorized tribes may also choose to gather public input using other formats, such as public meetings and webinars.

#### III. Economic Impacts on State and Authorized Tribal WQS Programs

EPA evaluated the potential incremental administrative burden and cost that may be associated with the final rule, beyond the burden and cost of the WQS regulation already in place. EPA's estimate is higher than the estimate of the proposed rule for two reasons unrelated to any substantive change in requirements. First, EPA obtained more precise estimates of burden and costs. EPA received many comments suggesting that EPA underestimated the burden and cost of the proposed rule. States specifically requested to meet with EPA to provide additional information for EPA to consider. EPA engaged the states and incorporated the information provided into the final economic analysis. The higher estimate is also partly due to EPA using known data to extrapolate burden and costs to states, territories and authorized tribes where data were unavailable. EPA describes the method of extrapolation in detail in the full economic analysis available in the docket of the final rule. EPA's economic analysis focuses on the potential administrative burden and cost to all 50 states, the District of Columbia, five territories, the 40 authorized tribes with EPA-approved WQS, and to EPA. While this rule does not establish any requirements directly applicable to regulated point sources or nonpoint sources of pollution, EPA acknowledges that this rule may result in indirect costs to some regulated entities as a result of changes to WQS that states and authorized tribes adopt based on the final rule. EPA is unable to quantify indirect costs and benefits since it cannot anticipate precisely how the rule will be implemented by states and authorized tribes and because of a lack of data. States and authorized tribes always have the discretion to adopt new or revised WQS independent of this final rule that could result in costs to point sources and nonpoint sources. EPA's economic analysis and an explanation for how EPA derived the cost and burden estimates are documented in the Economic Analysis for the Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions (Final Rule) and can be found in the docket for this rule.

EPA assessed the potential incremental burden and cost of this final rule using the same basic methodology used to assess the potential incremental burden and cost of EPA's proposed rule, including: (1) Identifying the elements of the final rule that could potentially result in incremental burden and cost; (2) estimating the incremental number of labor hours states and authorized tribes may need to allocate in order to comply with those elements of the final rule; and (3) estimating the cost associated with those additional labor hours.

EPA identified four areas where differences between the proposed and final rules affected burden and cost estimates. First, when states and authorized tribes submit the results of triennial reviews to EPA, they must provide an explanation when not adopting new or revised water quality criteria for parameters for which EPA has published new or updated CWA section 304(a) criteria recommendations. Second, when developing or revising antidegradation implementation methods and when deciding which waters would receive Tier 2 antidegradation protection under a water body-by-water body approach, states and authorized tribes must provide an opportunity for public involvement. States and authorized tribes must also document and keep in the public record the factors they considered when making those decisions. Third, the final rule no longer includes a maximum WQS variance duration of 10 years and thus eliminates the burden and

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

cost associated with renewing a WQS variance when the state or authorized tribe can justify a longer term. Fourth, the final rule requires states and authorized tribes to proactively reevaluate WQS variances that have a term longer than five years no less frequently than every five years and to submit the results of each reevaluation to EPA within 30 days of completion. EPA also revised certain economic assumptions based on additional information obtained independently by EPA and in response to stakeholder feedback.

The potential incremental burden and cost of the final rule include five categories: (1) One-time burden and cost associated with state and authorized tribal rulemaking activities when some states and authorized tribes may need to adopt new or revised provisions into their WQS (e.g., review currently adopted water quality standards to determine if the new requirements necessitate revisions, such as modifying antidegradation policy, revising WQS variance procedures if the state or authorized tribe has chosen to adopt such a procedure, or adopting a permit compliance schedule authorizing provision); (2) recurring burden and cost associated with removing uses specified in CWA section 101(a)(2) because states and authorized tribes must identify the HAU; (3) recurring burden and cost associated with triennial reviews whereby states and authorized tribes must prepare and submit an explanation when not adopting new or revised water quality criteria for parameters for which EPA has published new or updated CWA section 304(a) criteria recommendations; (4) recurring burden and cost associated with antidegradation requirements, including providing the opportunity for public involvement when developing and subsequently revising antidegradation implementation methods; providing the opportunity for public involvement when deciding which waters will receive Tier 2 antidegradation protection when using a water body-by-water body approach; documenting and \*51044 keeping in the public record the factors the state or authorized tribe considered when deciding which waters will receive Tier 2 antidegradation protection; and performing/ evaluating more extensive and a greater number of antidegradation reviews; and (5) recurring burden and cost associated with developing and documenting WQS variances for submission to EPA, and reevaluating WQS variances with a term longer than five years no less frequently than every five years. EPA did not estimate potential cost savings associated with a provision in the final rule that a UAA is not required when removing a non-101(a)(2) use because states and authorized tribes continue to have the discretion to conduct a UAA when removing such uses.

Estimates of the potential incremental burden and cost of this final rule are summarized in the following tables.

	Summary	of Potential Increment	al Burden and Cost to Stat	es and Authorized Tribes		
Provision	One-time activities			Recurring activities		
	Burden	Cost	Annualized cost	Burden	Cost	
	(hours)					
		(2013S millions	0			
		S(2013S millions/y	car)			
				(hours/year)		
					(2013S millions/year)	
Rulemaking Activities	48,000-96,000	\$2.35-\$4.70	\$0 (6-\$0.32		-	
Designated Uses	-			2,250-4,500	50.11-50.22	
Triennial Reviews				4,320-21,600	0.21-1.06	
Antidegradation	6,450-12,900	0.32-0.63	0.02.0.04	48,015-143,400	2.37-7.02	

# Electronic Filing: Received, Clerk's Office 8/9/2017 \* \* R2018-018 \* \* Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

WQS Variances	-		-	51,840-233,280	2.54-11	1.43		
National Total	54,450-108,900	2.67-5.34	0.18-0.36	106,425-402,78	5.24-19	9.73		
		Summary of Potential I	ncremental Burden and	Cost to EPA				
	One-time activit	les	Recu					
Cost to the agency	Annualized cost I to the agency		Cost to the agency		Burden			
(2013S million) <sup>2</sup>								
	(2013S million per ye	eur) <sup>k</sup>						
		Hours 4	FTE	s*	Hours per year 4	FTEs per year		
	(2013S million per year) <sup>h</sup>							
50 53-\$1.07	\$0.04-\$0.07	7,080-14,150	3 4-6 8 \$1.05-\$3.5	15	13,900-52,320	6.7.25.2		
	Combined Summary	of Potential Increment	al Burden and Cost to S	tutes, Authorized T	ribes, and EPA			
Entitles	One-time activiti		s Recurring		activities			
	Burden	Cost	Annualized cost	Bure	len	Cost		
	(hours)							
		(2013S millions)						
		S(2013S million/yea	r) <sup>1</sup>					
					year)			
					(20	13S millions/year)		
States and Authorized	54,450-108,900	\$2.67-\$5.34	\$0,18-\$0,36	106,425-402,78	55,24-5	\$5,24-\$19.73		
Tribes								
	7,080-14,150	0.53-1.07	0.04-0.07	13,900-52,320	1 05-3	95		

To estimate the total annual cost of this rule which includes both one-time cost and recurring cost, EPA annualized the one-time cost over a period of 20 years. Using a 20-year annualization period and a discount rate of three percent, EPA estimates the total annual cost for this final rule to range from \$6.51 million per year (\$0.22 million per year + \$6.29 million per year) to \$24.11 million per year (\$0.43 million per year + \$23.68 million per year).[FN56]

\*51045 EPA also evaluated the potential benefits associated with this rule. States and authorized tribes will benefit from these revisions because the WQS regulation will provide clear requirements to facilitate the ability of states and

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

authorized tribes to effectively and legally utilize available regulatory tools when implementing and managing their WQS programs. Although associated with potential administrative burden and cost in some areas, this rule has the potential to partially offset these burdens by reducing regulatory uncertainty and increasing overall program efficiency. Use of these tools to improve establishment and implementation of state and authorized tribal WQS, as discussed throughout the preamble to this rule, provides incremental improvements in water quality and a variety of economic benefits associated with these improvements, including the availability of clean, safe, and affordable drinking water sources; water of adequate quality for agricultural and industrial use; and water quality that supports the commercial fishing industry and higher property values. Nonmarket benefits of this rule include greater recreational opportunities and the protection and improvement of public health. States, authorized tribes, stakeholders and the public will also benefit from the open public dialogue that results from the additional transparency and public participation requirements included in this rule. Because states and authorized tribes implement their own WQS programs, EPA could not reliably predict the control measures likely to be implemented and subsequent improvements to water quality, and thus could not quantify the resulting benefits.

#### IV. Statutory and Executive Order Reviews

Additional information about these statutes and Executive Orders can be found at http://www2.epa.gov/laws-regulations/laws-and-executive-orders.

## A. Executive Order 12866; Regulatory Planning and Review and Executive Order 13563; Improving Regulation and Regulatory Review

This action is a significant regulatory action that was submitted to the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) for review. Any changes made in response to OMB recommendations have been documented in the docket. EPA prepared an analysis of the potential costs and benefits associated with this action. This analysis, Economic Analysis for the Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions (Final Rule), is summarized in section III of the preamble and is available in the docket.

#### B. Paperwork Reduction Act (PRA)

The information collection activities in this rule have been submitted for approval to OMB under the PRA. The Information Collection Request (ICR) document that EPA prepared has been assigned EPA ICR number 2449.02. You can find a copy of the ICR in the docket for this rule, and it is briefly summarized here. The information collection requirements are not enforceable until OMB approves them.

The core of the WQS regulation, established in 1983, requires EPA to collect certain information from states and authorized tribes and has an approved ICR (EPA ICR number 988.11; OMB Control number 2040-0049). This rule requires states and authorized tribes to submit certain additional information to EPA. This mandatory information collection ensures EPA has the necessary information to review WQS and approve or disapprove consistent with the rule. The goals of the rule can only be fulfilled by collecting this additional information. Due to the nature of this rule, EPA assumes that all administrative burden associated with this rule, summarized in section III, is associated with information collection.

Respondents/affected entities: The respondents affected by this collection activity include the 50 states, the District of Columbia, five territories, and 40 authorized tribes that have EPA-approved WQS. The respondents are in NAICS code 92411 "Administration of Air and Water Resources and Solid Waste Management Programs," formerly SIC code 1B9511.

Respondent's obligation to respond: The collection is required pursuant to CWA section 303(c), as implemented by the revisions to 40 CFR part 131.

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

Estimated number of respondents: A total of 96 governmental entities are potentially affected by the rule.

Frequency of response: The CWA requires states and authorized tribes to review their WQS at least once every three years and submit the results to EPA. In practice, some states and authorized tribes choose to submit revised standards for portions of their waters more frequently.

Total estimated burden: EPA estimates a total annual burden of 124,575-439,080 hours and 3,176 to 5,096 responses per year. Burden is defined at 5 CFR 1320.3(b). A "response" is an action that a state or authorized tribe would need to take in order to meet the information collection request provided in the rule (e.g., documentation supporting a WQS variance). See also the "Information Collection Request for Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions (Final Rule)" in the docket for this rule.

Total estimated cost: Total estimated annual incremental costs range from \$6.13 million to \$21.51 million.

An agency may not conduct or sponsor, and a person is not required to respond to, a collection of information unless it displays a currently valid OMB control number. The OMB control numbers for EPA's regulations in 40 CFR are listed in 40 CFR part 9. When OMB approves this ICR, the Agency will announce the approval in the Federal Register and publish a technical amendment to 40 CFR part 9 to display the OMB control number for the approved information collection activities contained in this final rule.

#### C. Regulatory Flexibility Act (RFA)

I certify that this action will not have a significant economic impact on a substantial number of small entities under the RFA. State and authorized tribal governments responsible for administering or overseeing water quality programs may be directly affected by this rulemaking, as states and authorized tribes may need to consider and implement new provisions, or revise existing provisions, in their WQS. Small entities, such as small businesses or small governmental jurisdictions, are not directly regulated by this rule. This rule will not impose any requirements on small entities.

#### D. Unfunded Mandates Reform Act (UMRA)

This rule does not contain a federal mandate that may result in expenditures of \$100 million or more for state, local, and tribal governments, in the aggregate, or the private sector in any one year. EPA estimates total annual costs to states and authorized tribes to range from \$5.24 million to \$19.73 million per year. Thus, this rule is not subject to the requirements of sections 202 or 205 of UMRA.

This rule is also not subject to the requirements of section 203 of UMRA because it contains no regulatory requirements that might significantly or uniquely affect small governments.

#### E. Executive Order 13132; Federalism

This rule does not have federalism implications. It will not have substantial direct effects on the states, on the relationship between the national government and the states, or on the distribution of power and responsibilities among the various \*51046 levels of government. The rule finalizes regulatory revisions to provide clarity and transparency in the WQS regulation that may require state and local officials to reevaluate or revise their WQS. However, the rule will not impose substantial direct compliance costs on state or local governments, nor will it preempt state law. Thus, Executive Order 13132 does not apply to this action.

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

Keeping with the spirit of Executive Order 13132 and consistent with EPA's policy to promote communications between EPA and state and local governments, EPA consulted with state and local officials early in the process and solicited their comments on the proposed action and on the development of this rule.

Between September 2013 and June 2014, EPA consulted with representatives from states and intergovernmental associations at their request, to hear their views on the proposed regulatory revisions and how commenters' suggested revisions would impact implementation of their WQS programs, Some participants expressed concern that the proposed changes may impose a resource burden on state and local governments, as well as infringe on states' flexibility in the areas included in the proposed rule. Some participants urged EPA to ensure that states with satisfactory regulations in these areas are not unduly burdened by the regulatory revisions.

#### F. Executive Order 13175: Consultation and Coordination With Indian Tribal Governments

This action may have tribal implications. However, it will neither impose substantial direct compliance costs on tribal governments, nor preempt tribal law. Thus, Executive Order 13175 does not apply to this action. To date, 50 Indian tribes have been approved for treatment in a manner similar to a state (TAS) for CWA sections 303 and 401. Of the 50 tribes, 40 have EPA-approved WQS in their respective jurisdictions. All of these authorized tribes are impacted by this regulation. However, this rule might affect other tribes with waters adjacent to waters with federal, state, or authorized tribal WQS.

EPA consulted and coordinated with tribal officials consistent with EPA's Policy on Consultation and Coordination with Indian Tribes early in the process of developing this regulation to allow them to provide meaningful and timely input into its development. In August 2010, November 2013, and October 2014, EPA held tribes-only consultation and coordination sessions to hear their views and answer questions of all interested tribes on the targeted areas EPA considered for regulatory revision. Tribes expressed the need for additional guidance and assistance in implementing the proposed rulemaking, specifically for development of antidegradation implementation methods and determination of the highest attainable use. EPA considered the burden to states and authorized tribes in developing this rule and, when possible, has provided direction and flexibility that allows tribes to address higher priority aspects of their WQS programs. EPA also intends to release updated guidance in a new edition of the WQS Handbook. A summary of the consultation and coordination is available in the docket for this rule.

#### G. Executive Order 13045: Protection of Children From Environmental Health Risks and Safety Risks

This action is not subject to Executive Order 13045, because it is not economically significant as defined in Executive Order 12866, and because the EPA does not believe the environmental health risks or safety risks addressed by this action present a disproportionate risk to children

H. Executive Order 13211: Actions Concerning Regulations That Significantly Affect Energy Supply, Distribution, or Use This action is not a "significant energy action" because it is not likely to have a significant adverse effect on the supply, distribution, or use of energy.

#### 1. National Technology Transfer and Advancement Act

This rulemaking does not involve technical standards.

#### J. Executive Order 12898: Federal Actions To Address Environmental Justice in Minority Populations and Low-Income **Populations**

EPA has determined that this rule will not have disproportionately high and adverse human health or environmental effects on minority or low-income populations, because it does not adversely affect the level of protection provided to

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

human health or the environment. This rule does not directly establish WQS for a state or authorized tribe and, therefore, does not directly affect a specific population or a particular geographic area(s).

#### K. Congressional Review Act (CRA)

This action is subject to the CRA, and EPA will submit a rule report to each House of the Congress and to the Comptroller General of the United States. This action is not a "major rule" as defined by 5 U.S.C. 804(2).

#### List of Subjects in 40 CFR Part 131

Environmental protection, Indians—lands, Intergovernmental relations, Reporting and recordkeeping requirements, Water pollution control.

Dated: August 5, 2015.

Gina McCarthy,

Administrator.

For the reasons stated in the preamble, EPA amends 40 CFR part 131 as follows:

#### PART 131—WATER QUALITY STANDARDS

1. The authority citation for part 131 continues to read as follows:

Authority: 33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq.

#### Subpart A-General Provisions

40 CFR § 131.2

In § 131.2, revise the first sentence to read as follows:
 CFR § 131.2

#### § 131.2 Purpose.

A water quality standard defines the water quality goals of a water body, or portion thereof, by designating the use or uses to be made of the water and by setting criteria that protect the designated uses. \* \* \*

\*\*\*\*\*40 CFR § 131.3

3. In § 131.3:

a. Revise paragraphs (h) and (j).

b. Add paragraphs (m), (n), (o), (p), and (q).

The revisions and additions read as follows: 40 CFR § 131.3

§ 131.3 Definitions.

....

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

(h) Water quality limited segment means any segment where it is known that water quality does not meet applicable water quality standards, and/or is not expected to meet applicable water quality standards, even after the application of the technology-based effluent limitations required by sections 301(b) and 306 of the Act.

\*\*\*\*

(j) States include: The 50 States, the District of Columbia, Guam, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, Virgin Islands, American Samoa, the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands, and Indian Tribes that EPA determines to be eligible for purposes of the water quality standards program.

\*\*\*\*

- (m) Highest attainable use is the modified aquatic life, wildlife, or recreation use that is both closest to the uses specified in section 101(a)(2) of the \*51047 Act and attainable, based on the evaluation of the factor(s) in § 131.10(g) that preclude(s) attainment of the use and any other information or analyses that were used to evaluate attainability. There is no required highest attainable use where the State demonstrates the relevant use specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act and subcategories of such a use are not attainable.
- (n) Practicable, in the context of § 131.12(a)(2)(ii), means technologically possible, able to be put into practice, and economically viable.
- (o) A water quality standards variance (WQS variance) is a time-limited designated use and criterion for a specific pollutant(s) or water quality parameter(s) that reflect the highest attainable condition during the term of the WQS variance.
- (p) Pollutant Minimization Program, in the context of § 131.14, is a structured set of activities to improve processes and pollutant controls that will prevent and reduce pollutant loadings.
- (q) Non-101(a)(2) use is any use unrelated to the protection and propagation of fish, shellfish, wildlife or recreation in or on the water.

40 CFR \$ 131.5

4. In § 131.5:

- a. Revise paragraphs (a)(1) and (2).
- b. Redesignate paragraphs (a)(3) through (5) as paragraphs (a)(6) through (8).
- c. Add paragraphs (a)(3) through (5).
- d. Revise newly designated paragraph (a)(6).
- e. Revise paragraph (b).

The revisions and additions read as follows:

40 CFR § 131.5

§ 131.5 EPA authority.

(a) \* \* \*

- (1) Whether the State has adopted designated water uses that are consistent with the requirements of the Clean Water Act:
- (2) Whether the State has adopted criteria that protect the designated water uses based on sound scientific rationale consistent with § 131.11;

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

- (3) Whether the State has adopted an antidegradation policy that is consistent with § 131.12, and whether any State adopted antidegradation implementation methods are consistent with § 131.12;
- (4) Whether any State adopted WQS variance is consistent with § 131.14;
- (5) Whether any State adopted provision authorizing the use of schedules of compliance for water quality-based effluent limits in NPDES permits is consistent with § 131.15;
- (6) Whether the State has followed applicable legal procedures for revising or adopting standards:

\*\*\*\*

(b) If EPA determines that the State's or Tribe's water quality standards are consistent with the factors listed in paragraphs (a)(1) through (8) of this section, EPA approves the standards. EPA must disapprove the State's or Tribe's water quality standards and promulgate Federal standards under section 303(c)(4), and for Great Lakes States or Great Lakes Tribes under section 118(c)(2)(C) of the Act, if State or Tribal adopted standards are not consistent with the factors listed in paragraphs (a)(1) through (8) of this section. EPA may also promulgate a new or revised standard when necessary to meet the requirements of the Act.

\*\*\*\*

#### Subpart B-Establishment of Water Quality Standards

40 CFR \$ 131.10

5. In § 131.10:

- a. Revise paragraphs (a), (g) introductory text, (j), and (k).
- b. Remove and reserve paragraph (e).

The revisions read as follows:

40 CFR \$ 131, 10

#### § 131.10 Designation of uses.

(a) Each State must specify appropriate water uses to be achieved and protected. The classification of the waters of the State must take into consideration the use and value of water for public water supplies, protection and propagation of fish, shellfish and wildlife, recreation in and on the water, agricultural, industrial, and other purposes including navigation. If adopting new or revised designated uses other than the uses specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act, or removing designated uses, States must submit documentation justifying how their consideration of the use and value of water for those uses listed in this paragraph appropriately supports the State's action. A use attainability analysis may be used to satisfy this requirement. In no case shall a State adopt waste transport or waste assimilation as a designated use for any waters of the United States.

\*\*\*\*

(e) [Reserved]

\*\*\*

(g) States may designate a use, or remove a use that is not an existing use, if the State conducts a use attainability analysis as specified in paragraph (j) of this section that demonstrates attaining the use is not feasible because of one of the six factors in this paragraph. If a State adopts a new or revised water quality standard based on a required use attainability analysis, the State shall also adopt the highest attainable use, as defined in § 131.3(m).

\*\*\*\*

- (j) A State must conduct a use attainability analysis as described in § 131.3(g), and paragraph (g) of this section, whenever:
- (1) The State designates for the first time, or has previously designated for a water body, uses that do not include the uses specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act: or

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

- (2) The State wishes to remove a designated use that is specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act, to remove a sub-category of such a use, or to designate a sub-category of such a use that requires criteria less stringent than previously applicable.
- (k) A State is not required to conduct a use attainability analysis whenever:
- (1) The State designates for the first time, or has previously designated for a water body, uses that include the uses specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act; or
- (2) The State designates a sub-category of a use specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act that requires criteria at least as stringent as previously applicable; or
- (3) The State wishes to remove or revise a designated use that is a non-101(a)(2) use. In this instance, as required by paragraph (a) of this section, the State must submit documentation justifying how its consideration of the use and value of water for those uses listed in paragraph (a) appropriately supports the State's action, which may be satisfied through a use attainability analysis.

40 CFR \$ 131.11

6. In § 131.11, revise paragraphs (a)(2) and (b) introductory text to read as follows: 40 CFR § 131.11

§ 131.11 Criteria.

(a) \* \* \*

- (2) Toxic pollutants. States must review water quality data and information on discharges to identify specific water bodies where toxic pollutants may be adversely affecting water quality or the attainment of the designated water use or where the levels of toxic pollutants are at a level to warrant concern and must adopt criteria for such toxic pollutants applicable to the water body sufficient to protect the designated use. Where a State adopts narrative criteria for toxic pollutants to protect designated uses, the State must provide information identifying the method by which the State intends to regulate point source discharges of toxic pollutants on water quality limited segments based on such narrative criteria. Such information may be included as part of the standards or may be included in documents generated by the State in response to the Water \*51048 Quality Planning and Management Regulations (40 CFR part 130).
- (b) Form of criteria: In establishing criteria, States should:

\* \* \* \* \* 40 CFR \$ 131.12

7. In § 131.12:

- a. Revise the section heading and paragraphs (a) introductory text and (a)(2).
- b. Add paragraph (b).

The revisions and additions read as follows:

40 CFR § 131.12

- § 131.12 Antidegradation policy and implementation methods.
- (a) The State shall develop and adopt a statewide antidegradation policy. The antidegradation policy shall, at a minimum, be consistent with the following:

\*\*\*\*

(2) Where the quality of the waters exceeds levels necessary to support the protection and propagation of fish, shellfish, and wildlife and recreation in and on the water, that quality shall be maintained and protected unless the State finds, after full satisfaction of the intergovernmental coordination and public participation provisions of the State's

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

continuing planning process, that allowing lower water quality is necessary to accommodate important economic or social development in the area in which the waters are located. In allowing such degradation or lower water quality, the State shall assure water quality adequate to protect existing uses fully. Further, the State shall assure that there shall be achieved the highest statutory and regulatory requirements for all new and existing point sources and all cost-effective and reasonable best management practices for nonpoint source control.

- (i) The State may identify waters for the protections described in paragraph (a)(2) of this section on a parameter-byparameter basis or on a water body-by-water body basis. Where the State identifies waters for antidegradation protection on a water body-by-water body basis, the State shall provide an opportunity for public involvement in any decisions about whether the protections described in paragraph (a)(2) of this section will be afforded to a water body, and the factors considered when making those decisions. Further, the State shall not exclude a water body from the protections described in paragraph (a)(2) of this section solely because water quality does not exceed levels necessary to support all of the uses specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act.
- (ii) Before allowing any lowering of high water quality, pursuant to paragraph (a)(2) of this section, the State shall find, after an analysis of alternatives, that such a lowering is necessary to accommodate important economic or social development in the area in which the waters are located. The analysis of alternatives shall evaluate a range of practicable alternatives that would prevent or lessen the degradation associated with the proposed activity. When the analysis of alternatives identifies one or more practicable alternatives, the State shall only find that a lowering is necessary if one such alternative is selected for implementation.

(b) The State shall develop methods for implementing the antidegradation policy that are, at a minimum, consistent with the State's policy and with paragraph (a) of this section. The State shall provide an opportunity for public involvement during the development and any subsequent revisions of the implementation methods, and shall make the methods available to the public.

40 CFR § 131.14

8. Add § 131.14 to read as follows:

40 CFR § 131.14

#### § 131.14 Water quality standards variances.

States may adopt WQS variances, as defined in § 131.3(o). Such a WQS variance is subject to the provisions of this section and public participation requirements at § 131,20(b). A WQS variance is a water quality standard subject to EPA review and approval or disapproval.

- (a) Applicability. (1) A WQS variance may be adopted for a permittee(s) or water body/waterbody segment(s), but only applies to the permittee(s) or water body/waterbody segment(s) specified in the WQS variance.
- (2) Where a State adopts a WQS variance, the State must retain, in its standards, the underlying designated use and criterion addressed by the WQS variance, unless the State adopts and EPA approves a revision to the underlying designated use and criterion consistent with § 131.10 and 131.11. All other applicable standards not specifically addressed by the WQS variance remain applicable.
- (3) A WQS variance, once adopted by the State and approved by EPA, shall be the applicable standard for purposes of the Act under § 131.21(d) through (e), for the following limited purposes. An approved WQS variance applies for the purposes of developing NPDES permit limits and requirements under 301(b)(1)(C), where appropriate, consistent with paragraph (a)(1) of this section. States and other certifying entities may also use an approved WQS variance when issuing certifications under section 401 of the Act.
- (4) A State may not adopt WQS variances if the designated use and criterion addressed by the WQS variance can be achieved by implementing technology-based effluent limits required under sections 301(b) and 306 of the Act.

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

- (b) Requirements for Submission to EPA. (1) A WQS variance must include:
- (i) Identification of the pollutant(s) or water quality parameter(s), and the water body/waterbody segment(s) to which the WQS variance applies. Discharger(s)-specific WQS variances must also identify the permittee(s) subject to the WQS variance.
- (ii) The requirements that apply throughout the term of the WQS variance. The requirements shall represent the highest attainable condition of the water body or waterbody segment applicable throughout the term of the WQS variance based on the documentation required in (b)(2) of this section. The requirements shall not result in any lowering of the currently attained ambient water quality, unless a WQS variance is necessary for restoration activities, consistent with paragraph (b)(2)(i)(A)(2) of this section. The State must specify the highest attainable condition of the water body or waterbody segment as a quantifiable expression that is one of the following:
- (A) For discharger(s)-specific WQS variances:
- (1) The highest attainable interim criterion; or
- (2) The interim effluent condition that reflects the greatest pollutant reduction achievable; or
- (3) If no additional feasible pollutant control technology can be identified, the interim criterion or interim effluent condition that reflects the greatest pollutant reduction achievable with the pollutant control technologies installed at the time the State adopts the WQS variance, and the adoption and implementation of a Pollutant Minimization Program.
- (B) For WQS variances applicable to a water body or waterbody segment:
- (1) The highest attainable interim use and interim criterion; or
- (2) If no additional feasible pollutant control technology can be identified, the interim use and interim criterion that reflect the greatest pollutant reduction achievable with the pollutant control technologies installed at the time the State adopts the WQS variance, and the adoption and implementation of a Pollutant Minimization Program.
- (iii) A statement providing that the requirements of the WQS variance are \*51049 either the highest attainable condition identified at the time of the adoption of the WQS variance, or the highest attainable condition later identified during any reevaluation consistent with paragraph (b)(1)(v) of this section, whichever is more stringent.
- (iv) The term of the WQS variance, expressed as an interval of time from the date of EPA approval or a specific date. The term of the WQS variance must only be as long as necessary to achieve the highest attainable condition and consistent with the demonstration provided in paragraph (b)(2) of this section. The State may adopt a subsequent WQS variance consistent with this section.
- (v) For a WQS variance with a term greater than five years, a specified frequency to reevaluate the highest attainable condition using all existing and readily available information and a provision specifying how the State intends to obtain public input on the reevaluation. Such reevaluations must occur no less frequently than every five years after EPA approval of the WQS variance and the results of such reevaluation must be submitted to EPA within 30 days of completion of the reevaluation.

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

- (vi) A provision that the WQS variance will no longer be the applicable water quality standard for purposes of the Act if the State does not conduct a reevaluation consistent with the frequency specified in the WQS variance or the results are not submitted to EPA as required by (b)(1)(v) of this section.
- (2) The supporting documentation must include:
- (i) Documentation demonstrating the need for a WQS variance.
- (A) For a WQS variance to a use specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act or a sub-category of such a use, the State must demonstrate that attaining the designated use and criterion is not feasible throughout the term of the WQS variance because:
- (1) One of the factors listed in § 131.10(g) is met, or
- (2) Actions necessary to facilitate lake, wetland, or stream restoration through dam removal or other significant reconfiguration activities preclude attainment of the designated use and criterion while the actions are being implemented.
- (B) For a WQS variance to a non-101(a)(2) use, the State must submit documentation justifying how its consideration of the use and value of the water for those uses listed in § 131.10(a) appropriately supports the WQS variance and term. A demonstration consistent with paragraph (b)(2)(i)(A) of this section may be used to satisfy this requirement.
- (ii) Documentation demonstrating that the term of the WQS variance is only as long as necessary to achieve the highest attainable condition. Such documentation must justify the term of the WQS variance by describing the pollutant control activities to achieve the highest attainable condition, including those activities identified through a Pollutant Minimization Program, which serve as milestones for the WQS variance.
- (iii) In addition to paragraphs (b)(2)(i) and (ii) of this section, for a WQS variance that applies to a water body or waterbody segment:
- (A) Identification and documentation of any cost-effective and reasonable best management practices for nonpoint source controls related to the pollutant(s) or water quality parameter(s) and water body or waterbody segment(s) specified in the WQS variance that could be implemented to make progress towards attaining the underlying designated use and criterion. A State must provide public notice and comment for any such documentation.
- (B) Any subsequent WQS variance for a water body or waterbody segment must include documentation of whether and to what extent best management practices for nonpoint source controls were implemented to address the pollutant(s) or water quality parameter(s) subject to the WQS variance and the water quality progress achieved.
- (c) Implementing WQS variances in NPDES permits. A WQS variance serves as the applicable water quality standard for implementing NPDES permitting requirements pursuant to § 122.44(d) of this chapter for the term of the WQS variance. Any limitations and requirements necessary to implement the WQS variance shall be included as enforceable conditions of the NPDES permit for the permittee(s) subject to the WQS variance.

40 CFR § 131.15

9. Add § 131.15 to read as follows:

40 CFR § 131.15

§ 131.15 Authorizing the use of schedules of compliance for water quality-based effluent limits in NPDES permits.

If a State intends to authorize the use of schedules of compliance for water quality-based effluent limits in NPDES permits, the State must adopt a permit compliance schedule authorizing provision. Such authorizing provision is a water

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

quality standard subject to EPA review and approval under section 303 of the Act and must be consistent with sections 502(17) and 301(b)(1)(C) of the Act.

#### Subpart C-Procedures for Review and Revision of Water Quality Standards

40 CFR § 131.20

10. In § 131.20, revise paragraphs (a) and (b) to read as follows:

40 CFR § 131.20

#### § 131.20 State review and revision of water quality standards.

- (a) State review. The State shall from time to time, but at least once every 3 years, hold public hearings for the purpose of reviewing applicable water quality standards adopted pursuant to §§ 131.10 through 131.15 and Federally promulgated water quality standards and, as appropriate, modifying and adopting standards. The State shall also re-examine any waterbody segment with water quality standards that do not include the uses specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act every 3 years to determine if any new information has become available. If such new information indicates that the uses specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act are attainable, the State shall revise its standards accordingly. Procedures States establish for identifying and reviewing water bodies for review should be incorporated into their Continuing Planning Process. In addition, if a State does not adopt new or revised criteria for parameters for which EPA has published new or updated CWA section 304(a) criteria recommendations, then the State shall provide an explanation when it submits the results of its triennial review to the Regional Administrator consistent with CWA section 303(c)(1) and the requirements of paragraph (c) of this section.
- (b) Public participation. The State shall hold one or more public hearings for the purpose of reviewing water quality standards as well as when revising water quality standards, in accordance with provisions of State law and EPA's public participation regulation (40 CFR part 25). The proposed water quality standards revision and supporting analyses shall be made available to the public prior to the hearing.

\* \* \* \* \* \*40 CFR § 131.22

11. In § 131.22, revise paragraph (b) to read as follows:

40 CFR § 131.22

#### § 131.22 EPA promulgation of water quality standards.

\*\*\*\*

- (b) The Administrator may also propose and promulgate a regulation, applicable to one or more navigable waters, setting forth a new or revised standard upon determining such a standard is necessary to meet the requirements of the Act. To constitute an Administrator's determination that a \*51050 new or revised standard is necessary to meet the requirements of the Act, such determination must:
- (1) Be signed by the Administrator or his or her duly authorized delegate, and
- (2) Contain a statement that the document constitutes an Administrator's determination under section 303(c)(4)(B) of the Act.

\* \* \* \* \*

#### Subpart D-Federally Promulgated Water Quality Standards

40 CFR § 131.34

12. In § 131.34, revise paragraph (c) to read as follows:

40 CFR § 131.34

§ 131.34 Kansas.

.....

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

(c) Water quality standard variances. The Regional Administrator, EPA Region 7, is authorized to grant variances from the water quality standards in paragraphs (a) and (b) of this section where the requirements of § 131.14 are met.

40 CFR \$ 131.40

13. In § 131.40, revise paragraph (c) to read as follows:

40 CFR § 131.40

#### § 131.40 Puerto Rico.

\*\*\*\*

(c) Water quality standard variances. The Regional Administrator, EPA Region 2, is authorized to grant variances from the water quality standards in paragraphs (a) and (b) of this section where the requirements of § 131.14 are met.

[FR Doc. 2015-19821 Filed 8-20-15; 8:45 am]

BILLING CODE 6560-50-P

#### Footnotes

- Hereafter referred to as "states and authorized tribes." "State" in the CWA and this document refers to a state, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the U.S. Virgin Islands, Guam, American Samoa, and the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands, "Authorized tribes" refers to those federally recognized Indian tribes with authority to administer a CWA WQS program.
- Under CWA section 304(a), EPA publishes recommended water quality criteria guidance that consists of scientific information regarding concentrations of specific chemicals or levels of parameters in water that protect aquatic life and human health. CWA section 303(c) refers to state and authorized tribal water quality criteria that are subject to EPA review and approval or disapproval.
- 3 54 FR 51400 (November S, 1983).
  FN4 First edition, December 1983; second edition, EPA 823-B-94-005a, August 1994.
  FN5 First edition, EPA 440/4-85-032, September 1985; revised edition, EPA 505/2-90-001, March 1991.
- 6 56 FR 64893 (December 12, 1991). FN7 65 FR 24641 (April 27, 2000).
- 8 63 FR 36742 (July 7, 1998).
- 9 See Water Quality Standards Regulatory Clarifications, 78 FR 54517 (September 4, 2013).
- A listing of Administrator's determinations that new or revised WQS are necessary to meet the requirements of the CWA pursuant to section 303(c)(4)(B) can be found at: http://water.epa.gov/scitech/swguidance/standards/wqsregs.cfm1Bfederal under the heading "Federal Clean Water Act Determinations that New or Revised Standards Are Necessary." EPA intends to post future Administrator's determinations pursuant to CWA section 303(c)(4)(B) to its Web site.
- Indian country is defined at 18 U.S.C. 1151. A prior example of federally promulgated WQS in Indian country can be found at 40 CFR 131.35, federally promulgated WQS for the Colville Confederated Tribes Indian Reservation (54 FR 28625, July 6, 1989).
  - 12 EPA's 1983 regulation and "the rebuttable presumption stemming therefrom" have been upheld as a "permissible construction of the statute" (Idaho Mining Association v. Browner, 90 F. Supp. 2d 1078, 1097-98 (D. Idaho 2000)).
  - To achieve the CWA's goal of "wherever attainable", a protection and propagation of fish... "all aquatic life, including aquatic invertebrates, must be protected because they are a critical component of the food web.

    FN14 A sub-category of a use specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act is not necessarily less protective than a use specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act. For example, a cold water aquatic life use is considered a use sub-category, but provides "for the protection and propagation of fish, shellfish and wildlife," consistent with CWA section 101(a)(2). On the other hand, a secondary contact recreation use (i.e., a use, such as wading or boating, where there is a low likelihood of full body immersion in water or incidental ingestion of water) is considered a use sub-category, but does not provide "for recreation in and on the water," consistent with CWA section 101(a)(2).
  - 15 See 78 FR 54525 (September 4, 2013).

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

- This provision includes situations where a state or authorized tribe adopts for the first time, or previously designated, only non-101(a)(2) uses.
- 17 Section 131.10(c) provides that states and authorized tribes "may adopt sub-categories of a use. . ." (emphasis added). This provision generally allows states and authorized tribes to adopt sub-categories of the uses specified in the CWA. This rule is finalizing revisions to § 131.10(g) to specify that when a state or authorized tribe conducts a UAA required by § 131.10(j), and the state or authorized tribe revises its WQS to something other than a use specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act, the state or authorized tribe must adopt the highest attainable modified aquatic life, wildlife, and/or recreation use (i.e., a sub-category of an aquatic life, wildlife, and/or recreation use). Where a UAA is not required by § 131.10(j), the state or authorized tribe retains discretion to choose whether to adopt sub-categories of uses per § 131.10(c).
- Section 131.10(a) already provided that states and authorized tribes "must specify appropriate water uses to be achieved and protected" and that the "classification of the waters of the [s]tate must take into consideration the use and value of water for public water supplies, protection and propagation of fish, shellfish and wildlife, recreation in and on the water, agricultural, industrial, and other purposes including navigation").
  FN19 Section 131.6(a) and (b) already provided that states and authorized tribes must submit to EPA for review "use designations consistent with the provisions of sections 101(a)(2) and 303(c)(2) of the Act" and "[m]ethods used and analyses conducted to support WQS revisions."
- 20 http://water.epa.gov/scitech/swguidance/standards/upload/20005F105F315Fstandards5Fshellfish.pdf.
- 57 FR 60859 (December 22, 1992). See also 40 CFR 131.36.
  FN22 http://water.epa.gov/scitech/swguidance/standards/criteria/health/methodology/index.cfm; Methodology for Deriving Ambient Water Quality Criteria for the Protection of Human Health, see pages 4-2 and 4-3.
- 78 FR 54523 (September 4, 2013).
  FN24 http://water.epa.gov/scitech/swguidance/standards/upload/Smithee-existing-uses-2008-09-23.pdf.
- 25 EPA's compilation of national water quality criteria recommendations, published pursuant to CWA section 304(a), can be found at: http://water.epa.gov/scitech/swguidance/standards/criteria/current/index.cfm.
- 26 WQS adopted and submitted to EPA by states and authorized tribes on or after May 30, 2000, must be approved by EPA before they become effective for CWA purposes, including the establishment of water quality-based effluent limits or development of total maximum daily loads (40 CTR 131.21, 65 TR 24641, April 27, 2000).
- EPA published the What is a New or Revised Water Quality Standard Under CWA 303(c)(3) Frequently Asked Questions (EPA-820-F-12-017. October 2012) to consolidate EPA's interpretation (informed by the CWA, EPA's implementing regulation at 40 CFR part 131, and relevant case law) of what constitutes a new or revised WQS that the Agency has the CWA section 303(c)(3) authority and duty to approve or disapprove (http://water.epa.gov/scitech/swguidance/standards/upload/cwa303faq.pdf).
- Definitions adopted by states and authorized tribes are considered WQS when they are inextricably linked to provisions adopted pursuant to §§ 131.10-131.15.
  FN29 Any WQS that EPA has promulgated for a state or tribe are found in 40 CFR part 131, subpart D. See also: http://

water.epa.gov/scitech/swguidance/standards/wqsregs.cfm1 Bproposed.

- FN30 This rule finalizes § 131.14 (WQS Variances) and § 131.15 (Provisions Authorizing the Use of Schedules of Compliance for WQBELs in NPDES permits). For detailed discussion about these sections, see sections II.E and II.F of this document, respectively.
- 31 For detailed discussion about this final rule for § 131-20(b), related to public participation, see section II.G of this document.
- 32 See CWA section 101(a) (emphasis added).
- 33 http://water.epa.gov/polwaste/nps/watershed/upload/economic5Fbenefits5Ffactsheet3.pdf; Economic Benefits of Protecting Healthy Watersheds (EPA 841-N-12-004, April 2012).
- 34 Ohio Valley Envil. Coal. v. Horinko. 279 F. Supp. 2d 732, 746-50 (S.D. W. Va. 2003).
- 35 See section II.G for more information on the final rule change related to public participation.
- 36 E.g., EPA's Municipal Technologies Web site, which presents technology fact sheets to assist in the evaluation of different technologies for wastewater (http://water.epa.gov/scitech/wastetech/mtb5Findex.cfm).
- 37 See 78 FR 54528 (September 4, 2013).
- 38 See http://water.epa.gov/scitech/swguidance/standards/cwa303faq.cfm. What is a New or Revised Water Quality Standard-Under CWA 303(c)(3) Frequently Asked Questions (EPA-820-F-12-017, October 2012).
- 39 Ala. Power, v. Costle, 636 F.2d, 323, 360 (D.C. Cir. 1979). FN40 Id.
  - FN41 Ky. Waterways Alliance v. Johnson, 540 F.3d 466, 483 (6th Cir. 2008).

Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions, 80 FR 51020-01

- 42 Id. (quoting Ala. Power v. Costle, 636 F.2d. 323, 361 (D.C. Cir. 1979)).
  FN43 Id. (quoting Greenbaum v. U.S. Envil Prot. Agency, 370 F.3d 527, 534 (6th Cir. 2004)).
  FN44 Id. (quoting Greenbaum v. U.S. Envil Prot. Agency, 370 F.3d 527, 534 (6th Cir. 2004)).
- 45 "Permanent" is used here to contrast between the time-limited nature of WQS variances and designated use changes. In accordance with 40 CFR 131 20, waters that "do not include the uses specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act shall be reexamined every 3 years to determine if new information has become available. If such new information indicates that the uses specified in section 101(a)(2) of the Act are attainable, the [s]tate shall revise its standards accordingly."
- 46 For this reason, states and authorized tribes are not required to adopt specific authorizing provisions into state or authorized tribal law before using WQS variances consistent with the federal regulation.
- 47 See 78 I-R 54533 (September 4, 2013).
- 48 EPA has developed a list of Frequently Asked Questions addressing when a multiple discharger WQS variance may be appropriate and how a state or authorized tribe can develop a credible rationale for this type of WQS variance. Discharger-specific Variances on a Broader Scale: Developing Credible Rationales for Variances that Apply to Multiple Dischargers, EPA-820-F-13-012, March 2013.
- 49 As an alternative to a permit compliance schedule, there may be other available mechanisms such as an administrative order. FN50 78 FR 54532 (September 4, 2013).
- 51 78 FR 54534 (September 4, 2013).
- 52 78 FR 54536 (September 4, 2013).
- 53 See 60 FR 15366 (March 23, 1995); 40 CFR part 132.
- 54 In the Matter of Star-Kist Caribe, Inc. 3 EAD 172 (April 16, 1990).
- 55 40 CFR 122.44(d)(1); 122.44(d)(1)(vii)(A).
  - '- '= not applicable Note: Individual annual cost estimates do not add to the total because of independent rounding.
- Although EPA expects one-time rulemaking activity costs to be incurred over an initial three-year period, it annualized costs at a three percent discount rate over 20 years for comparative purposes. See the Economic Analysis for the Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions (Final Rule) for the potential incremental burden and cost using a seven percent discount rate.
- 1 Assuming that the incremental burden and costs to EPA are equal to 20 percent of the burden and costs to states and authorized tribes.
- 2 S0.53 million (S2.67 million x 20 percent) to \$1.07 million (\$5.34 million x 20 percent)
- 3 Although EPA expects these one-time costs to be incurred over an initial three-year period, the costs are annualized at three percent discount rate over 20 years for comparative purposes. See the Economic Analysis for the Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions (Final Rule) for the potential incremental burden and cost using a seven percent discount rate.
- 4 Total costs to the Agency divided by hourly wage rate (\$75.41 per hour).
- 5 Burden hours to the Agency divided by hours worked by full-time equivalent (FTE) employees per year (2,080 hours per year).
- 6 S1.05 million (\$5.24 million x 20 percent) to \$3.95 million (\$19.73 million x 20 percent).
- Although EPA expects states and authorized tribes to incur rulemaking costs over an initial three-year period, it annualized one-time costs at a three percent discount rate over 20 years for comparative purposes. See the Economic Analysis for the Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions (Final Rule) for the potential incremental burden and cost using a seven percent discount rate.
- 56 See the Economic Analysis for the Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions (Final Rule) for the potential incremental burden and cost for this final rule using a seven percent discount rate.

Lud of Document

MTT Homomy Bayarry - orghind responsed (25 See Entered World)

Electronic Filing: Received, Clerk's Office 8/9/2017 * * R2018-018 * *
Lieutionie i ming. Reconved, Clemes C.
ATTACHMENT B
ALLACIMENT

#### 1977 WL 28245 (E.P.A.G.C.)

#### Environmental Protection Agency (E.P.A.)

#### Office of the General Counsel

#### NPDES Permits

#### IN RE BETHLEHEM STEEL CORPORATION

Opinion No. 58 March 29, 1977

\*1 In the matter of National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System, Permit Number NY 0001368, for Bethlehem Steel Corporation, Lackawanna, New York, the Presiding Officer has certified one issue of law to the General Counsel for decision pursuant to 40 C.F.R. §125.36(m). The parties, having had an opportunity to provide written briefs in support of their respective positions, present the following issue:

#### QUESTION PRESENTED

"Does EPA have statutory authority to establish thermal effluent limits, based on receiving water flow and characteristics when such requirements have not been included in a water quality certification, and no officially promulgated thermal effluent guidelines and standards exist?"

After reading the briefs and analyzing the parties' positions, I believe this question might be more accurately phrased and addressed as three distinct questions.

#### QUESTION OF LAW NO. I

"Does EPA have the statutory authority to establish thermal effluent requirements, based on State water quality standards, when such requirements have not been included in a State certification under Section 401 of the FWPCA, and when the State certification specifically includes certain less stringent thermal limitations?"

#### ANSWER

Yes, EPA has both the authority and the obligation, pursuant to Section 301(b)(1)(C), to assure that NPDES permits contain sufficient limitations "necessary to meet water quality standards, treatment standards, or schedules of compliance, established pursuant to any State law or regulations." This obligation exists independently of State certification.

#### DISCUSSION

The FWPCA clearly establishes an obligation for the permitting authority to insure that permits contain effluent limitations necessary to meet State water quality standards. Section 301(b)(1)(C). (See Decisions of General Counsel, No. 13, No. 44.) The Act also provides that States may certify specific limitations as necessary to comply with Section 301 (including 301(b)(1)(C)) of the Act or with "any other appropriate requirement of State law." Section 401(d). Limitations contained in a State certification must be included in a NPDES permit. EPA has no authority to ignore State certification or to determine whether limitations certified by the State are more stringent than required to meet the requirements of State law. (See Decision of General Counsel, No. 44.) In the absence of State certification, EPA must, pursuant to Section 301(b)(1)(C), independently interpret and apply State water quality standards. (Cf. EPA v. California, 96 S. Ct.

IN RE BETHLEHEM STEEL CORPORATION, 1977 WL 28245 (1977)

2022, 2032 (1976)). The question presented herein, however, has not previously been addressed: when the State does certify specific limitations as necessary to meet water quality standards, does the Administrator still retain his obligation to independently interpret and apply State water quality standards so as to ensure compliance with Section 301(b)(1) (C)? I believe the answer is clearly that the Administrator does retain such obligation since his authority pursuant to Section 301(b)(1)(C) is independent of State certification.

\*2 Any other answer would illegally restrict the Administrator from insuring that a permit met all the relevant requirements of the Act. For instance, a State might certify that the technology-based effluent limitations under Section 301(b)(1)(A) were sufficient to meet water quality standards, EPA, however, might know that additional, more stringent limitations are required to meet the applicable State water quality standard. Must EPA ignore such information merely because of the State certification? Or suppose the State certifies specific limitations which are less stringent than the limitations contained in a 303(e) plan submitted to EPA by the State and approved by EPA? Is EPA legally required to ignore the 303(e) plan recommendations? Or suppose the State certifies specific limitations for some pollutants but ignores other pollutants which are included in the water quality standards. Is EPA to ignore such other water quality standards? For the Administrator to blindly accept State certification as the final authority in any of these cases, he would be forced to ignore the language of Section 301(b)(1)(C) and his duty under the Act to assure compliance therewith.

In enacting Section 401, Congress clearly intended to give the States an opportunity to assure that federally-issued NPDES permits contained limitations necessary to implement the State's water quality standards. There is no indication in the Act, or in the legislative history, however, that Section 401 was intended to limit the authority and obligation of EPA to independently assess the need for more stringent conditions to meet the requirements of Section 301(b)(1)(C).

#### QUESTION OF LAW NO. II

What are the relevant water quality standards applicable to this NPDES permit?

#### ANSWER

The relevant water quality standards are those in effect on the date of initial permit issuance, August 30, 1974.

#### DISCUSSION

The Administrator has previously determined the general rule that the appropriate water quality standards to be applied to a permit are those which were in effect at the time of initial permit issuance. (See Decision of the Administrator, In the Matter of U.S. Pipe and Foundry Company, NPDES Appeal No. 75-4, October 10, 1975.) The State thermal standards adopted in July 1969 were the standards in effect on the date of initial permit issuance. At the time of initial permit issuance, such standards had not been approved by EPA. Nevertheless, the standards were valid under State law and are binding upon EPA pursuant to Section 301(b)(1)(C) until and unless EPA supersedes such standards by promulgating under the authority of Section 303(b) or 303(c). State water quality standards exist independently of EPA approval or disapproval (see attached memo, dated February 3, 1975) and do not become Federal standards through the EPA approval process.

#### QUESTION OF LAW NO. III

"In developing limitations pursuant to Section 301(b)(1)(C), should EPA consider a provision contained in the State's water quality standards such as a 'grandfather' clause which is not a water quality standard as defined by the FWPCA and which does not relate to receiving water uses or criteria?"

#### ANSWER

IN RE BETHLEHEM STEEL CORPORATION, 1977 WL 28245 (1977)

\*3 No. EPA is not required and in fact is without authority to consider provisions of State law which are not water quality standards, treatment standards, or compliance schedules in determining appropriate limitations under Section 301(b)(I)(C). EPA must ignore such requirements.

#### DISCUSSION

The "Criteria Governing Thermal Discharges" adopted by the State of New York in July, 1969, include the following water quality standards for "non trout" waters:

"The water temperature at the surface of a stream shall not be raised to more than 90°F at any point. Further, at least 50 percent of the cross sectional area and/or volume of the flow of the stream including a minimum of 1/3 of the surface as measured from shore-to-shore shall not be raised to more than 5°F over the temperature that existed before the addition of heat of artificial origin or to a maximum of 86°F whichever is less..."

The thermal criteria certified by the State included only the first sentence of the standard cited above, i.e., a 90°F limit for the discharge. EPA, however, included in the permit the additional language found in the standard.

Although the State of New York did not submit a brief, it appears that the State's failure to certify the entire thermal criteria is based upon another portion of its "Criteria Governing Thermal Discharges". This provision states as follows:

#### EXTENT OF APPLICABILITY OF CRITERIA TO EXISTING DISCHARGES

In determining whether a discharge existing prior to the adoption of the above criteria complies with the applicable standard for thermal discharges (None alone or in combination with other substances or wastes in sufficient amount or at such temperature as to be injurious to fish life .... or impair the waters for any other best usage....(6 NYCRR 701 3 et. seq.)), these criteria are intended only to be a frame of reference. (Emphasis Added.)

This "grandfather" clause which distinguishes between existing discharges such as Bethlehem and new dischargers has been the subject of continuing controversy between Federal authorities and the State of New York since 1969. The existence of this clause was a major factor in the failure of the Federal Water Pollution Control Administration to approve the 1969 thermal standards.

Revised thermal standards adopted by New York in September, 1974 also included a clause exempting dischargers from the numerical thermal criteria on the basis of age. On February 25, 1975, the EPA Regional Administrator approved the numerical criteria submitted by the State but exempted the grandfather clause from his consideration. He determined that the grandfather clause was inconsistent with Section 316(a) of the FWPCA and in addition was incompatible with the nature of water quality standards since it differentiated among dischargers on the basis of age and was unrelated to the existing or desired quality of the receiving water. (40 Fed. Reg. 13216-17, March 25, 1975).

I also believe that a "grandfather clause" is not an acceptable part of a water quality standard. Therefore I believe as a matter of law that the Region was correct in ignoring such a clause in its determination of the thermal water quality standards which were applicable to this permit.

\*4 In reaching this conclusion, I do not mean to suggest that all variance procedures contained in State water quality standards are illegal and unacceptable under the FWPCA. In Decision of the General Counsel No. 44, I specifically considered the question of an Illinois variance procedure. The Illinois procedure allowed for a limited exception to meeting a water quality standard upon a showing that compliance "would impose an arbitrary or unreasonable

IN RE BETHLEHEM STEEL CORPORATION, 1977 WL 28245 (1977)

hardship". In my decision, I held that EPA would not itself provide for the hearing to determine whether a discharger qualified for such a variance, but would incorporate a State-determined variance in a NPDES permit.

It is important to distinguish the type of variance in Illinois from the variance presented by this case. Section 101(a) (2) of the FWPCA sets as an interim goal the achievement of water quality wherever attainable, that provides for the "protection and propagation of fish, shellfish, and wildlife and provides for recreation in and on the water" by July 1, 1983. In order to attain this goal, EPA has required States to set their water quality standards at such levels "wherever attainable". EPA regulations provide that "in determining whether such standards are attainable for any particular segment, the State should take into consideration environmental, technological, social, economic, and institutional factors", 40 C.F.R. 130.17(c)(1). EPA's regulations are more specific in regard to downgrading existing water quality standards. Standards may be lowered only when the State can demonstrate that one of three factual situations exists: (i) The existing designated use is not attainable because of natural background;

- (ii) The existing designated use is not attainable because of irretrievable man-induced conditions; or
- (iii) Application of effluent limitations for existing sources more stringent than those required pursuant to Section 301(b) (2)(A) and (B) of the Act in order to attain the existing designated use would result in substantial and widespread adverse economic and social impact.

Thus, under these regulations, a State may downgrade a water quality standard for a particular stream segment if attaining the standard will require treatment in excess of best available technology ("BAT") for industrial point sources or best practicable waste treatment technology ("BPWTT") for publicly-owned treatment works, and such additional treatment would result in "substantial and widespread" impact.

A number of States, however, have adopted a somewhat different approach. Rather than downgrading the standard for an entire stream, or stream segment, some States have maintained the standard, but provided that individual dischargers may receive variances for a limited time period from meeting the standards. This approach appears to be preferable environmentally. The more stringent standard is maintained and is binding upon all other dischargers on the stream or stream segment. Even the discharger who is given a variance for one particular constituent (e.g., chlorine) will be required to meet the applicable criteria for other constituents. The variance is given for a limited time period and the discharger must either meet the standard upon the expiration of this time period or must make a new demonstration of "unattainability".

\*5 EPA will accept such variance procedures as part of State water quality standards as long as they are consistent with the substantive requirements of 40 C.F.R. 130.17. Therefore, variances can be granted by States only when achieving the standards is "unattainable". In demonstrating that meeting the standard is unattainable, the State must demonstrate that treatment in excess of that required pursuant to Section 301(b)(2)(A) and (B) of the Act is necessary to meet the standard and must also demonstrate that requiring such treatment will result in substantial and widespread economic and social impact which exceeds the positive economic and social impact of enhanced water quality. EPA Regional Administrators should not accept State variance determinations unless they are accompanied with an adequate record to support the determinations.

The justification submitted by the State should include documentation that treatment more advanced than that required by Sections 301(b)(2)(A) and (B) has been carefully considered and that alternative effluent control strategies have been evaluated.

Since State variance proceedings involve revisions of water quality standards, they must be subjected to public notice, opportunity for comment, and public hearing. (See Section 303(c)(1) and 40 C.F.R. 130.17(a).) The public notice should

IN RE BETHLEHEM STEEL CORPORATION, 1977 WL 28245 (1977)

contain a clear description of the impact of the variance upon achieving water quality standards in the affected stream segment.

Total maximum daily loads included in any plan prepared pursuant to Sections 208 or 303(d) and (e) must be adjusted to reflect the variance. The granting of a variance to any one discharger should not effect the load allocations or effluent limitations required for other dischargers on the stream segment.

As noted above, however, the exemption procedure developed by New York for thermal dischargers does not in any way meet these requirements. The New York procedure provides a blanket exemption for all dischargers of a certain age. This exemption from otherwise applicable standards is not related to any demonstration or determination of "attainability" and does not incorporate any economic or environmental test for the particular discharger. For the reasons noted above, such an exemption procedure cannot be considered as part of a water quality standard under Section 303 of the Act.

#### MEMORANDUM

#### February 3, 1975

Revision of Water Quality Standards and Implementation Plans Under §303 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act

#### FACTS

Related questions have arisen in the States of Utah and Delaware wherein the States have modified State water quality standards so that they are now less stringent than the standards which were Federally approved. In Delaware, the revisions are to the water quality criteria and uses; in Utah, the dates for compliance with the existing criteria and uses have been deferred from 1978 to 1979. The compliance dates were part of the approved implementation plan required by the provisions of the 1970 Federal Water Poliution Control Act. In neither case has EPA taken any action to approve the revisions. Inquiry has been made regarding the impact of these revisions on the approved standards.

#### QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- \*6 1. Does the approval by EPA of a State water quality standard create a Federal standard which remains in effect regardless of any revision of the standard pursuant to State law?
- 2. After approval of a State's water quality standards under §303(a) of the Act, may a State revise the implementation schedule contained in such approved standards by postponing the date of implementation?

#### CONCLUSIONS

- 1. Since the Act contains no specific provision for the creation of Federal standards, EPA's approval only acknowledges the adequacy of the State standards and indicates that promulgation of Federal standards is not required. It does not create a Federal standard which has an existence independent of the State standard. Accordingly, where a State revises its standards, it will be necessary for the State to submit its new standards to EPA for approval or EPA may have to adopt substitute Federal standards.
- 2. EPA's approval of an implementation plan submitted and approved under the provisions of the Act prior to the 1972 amendments, neither precludes the State from revising it nor establishes the provision as a Federal requirement. Revisions of State implementation plans are not provided for under §303(c)(2), which limits revisions of water quality standards to criteria and uses; this eliminates any requirement that States revise implementation plans or that EPA promulgate implementation plans. Generally, because of other provisions of the 1972 Act such as §301(b)(1)(C) establishing a Federal compliance date, it will not be necessary to prescribe any modifications to the water quality standards where the implementation plan is changed by the State. However, if the change in the implementation plan does affect the

IN RE BETHLEHEM STEEL CORPORATION, 1977 WL 28245 (1977)

approved criteria and uses so that they are no longer consistent with the requirements of \$\$301 and 303, some additional revision may be required by the State or, should it fail to do so, by EPA.

#### DISCUSSION

Section 303 of the Act provides for the adoption by States of water quality standards. The standards are to be adopted pursuant to two distinct approaches. Under §303(a), the Administrator was required to insure within a specified period of time after the passage of the 1972 Amendments that States have water quality standards which meet the requirements of the Act as it existed prior to the 1972 Amendments. Standards under the prior Act included criteria, uses, and implementation plans for achievement of the criteria and uses. If the State standards were inadequate and the State failed to submit revised regulations, the Administrator was directed to propose and promulgate adequate regulations. Pursuant to §303(c), the States are to review water quality standards every three years and upgrade them wherever necessary to meet the Act's requirements. Again, the Administrator is to propose and promulgate regulations whenever he determines that the State standards are inadequate or the State fails to submit adequate revisions of its regulations. The requirement that State standards include implementation plans was eliminated in §303(c)(2) so that the revised standards have to consist only of criteria and uses.

\*7 The issue presented by the particular State revisions involved here is the exact nature and effect of the Administrator's approval. It can be argued that the approval of a water quality standard by the Administrator is similar to the approval of an implementation plan under §110 of the Clean Air Act, creating a Federal standard which can be revised only by Federal action and which would not be affected by any change in a water quality standard as a matter of State law. Thus, a State would be effectively precluded from modifying standards without Federal approval. The contrary interpretation, which we believe is more supportable, is that the approval by EPA is merely an affirmation of the adequacy of the State standards and a declaration that no Federal promulgation is necessary. Under this interpretation, the standards remain exclusively State standards.

Our primary reason for adopting the latter view is that the Act in \$303 contains no language suggesting that an approval creates a Federal standard. Moreover, in view of the unusual nature of such an action, we do not believe that a statute should be read to provide for establishing Federal regulations by EPA's embracing a State regulation through a simple approval, i.e., without following the normal approach of proposing and promulgating regulations independently, unless there is a clear statutory directive or necessity for such an interpretation. Under §110 of the Clean Air Act, the approval of a State implementation plan, and emission limitations included in such plans, allows EPA to enforce the requirements of the plan independently of the State pursuant to §113 of the Clean Air Act. Because that approval created a directly enforceable Federal requirement, the courts have held that EPA had to follow the APA requirements of notice and opportunity for comment. See Buckeye Power Company v. EPA, 481 F.2d. 162 (6th Cir. 1973). In the absence of any statutory suggestion in the FWPCA that a similar result was intended for water quality standards, we do not believe that such a conclusion should be reached.

The principal distinction between water quality standards under the FWPCA and the implementation plan requirements of the Clean Air Act is that the water quality standards are not directly enforceable. The water quality standards are to be implemented primarily through the issuance of permits pursuant to \$402 and it is the provisions of the NPDES permit which are the actual enforceable requirements to which §309 will apply. Under the Clean Air Act, it is the approved implementation plan provision which is the enforceable requirement. A finding that the Administrator's approval creates a Federal water quality standard is therefore not as essential.

It has been argued that if Federal standards are not created, there will be a hiatus if a State modifies an approved standard. During that period, there might not be an "approved" standard meeting the Act's requirements which could be applied in a permit issuance proceeding. Although it possibly presents some administrative burdens, we do not believe that this hiatus causes any insurmountable problems. First, EPA has authority to propose and promulgate corrective regulations. It should not be difficult to determine what the proposals should be; the Administrator could simply propose the State's

prior water quality standards that had been approved. If there were a need for prompt action, the Administrative Procedure Act, in 5 USC §553(d)(3), provides for dispensing with opportunity to comment. It would thus appear that a proposal, while requiring some administrative action in preparing Federal Register publications, does not have to create delays which would impede effective implementation of the Act. We expect that permit issuance could be deferred until the new standards were promulgated without any significant difficulty.

\*8 Moreover, even if action were required on a permit in such a short period of time that it would be impossible to prepare a Federal standard even under an expedited promulgation, we believe that the provisions of §402(a) of the Act, which provide for the issuance of a permit with such conditions as the Administrator deems appropriate, would allow the Administrator to prescribe limitations that would achieve a water quality standard meeting the Act's requirements. Since a standard had been previously approved, it would provide a level against which the limitation could be calculated. While this approach should not be used extensively, it is a means of avoiding the problems presented by a State withdrawing a standard. Another possible objection to this interpretation is that it requires additional promulgation of Federal standards which States might fail to enforce on grounds that they lack legal authority to do so. As we discussed above, the standards are not directly enforceable and are pertinent only in calculating limitations to be included in permits. Section 301(b)(1)(C) provides that permits must require compliance with water quality standards whether the permit is being issued by the State or by EPA. Moreover, the obligation of States to enforce Federal laws has been consistently sustained in the courts. See *Testa* v. *Katt*, 330 U.S. 386 (1947)).

A final factor which leads us to this conclusion is that the Agency has not proceeded as if it were adopting Federal regulations and has probably not satisfied the requirements of the Administrative Procedure Act. Notice and opportunity for public comment has not been provided in connection with approval of State water quality standards. The standards and criteria are not on file with the Federal Register, which is a requirement for incorporation by reference and an essential element in making them enforceable regulations. This would make all the standards subject to challenge and is a result which we believe should be avoided if at all possible. Whether the approval of water quality standards would be considered rulemaking under the APA requiring notice and opportunity for comment is difficult to predict. But, assuming it is rulemaking, we believe the rule involved is a determination that the State standards are adequate and that establishment of Federal standards is not required, rather than establishing a rule of general applicability. Accordingly, EPA should provide notice of receipt of a State's regulations and provide an opportunity for people to comment on whether the Administrator should approve the standards submitted by the State. While prior approvals still might be subject to challenge for the Administrator's failing to provide an opportunity for public participation, the decision being challenged would be much different in that it has not established a Federal regulation, and the probability of a court entering an adverse ruling should be less.

The same conclusion must apply with respect to State implementation plan requirements included in the original water quality standards submitted under § 303(a). Those requirements also have no independent Federal existence The problem with implementation plan requirements, however, is more complex. Section 303(c)(2) precludes EPA from adopting implementation plan requirements pursuant to its authority to establish regulations. Revised water quality standards are to consist only of use designations and water quality criteria. The omission of implementation plans from standards subject to EPA review under §303(c) was clearly not an oversight. See *H. Rept.* No. 92-911, 92nd. Cong. 2nd Sess., p. 105 (1972). If a State were to revise its implementation plan requirements and make them unapprovable, unlike the situation with use designations and criteria. EPA does not have authority to promulgate the appropriate implementation plan requirements. This argues for the conclusion that the State is precluded from changing its implementation plan requirements.

\*9 We think, however, that the discussion above regarding EPA's approval not creating Federally enforceable requirements precludes an interpretation that the approval of an implementation plan creates Federal requirements which cannot be affected by State revisions. As with the water quality use designations and criteria, this conclusion

IN RE BETHLEHEM STEEL CORPORATION, 1977 WL 28245 (1977)

should not have any significant impact. While EPA cannot promulgate the correct implementation plan requirements to substitute for those withdrawn by the State, this is not necessary under the present scheme of the Act. The reason §303(c) did away with the requirements for implementation plans is that they are not needed under the 1972 Amendments. Section 301 establishes the compliance dates for water quality standards. The provisions of the prior Act did not contain such a mechanism for achieving the water quality standards and the implementation plan requirements were of much greater significance. The revision by a State of an implementation plan requirement therefore should have no significant impact on compliance with water quality standards unless, of course, the State dates are more restrictive than the Federal dates.

The only possible situation where EPA might be required to take action is if the criteria and uses were somehow tied to the implementation plan so that the revision of the date by the State would also impact on the criteria and uses. For example, it is our understanding that the Utah water quality standard which will be met in 1977 is less stringent than what will be eventually achieved pursuant to the implementation plan. The criteria and uses were approved, even though compliance with them was not scheduled until after 1977, on the grounds that an approvable level of water quality would be reached in 1977 as a result of efforts being taken to meet the more stringent requirements in 1978. A delay in implementation of the criteria and uses in that situation might mean that the level of water quality in 1977 would not be as stringent as was originally anticipated. In such a case, it might be necessary for EPA to promulgate criteria and uses consistent with the Act's requirements for 1977, which could be applied in permits and which would not be dependent on the implementation plan date. Whether that is necessary will, of course, depend on a factual determination; but with respect to the date revised in the State's implementation plan, we do not believe that any action is required.

#### Footnotes

- We recognize that allowing States to pull the rug out from under the water quality standards program by revising their regulations without the approval of EPA does tend to subvert the Congressional effort to compel States to improve their water quality standards. A "Federally approved standard" may be a somewhat hollow designation. However, the Act does seem to contemplate that there will be periods during which there will not be adequate standards. The original development of standards provides a period of 130 days during which the Administrator would be proposing and promulgating regulations and during which, presumably, there would not be adequate State standards.
- 7 The Buckeye Power decision, supra, and the broad definition of "rule" in the APA strongly suggest that it would be rulemaking, but a recent decision by the Seventh Circuit (Indiana & Michigan Electric Co., et al. v. EPA, Nos. 72-1491 and 1492, January 23, 1975) provides support for a contrary interpretation, or, at a minimum, justifies not soliciting public participation. We believe, however, that the Agency should take the more conservative view and provide notice and opportunity for comment in connection with all future approvals.
- We recognize that earlier opinions from this office may have suggested that State implementation plan requirements would remain in effect even if the States were to revise them as a matter of State law. However, we believe that the above discussion represents a more defensible view of the statute and to the extent that the earlier opinions are inconsistent with this memorandum, they are superseded.

1977 WL 28245 (E.P.A.G.C.)

Louisi Universe

2012 Hormon Rames (September provincial) In Language Marks

# ATTACHMENT C

Public Act 099-0937

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

AN ACT concerning safety.

# Be it enacted by the People of the State of Illinois, represented in the General Assembly:

Section 5. The Illinois Administrative Procedure Act is amended by changing Section 1-5 as follows:

(5 ILCS 100/1-5) (from Ch. 127, par. 1001-5) Sec. 1-5. Applicability.

- (a) This Act applies to every agency as defined in this Act. Beginning January 1, 1978, in case of conflict between the provisions of this Act and the Act creating or conferring power on an agency, this Act shall control. If, however, an agency (or its predecessor in the case of an agency that has been consolidated or reorganized) has existing procedures on July 1, 1977, specifically for contested cases or licensing, those existing provisions control, except that this exception respecting contested cases and licensing does not apply if the Act creating or conferring power on the agency adopts by express reference the provisions of this Act. Where the Act creating or conferring power on an agency establishes administrative procedures not covered by this Act, those procedures shall remain in effect.
- (b) The provisions of this Act do not apply to (i) preliminary hearings, investigations, or practices where no

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

final determinations affecting State funding are made by the State Board of Education, (ii) legal opinions issued under Section 2-3.7 of the School Code, (iii) as to State colleges and universities, their disciplinary and grievance proceedings, academic irregularity and capricious grading proceedings, and admission standards and procedures, and (iv) the class specifications for positions and individual position descriptions prepared and maintained under the Personnel Code. Those class specifications shall, however, be made reasonably available to the public for inspection and copying. The provisions of this Act do not apply to hearings under Section 20 of the Uniform Disposition of Unclaimed Property Act.

- (c) Section 5-35 of this Act relating to procedures for rulemaking does not apply to the following:
  - (1) Rules adopted by the Pollution Control Board that, in accordance with Section 7.2 of the Environmental Protection Act, are identical in substance to federal regulations or amendments to those regulations implementing the following: Sections 3001, 3002, 3003, 3004, 3005, and 9003 of the Solid Waste Disposal Act; Section 105 of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980; Sections 307(b), 307(c), 307(d), 402(b)(8), and 402(b)(9) of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act; Sections 1412(b), 1414(c), 1417(a), 1421, and 1445(a) of the Safe Drinking Water Act; and Section 109 of the Clean Air Act.

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

- (2) Rules adopted by the Pollution Control Board that establish or amend standards for the emission of hydrocarbons and carbon monoxide from gasoline powered motor vehicles subject to inspection under the Vehicle Emissions Inspection Law of 2005 or its predecessor laws.
- (3) Procedural rules adopted by the Pollution Control Board governing requests for exceptions under Section 14.2 of the Environmental Protection Act.
- (4) The Pollution Control Board's grant, pursuant to an adjudicatory determination, of an adjusted standard for persons who can justify an adjustment consistent with subsection (a) of Section 27 of the Environmental Protection Act.
- (4.5) The Pollution Control Board's adoption of time-limited water quality standards under Section 38.5 of the Environmental Protection Act.
- (5) Rules adopted by the Pollution Control Board that are identical in substance to the regulations adopted by the Office of the State Fire Marshal under clause (ii) of paragraph (b) of subsection (3) of Section 2 of the Gasoline Storage Act.
- (d) Pay rates established under Section 8a of the Personnel Code shall be amended or repealed pursuant to the process set forth in Section 5-50 within 30 days after it becomes necessary to do so due to a conflict between the rates and the terms of a collective bargaining agreement covering the compensation of

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

an employee subject to that Code.

- (e) Section 10-45 of this Act shall not apply to any hearing, proceeding, or investigation conducted under Section 13-515 of the Public Utilities Act.
- (f) Article 10 of this Act does not apply to any hearing, proceeding, or investigation conducted by the State Council for the State of Illinois created under Section 3-3-11.05 of the Unified Code of Corrections or by the Interstate Commission for Adult Offender Supervision created under the Interstate Compact for Adult Offender Supervision or by the Interstate Commission for Juveniles created under the Interstate Compact for Juveniles.
- (g) This Act is subject to the provisions of Article XXI of the Public Utilities Act. To the extent that any provision of this Act conflicts with the provisions of that Article XXI, the provisions of that Article XXI control.

(Source: P.A. 97-95, eff. 7-12-11; 97-945, eff. 8-10-12; 97-1081, eff. 8-24-12; 98-463, eff. 8-16-13.)

Section 10. The Environmental Protection Act is amended by changing Sections 4, 5, 7.5, 29, and 41 and the heading of Title IX and by adding Sections 3.488 and 38.5 as follows:

(415 ILCS 5/3.488 new)

Sec. 3.488. Time-limited water quality standard.

"Time-limited water quality standard" has the meaning ascribed

Public Act 099-0937

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

to the term "water quality standards variance" in 40 CFR 131.3(o).

(415 ILCS 5/4) (from Ch. 111 1/2, par. 1004)

- Sec. 4. Environmental Protection Agency; establishment; duties.
- (a) There is established in the Executive Branch of the State Government an agency to be known as the Environmental Protection Agency. This Agency shall be under the supervision and direction of a Director who shall be appointed by the Governor with the advice and consent of the Senate. The term of office of the Director shall expire on the third Monday of January in odd numbered years, provided that he or she shall hold office until a successor is appointed and has qualified. The Director shall receive an annual salary as set by the Compensation Review Board. The Director, in accord with the Personnel Code, shall employ and direct such personnel, and shall provide for such laboratory and other facilities, as may be necessary to carry out the purposes of this Act. In addition, the Director may by agreement secure such services as he or she may deem necessary from any other department, agency, or unit of the State Government, and may employ and compensate such consultants and technical assistants as may be required.
- (b) The Agency shall have the duty to collect and disseminate such information, acquire such technical data, and conduct such experiments as may be required to carry out the

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

purposes of this Act, including ascertainment of the quantity and nature of discharges from any contaminant source and data on those sources, and to operate and arrange for the operation of devices for the monitoring of environmental quality.

- (c) The Agency shall have authority to conduct a program of continuing surveillance and of regular or periodic inspection of actual or potential contaminant or noise sources, of public water supplies, and of refuse disposal sites.
- (d) In accordance with constitutional limitations, the Agency shall have authority to enter at all reasonable times upon any private or public property for the purpose of:
  - (1) Inspecting and investigating to ascertain possible violations of this Act, any rule or regulation adopted under this Act, any permit or term or condition of a permit, or any Board order; or
  - (2) In accordance with the provisions of this Act, taking whatever preventive or corrective action, including but not limited to removal or remedial action, that is necessary or appropriate whenever there is a release or a substantial threat of a release of (A) a hazardous substance or pesticide or (B) petroleum from an underground storage tank.
- (e) The Agency shall have the duty to investigate violations of this Act, any rule or regulation adopted under this Act, any permit or term or condition of a permit, or any Board order; to issue administrative citations as provided in

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

Section 31.1 of this Act; and to take such summary enforcement action as is provided for by Section 34 of this Act.

- (f) The Agency shall appear before the Board in any hearing upon a petition for variance or time-limited water quality standard, the denial of a permit, or the validity or effect of a rule or regulation of the Board, and shall have the authority to appear before the Board in any hearing under the Act.
- (g) The Agency shall have the duty to administer, in accord with Title X of this Act, such permit and certification systems as may be established by this Act or by regulations adopted thereunder. The Agency may enter into written delegation agreements with any department, agency, or unit of State or local government under which all or portions of this duty may be delegated for public water supply storage and transport systems, sewage collection and transport systems, air pollution control sources with uncontrolled emissions of 100 tons per year or less and application of algicides to waters of the State. Such delegation agreements will require that the work to be performed thereunder will be in accordance with Agency criteria, subject to Agency review, and shall include such financial and program auditing by the Agency as may be required.
- (h) The Agency shall have authority to require the submission of complete plans and specifications from any applicant for a permit required by this Act or by regulations thereunder, and to require the submission of such reports

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

regarding actual or potential violations of this Act, any rule or regulation adopted under this Act, any permit or term or condition of a permit, or any Board order, as may be necessary for the purposes of this Act.

- (i) The Agency shall have authority to make recommendations to the Board for the adoption of regulations under Title VII of the Act.
- (j) The Agency shall have the duty to represent the State of Illinois in any and all matters pertaining to plans, procedures, or negotiations for interstate compacts or other governmental arrangements relating to environmental protection.
- (k) The Agency shall have the authority to accept, receive, and administer on behalf of the State any grants, gifts, loans, indirect cost reimbursements, or other funds made available to the State from any source for purposes of this Act or for air or water pollution control, public water supply, solid waste disposal, noise abatement, or other environmental protection activities, surveys, or programs. Any federal funds received by the Agency pursuant to this subsection shall be deposited in a trust fund with the State Treasurer and held and disbursed by him in accordance with Treasurer as Custodian of Funds Act, provided that such monies shall be used only for the purposes for which they are contributed and any balance remaining shall be returned to the contributor.

The Agency is authorized to promulgate such regulations and

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

enter into such contracts as it may deem necessary for carrying out the provisions of this subsection.

(1) The Agency is hereby designated as water pollution agency for the state for all purposes of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended; as implementing agency for the State for all purposes of the Safe Drinking Water Act, Public Law 93-523, as now or hereafter amended, except Section 1425 of that Act; as air pollution agency for the state for all purposes of the Clean Air Act of 1970, Public Law 91-604, approved December 31, 1970, as amended; and as solid waste agency for the state for all purposes of the Solid Waste Disposal Act, Public Law 89-272, approved October 20, 1965, and amended by the Resource Recovery Act of 1970, Public Law 91-512, approved October 26, 1970, as amended, and amended by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, (P.L. 94-580) approved October 21, 1976, as amended; as noise control agency for the state for all purposes of the Noise Control Act of 1972, Public Law 92-574, approved October 27, 1972, as amended; and as implementing agency for the State for all purposes of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980 (P.L. 96-510), as amended; and otherwise as pollution control agency for the State pursuant to federal laws integrated with the foregoing laws, for financing purposes or otherwise. The Agency is hereby authorized to take all action necessary or appropriate to secure to the State the benefits of such federal Acts, provided

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

that the Agency shall transmit to the United States without change any standards adopted by the Pollution Control Board pursuant to Section 5(c) of this Act. This subsection (1) of Section 4 shall not be construed to bar or prohibit the Environmental Protection Trust Fund Commission from accepting, receiving, and administering on behalf of the State any grants, gifts, loans or other funds for which the Commission is eligible pursuant to the Environmental Protection Trust Fund Act. The Agency is hereby designated as the State agency for all purposes of administering the requirements of Section 313 of the federal Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act of 1986.

Any municipality, sanitary district, or other political subdivision, or any Agency of the State or interstate Agency, which makes application for loans or grants under such federal Acts shall notify the Agency of such application; the Agency may participate in proceedings under such federal Acts.

(m) The Agency shall have authority, consistent with Section 5(c) and other provisions of this Act, and for purposes of Section 303(e) of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as now or hereafter amended, to engage in planning processes and activities and to develop plans in cooperation with units of local government, state agencies and officers, and other appropriate persons in connection with the jurisdiction or duties of each such unit, agency, officer or person. Public hearings shall be held on the planning process, at which any

Public Act 099-0937

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

person shall be permitted to appear and be heard, pursuant to procedural regulations promulgated by the Agency.

- (n) In accordance with the powers conferred upon the Agency by Sections 10(g), 13(b), 19, 22(d) and 25 of this Act, the Agency shall have authority to establish and enforce minimum standards for the operation of laboratories relating to analyses and laboratory tests for air pollution, water pollution, noise emissions, contaminant discharges onto land and sanitary, chemical, and mineral quality of water distributed by a public water supply. The Agency may enter into formal working agreements with other departments or agencies of state government under which all or portions of this authority may be delegated to the cooperating department or agency.
- (o) The Agency shall have the authority to issue certificates of competency to persons and laboratories meeting the minimum standards established by the Agency in accordance with Section 4(n) of this Act and to promulgate and enforce regulations relevant to the issuance and use of such certificates. The Agency may enter into formal working agreements with other departments or agencies of state government under which all or portions of this authority may be delegated to the cooperating department or agency.
- (p) Except as provided in Section 17.7, the Agency shall have the duty to analyze samples as required from each public water supply to determine compliance with the contaminant levels specified by the Pollution Control Board. The maximum

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

number of samples which the Agency shall be required to analyze for microbiological quality shall be 6 per month, but the Agency may, at its option, analyze a larger number each month for any supply. Results of sample analyses for additional required bacteriological testing, turbidity, residual chlorine and radionuclides are to be provided to the Agency in accordance with Section 19. Owners of water supplies may enter into agreements with the Agency to provide for reduced Agency participation in sample analyses.

- (q) The Agency shall have the authority to provide notice to any person who may be liable pursuant to Section 22.2(f) of this Act for a release or a substantial threat of a release of a hazardous substance or pesticide. Such notice shall include the identified response action and an opportunity for such person to perform the response action.
- (r) The Agency may enter into written delegation agreements with any unit of local government under which it may delegate all or portions of its inspecting, investigating and enforcement functions. Such delegation agreements shall require that work performed thereunder be in accordance with Agency criteria and subject to Agency review. Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, no unit of local government shall be liable for any injury resulting from the exercise of its authority pursuant to such a delegation agreement unless the injury is proximately caused by the willful and wanton negligence of an agent or employee of the

Public Act 099-0937

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

unit of local government, and any policy of insurance coverage issued to a unit of local government may provide for the denial of liability and the nonpayment of claims based upon injuries for which the unit of local government is not liable pursuant to this subsection (r).

- (s) The Agency shall have authority to take whatever preventive or corrective action is necessary or appropriate, including but not limited to expenditure of monies appropriated from the Build Illinois Bond Fund and the Build Illinois Purposes Fund for removal or remedial action, whenever any hazardous substance or pesticide is released or there is a substantial threat of such a release into the environment. The State, the Director, and any State employee shall be indemnified for any damages or injury arising out of or resulting from any action taken under this subsection. The Director of the Agency is authorized to enter into such contracts and agreements as are necessary to carry out the Agency's duties under this subsection.
- (t) The Agency shall have authority to distribute grants, subject to appropriation by the General Assembly, to units of local government for financing and construction of wastewater facilities in both incorporated and unincorporated areas. With respect to all monies appropriated from the Build Illinois Bond Fund and the Build Illinois Purposes Fund for wastewater facility grants, the Agency shall make distributions in conformity with the rules and regulations established pursuant

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

to the Anti-Pollution Bond Act, as now or hereafter amended.

- (u) Pursuant to the Illinois Administrative Procedure Act, the Agency shall have the authority to adopt such rules as are necessary or appropriate for the Agency to implement Section 31.1 of this Act.
  - (v) (Blank.)
- (w) Neither the State, nor the Director, nor the Board, nor any State employee shall be liable for any damages or injury arising out of or resulting from any action taken under subsection (s).
  - (x)(1) The Agency shall have authority to distribute grants, subject to appropriation by the General Assembly, to units of local government for financing and construction of public water supply facilities. With respect to all monies appropriated from the Build Illinois Bond Fund or the Build Illinois Purposes Fund for public water supply grants, such grants shall be made in accordance with rules promulgated by the Agency. Such rules shall include a requirement for a local match of 30% of the total project cost for projects funded through such grants.
  - (2) The Agency shall not terminate a grant to a unit of local government for the financing and construction of public water supply facilities unless and until the Agency adopts rules that set forth precise and complete standards, pursuant to Section 5-20 of the Illinois Administrative Procedure Act, for the termination of such grants. The

Public Act 099-0937

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

Agency shall not make determinations on whether specific grant conditions are necessary to ensure the integrity of a project or on whether subagreements shall be awarded, with respect to grants for the financing and construction of public water supply facilities, unless and until the Agency adopts rules that set forth precise and complete standards, pursuant to Section 5-20 of the Illinois Administrative Procedure Act, for making such determinations. The Agency shall not issue a stop-work order in relation to such grants unless and until the Agency adopts precise and complete standards, pursuant to Section 5-20 of the Illinois Administrative Procedure Act, for determining whether to issue a stop-work order.

- (y) The Agency shall have authority to release any person from further responsibility for preventive or corrective action under this Act following successful completion of preventive or corrective action undertaken by such person upon written request by the person.
- (z) To the extent permitted by any applicable federal law or regulation, for all work performed for State construction projects which are funded in whole or in part by a capital infrastructure bill enacted by the 96th General Assembly by sums appropriated to the Environmental Protection Agency, at least 50% of the total labor hours must be performed by actual residents of the State of Illinois. For purposes of this subsection, "actual residents of the State of Illinois" means

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

persons domiciled in the State of Illinois. The Department of Labor shall promulgate rules providing for the enforcement of this subsection.

(aa) The Agency may adopt rules requiring the electronic submission of any information required to be submitted to the Agency pursuant to any State or federal law or regulation or any court or Board order. Any rules adopted under this subsection (aa) must include, but are not limited to, identification of the information to be submitted electronically.

(Source: P.A. 98-72, eff. 7-15-13.)

(415 ILCS 5/5) (from Ch. 111 1/2, par. 1005)

Sec. 5. Pollution Control Board.

(a) There is hereby created an independent board to be known as the Pollution Control Board.

Until July 1, 2003 or when all of the new members to be initially appointed under this amendatory Act of the 93rd General Assembly have been appointed by the Governor, whichever occurs later, the Board shall consist of 7 technically qualified members, no more than 4 of whom may be of the same political party, to be appointed by the Governor with the advice and consent of the Senate.

The term of each appointed member of the Board who is in office on June 30, 2003 shall terminate at the close of business on that date or when all of the new members to be

Public Act 099-0937

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

initially appointed under this amendatory Act of the 93rd General Assembly have been appointed by the Governor, whichever occurs later.

Beginning on July 1, 2003 or when all of the new members to be initially appointed under this amendatory Act of the 93rd General Assembly have been appointed by the Governor, whichever occurs later, the Board shall consist of 5 technically qualified members, no more than 3 of whom may be of the same political party, to be appointed by the Governor with the advice and consent of the Senate. Members shall have verifiable technical, academic, or actual experience in the field of pollution control or environmental law and regulation.

Of the members initially appointed pursuant to this amendatory Act of the 93rd General Assembly, one shall be appointed for a term ending July 1, 2004, 2 shall be appointed for terms ending July 1, 2005, and 2 shall be appointed for terms ending July 1, 2006. Thereafter, all members shall hold office for 3 years from the first day of July in the year in which they were appointed, except in case of an appointment to fill a vacancy. In case of a vacancy in the office when the Senate is not in session, the Governor may make a temporary appointment until the next meeting of the Senate, when he or she shall nominate some person to fill such office; and any person so nominated, who is confirmed by the Senate, shall hold the office during the remainder of the term.

Members of the Board shall hold office until their

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

respective successors have been appointed and qualified. Any member may resign from office, such resignation to take effect when a successor has been appointed and has qualified.

Board members shall be paid \$37,000 per year or an amount set by the Compensation Review Board, whichever is greater, and the Chairman shall be paid \$43,000 per year or an amount set by the Compensation Review Board, whichever is greater. Each member shall devote his or her entire time to the duties of the office, and shall hold no other office or position of profit, nor engage in any other business, employment, or vocation. Each member shall be reimbursed for expenses necessarily incurred and shall make a financial disclosure upon appointment.

Each Board member may employ one secretary and one assistant, and the Chairman one secretary and 2 assistants. The Board also may employ and compensate hearing officers to preside at hearings under this Act, and such other personnel as may be necessary. Hearing officers shall be attorneys licensed to practice law in Illinois.

The Board may have an Executive Director; if so, the Executive Director shall be appointed by the Governor with the advice and consent of the Senate. The salary and duties of the Executive Director shall be fixed by the Board.

The Governor shall designate one Board member to be Chairman, who shall serve at the pleasure of the Governor.

The Board shall hold at least one meeting each month and such additional meetings as may be prescribed by Board rules.

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

In addition, special meetings may be called by the Chairman or by any 2 Board members, upon delivery of 24 hours written notice to the office of each member. All Board meetings shall be open to the public, and public notice of all meetings shall be given at least 24 hours in advance of each meeting. In emergency situations in which a majority of the Board certifies that exigencies of time require the requirements of public notice and of 24 hour written notice to members may be dispensed with, and Board members shall receive such notice as is reasonable under the circumstances.

If there is no vacancy on the Board, 4 members of the Board shall constitute a quorum to transact business; otherwise, a majority of the Board shall constitute a quorum to transact business, and no vacancy shall impair the right of the remaining members to exercise all of the powers of the Board. Every action approved by a majority of the members of the Board shall be deemed to be the action of the Board. The Board shall keep a complete and accurate record of all its meetings.

- (b) The Board shall determine, define and implement the environmental control standards applicable in the State of Illinois and may adopt rules and regulations in accordance with Title VII of this Act.
- (c) The Board shall have authority to act for the State in regard to the adoption of standards for submission to the United States under any federal law respecting environmental protection. Such standards shall be adopted in accordance with

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

Title VII of the Act and upon adoption shall be forwarded to the Environmental Protection Agency for submission to the United States pursuant to subsections (1) and (m) of Section 4 of this Act. Nothing in this paragraph shall limit the discretion of the Governor to delegate authority granted to the Governor under any federal law.

- (d) The Board shall have authority to conduct proceedings upon complaints charging violations of this Act, any rule or regulation adopted under this Act, any permit or term or condition of a permit, or any Board order; upon administrative citations; upon petitions for variances, ex adjusted standards, or time-limited water quality standards; upon petitions for review of the Agency's final determinations on permit applications in accordance with Title X of this Act; upon petitions to remove seals under Section 34 of this Act; and upon other petitions for review of final determinations which are made pursuant to this Act or Board rule and which involve a subject which the Board is authorized to regulate. The Board may also conduct other proceedings as may be provided by this Act or any other statute or rule.
- (e) In connection with any proceeding pursuant to subsection (b) or (d) of this Section, the Board may subpoena and compel the attendance of witnesses and the production of evidence reasonably necessary to resolution of the matter under consideration. The Board shall issue such subpoenas upon the request of any party to a proceeding under subsection (d) of

Public Act 099-0937

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

this Section or upon its own motion.

(f) The Board may prescribe reasonable fees for permits required pursuant to this Act. Such fees in the aggregate may not exceed the total cost to the Agency for its inspection and permit systems. The Board may not prescribe any permit fees which are different in amount from those established by this Act.

(Source: P.A. 95-331, eff. 8-21-07.)

(415 ILCS 5/7.5) (from Ch. 111 1/2, par. 1007.5)

Sec. 7.5. Filing Fees.

(a) The Board shall collect filing fees as prescribed in this Act. The fees shall be deposited in the Pollution Control Board Fund. The filing fees shall be as follows:

Petition for site-specific regulation, \$75.

Petition for variance, \$75.

Petition for review of permit, \$75.

Petition to contest local government decision pursuant to Section 40.1, \$75.

Petition for an adjusted standard, pursuant to Section 28.1, \$75.

Petition for a time-limited water quality standard, \$75 per petitioner.

(b) A person who has filed a petition for a variance from a water quality standard and paid the filing fee set forth in subsection (a) of this Section for that petition and whose

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

variance petition is thereafter converted into a petition for a time-limited water quality standard under Section 38.5 of this Act shall not be required to pay a separate filing fee upon the conversion of the variance petition into a petition for a time-limited water quality standard.

(Source: P.A. 85-1440.)

(415 ILCS 5/29) (from Ch. 111 1/2, par. 1029)

Sec. 29. (a) Any person adversely affected or threatened by any rule or regulation of the Board may obtain a determination of the validity or application of such rule or regulation by petition for review under Section 41 of this Act.

- (b) Action by the Board in adopting any regulation for which judicial review could have been obtained under Section 41 of this Act shall not be subject to review regarding the regulation's validity or application in any subsequent proceeding under Title VIII, Title IX or Section 40 of this Act.
- (c) This Section does not apply to orders entered by the Board pursuant to Section 38.5 of this Act. Final orders entered by the Board pursuant to Section 38.5 of this Act are subject to judicial review under subsection (j) of that Section. Interim orders entered by the Board pursuant to Section 38.5 are not subject to judicial review under this Section or Section 38.5.

(Source: P.A. 85-1048.)

Public Act 099-0937

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

(415 ILCS 5/Tit. IX heading)

TITLE IX: VARIANCES AND TIME-LIMITED WATER QUALITY STANDARDS

(415 ILCS 5/38.5 new)

Sec. 38.5. Time-limited water quality standards.

- (a) To the extent consistent with the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, rules adopted by the United States Environmental Protection Agency under that Act, this Section, and rules adopted by the Board under this Section, the Board may adopt, and may conduct non-adjudicatory proceedings to adopt, a time-limited water quality standard for a watershed or one or more of the following:
  - (1) water bodies;
  - (2) waterbody segments; or
  - (3) dischargers.
  - (b) A time-limited water quality standard may be sought by:
  - (1) persons who file with the Board a petition for a time-limited water quality standard under this Section; and
  - (2) persons who have a petition for a variance from a water quality standard under Section 35 of this Act converted into a petition for a time-limited water quality standard under subsection (c) of this Section.
  - (c) Any petition for a variance from a water quality

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

Standard under Section 35 of this Act that was filed with the Board before the effective date of this amendatory Act of the 99th General Assembly and that has not been disposed of by the Board shall be converted, by operation of law, into a petition for a time-limited water quality standard under this Section on the effective date of this amendatory Act of the 99th General Assembly.

- (d) The Board's hearings concerning the adoption of time-limited water quality standards shall be open to the public and must be held in compliance with 40 CFR 131.14, including, but not limited to, the public notice and participation requirements referenced in 40 CFR 25 and 40 CFR 131.20(b); this Section; and rules adopted by the Board under this Section.
- (e) Within 21 days after any petition for a time-limited water quality standard is filed with the Board under this Section, or within 21 days after the effective date of this amendatory Act of the 99th General Assembly in the case of a petition for time-limited water quality standard created under subsection (c) of this Section, the Agency shall file with the Board a response that:
  - (1) identifies the discharger or classes of dischargers affected by the water quality standard from which relief is sought;
  - (2) identifies the watershed, water bodies, or waterbody segments affected by the water quality standard

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

#### from which relief is sought;

- (3) identifies the appropriate type of time-limited water quality standard, based on factors, such as the nature of the pollutant, the condition of the affected water body, and the number and type of dischargers; and
- (4) recommends, for the purposes of subsection (h), prompt deadlines for the classes of dischargers to file a substantially compliant petition.
- (f) Within 30 days after receipt of a response from the Agency under subsection (e) of this Section, the Board shall enter a final order that establishes the discharger or classes of dischargers that may be covered by the time-limited water quality standard and prompt deadlines by which the discharger and dischargers in the identified classes must, for the purposes of subsection (h), file with the Board either:
  - (1) a petition for a time-limited water quality standard, if the petition has not been previously filed; or
  - (2) an amended petition for a time-limited water quality standard, if the petition has been previously filed and it is necessary to file an amended petition to maintain a stay under paragraph (3) of subsection (h) of this Section.
- (g) As soon as practicable after entering an order under subsection (f), the Board shall conduct an evaluation of the petition to assess its substantial compliance with 40 CFR 131.14, this Section, and rules adopted pursuant to this

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

Section. After the Board determines that a petition is in substantial compliance with those requirements, the Agency shall file a recommendation concerning the petition.

- (h) (1) The effectiveness of a water quality standard from which relief is sought shall be stayed as to the following persons from the effective date of the water quality standard until the stay is terminated as provided in this subsection:
  - (A) any person who has a petition for a variance seeking relief from a water quality standard under Section 35 of this Act converted into a petition for a time-limited water quality standard under subsection (c) of this Section;
  - (B) any person who files a petition for a time-limited water quality standard within 35 days after the effective date of the water quality standard from which relief is sought; and
  - (C) any person, not covered by subparagraph (B) of this subsection, who is a member of a class of dischargers that is identified in a Board order under subsection (f) that concerns a petition for a time-limited water quality standard that was filed within 35 days after the effective date of the water quality standard from which relief is sought and who files a petition for a time-limited water quality standard before the deadline established for that class under subsection (f) of this Section.

Public Act 099-0937

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

- (2) If the Board determines that the petition of a person described in paragraph (1) of this subsection is in substantial compliance, then the stay shall continue until the Board:
  - (A) denies the petition and all rights to judicial review of the Board order denying the petition are exhausted; or
  - (B) adopts the time-limited water quality standard and the United States Environmental Protection Agency either:
    - (i) approves the time-limited water quality standard; or
    - (ii) disapproves the time-limited water quality standard for failure to comply with 40 CFR 131.14.
- (3) If the Board determines that the petition of a person described in paragraph (1) of this subsection is not in substantial compliance, then the Board shall enter an interim order that identifies the deficiencies in the petition that must be corrected for the petition to be in substantial compliance. The petitioner must file an amended petition by the deadlines adopted by the Board pursuant to subsection (f), and the Board shall enter, after the applicable Board-established deadline, a final order that determines whether the amended petition is in substantial compliance.

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

- (4) If the Board determines that the amended petition described in paragraph (3) of this subsection is in substantial compliance, then the stay shall continue until the Board:
  - (A) denies the petition and all rights to judicial review of the Board order denying the petition are exhausted; or
  - (B) adopts the time-limited water quality standard and the United States Environmental Protection Agency either:
    - (i) approves the time-limited water quality
      standard; or
    - (ii) disapproves the time-limited water quality standard for failure to comply with 40 CFR 131.14.
- (5) If the Board determines that the amended petition described in paragraph (3) of this subsection is not in substantial compliance by the Board-established deadline, the Board shall deny the petition and the stay shall continue until all rights to judicial review are exhausted.
- (6) If the Board determines that a petition for a time-limited water quality standard is not in substantial compliance and if the person fails to file, on or before the Board-established deadline, an amended petition, the Board shall dismiss the petition and the stay shall continue until all rights to judicial review are exhausted.

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

- (7) If a person other than a person described in paragraph (1) of subsection (h) of this Section files a petition for a time-limited water quality standard, then the effectiveness of the water quality standard from which relief is sought shall not be stayed as to that person. However, the person may seek a time-limited water quality standard from the Board by complying with 40 CFR 131.14, this Section, and rules adopted pursuant to this Section.
- (i) Each time-limited water quality standard adopted by the Board for more than one discharger shall set forth criteria that may be used by dischargers or classes of dischargers to obtain coverage under the time-limited water quality standard during its duration. Any discharger that has not obtained a time-limited water quality standard may obtain coverage under a Board-approved time-limited water quality standard by satisfying, at the time of the renewal or modification of that person's federal National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit or at the time the person files an application for certification under Section 401 of the federal Clean Water Act, the Board-approved criteria for coverage under the time-limited water quality standard.
- (j) Any person who is adversely affected or threatened by a final Board order entered pursuant to this Section may obtain judicial review of the Board order by filing a petition for review within 35 days after the date the Board order was served on the person affected by the order, under the provisions of

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

the Administrative Review Law, and the rules adopted pursuant thereto, except that review shall be afforded directly in the appellate court for the district in which the cause of action arose and not in the circuit court. For purposes of judicial review under this subsection, a person is deemed to have been served with the Board's final order on the date on which the order is first published by the Board on its website.

No challenge to the validity of a final Board order under this Section shall be made in any enforcement proceeding under Title XII of this Act as to any issue that could have been raised in a timely petition for review under this subsection.

(k) Not later than 6 months after the effective date of this amendatory Act of the 99th General Assembly, the Agency shall propose, and not later than 9 months thereafter the Board shall adopt, rules that prescribe specific procedures and standards to be used by the Board when adopting time-limited water quality standards. The public notice and participation requirements in 40 CFR 25 and 40 CFR 131.20(b) shall be incorporated into the rules adopted under this subsection.

Until the rules adopted under this subsection are effective, the Board may adopt time-limited water quality standards to the full extent allowed under this Section and 40 C.F.R. 131.14.

(1) Section 5-35 of the Illinois Administrative Procedure

Act, Title VII of this Act, and the other Sections in Title IX

of this Act do not apply to Board proceedings under this

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

Section.

(415 ILCS 5/41) (from Ch. 111 1/2, par. 1041) Sec. 41. Judicial review.

- (a) Any party to a Board hearing, any person who filed a complaint on which a hearing was denied, any person who has been denied a variance or permit under this Act, any party adversely affected by a final order or determination of the Board, and any person who participated in the public comment process under subsection (8) of Section 39.5 of this Act may obtain judicial review, by filing a petition for review within 35 days from the date that a copy of the order or other final action sought to be reviewed was served upon the party affected by the order or other final Board action complained of, under the provisions of the Administrative Review Law, as amended and the rules adopted pursuant thereto, except that review shall be afforded directly in the Appellate Court for the District in which the cause of action arose and not in the Circuit Court, Review of any rule or regulation promulgated by the Board shall not be limited by this section but may also be had as provided in Section 29 of this Act.
- (b) Any final order of the Board under this Act shall be based solely on the evidence in the record of the particular proceeding involved, and any such final order for permit appeals, enforcement actions and variance proceedings, shall be invalid if it is against the manifest weight of the

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

evidence. Notwithstanding this subsection, the Board may include such conditions in granting a variance and may adopt such rules and regulations as the policies of this Act may require. If an objection is made to a variance condition, the board shall reconsider the condition within not more than 75 days from the date of the objection.

- (c) No challenge to the validity of a Board order shall be made in any enforcement proceeding under Title XII of this Act as to any issue that could have been raised in a timely petition for review under this Section.
- days on a request for a variance which is subject to subsection (c) of Section 38 or a permit appeal which is subject to paragraph (a) (3) of Section 40 or paragraph (d) of Section 40.2 or Section 40.3, the petitioner shall be entitled to an Appellate Court order under this subsection. If a hearing is required under this Act and was not held by the Board, the Appellate Court shall order the Board to conduct such a hearing, and to make a decision within 90 days from the date of the order. If a hearing was held by the Board, or if a hearing is not required under this Act and was not held by the Board, the Appellate Court shall order the Board to make a decision within 90 days from the date of the Appellate Court shall order the Board to make a decision within 90 days from the date of the order.

The Appellate Court shall retain jurisdiction during the pendency of any further action conducted by the Board under an order by the Appellate Court. The Appellate Court shall have

Public Act 099-0937

SB1673 Enrolled

LRB099 09842 MGM 30054 b

jurisdiction to review all issues of law and fact presented upon appeal.

(e) This Section does not apply to orders entered by the Board pursuant to Section 38.5 of this Act. Final orders entered by the Board pursuant to Section 38.5 of this Act are subject to judicial review under subsection (j) of that Section. Interim orders entered by the Board pursuant to Section 38.5 are not subject to judicial review under this Section or Section 38.5.

(Source: P.A. 99-463, eff. 1-1-16.)

Section 99. Effective date. This Act takes effect upon becoming law.

## TITLE 35: ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION SUBTITLE A: GENERAL PROVISIONS CHAPTER I: POLLUTION CONTROL BOARD

## PART 104 REGULATORY RELIEF MECHANISMS

## SUBPART A: GENERAL PROVISIONS

Section

104.100	Applicability
104.102	Severability
104.104	Definitions
104.106	Petitions and Hearings
	SUBPART B: VARIANCES
Section	
104.200	General
104.202	Filing Requirements
104.204	Petition Content Requirements
104.206	Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) Variance Petition Contents
104.208	Consistency with Federal Law
104.210	Petition for Extension of Variance
104.212	Motion for Modification of Internal Variance Compliance Dates
104.214	Notice of Petition
104.216	Agency Investigation and Recommendation
104.218	Agency Recommendation to RCRA Variance
104,220	Response to Agency Recommendation
104.222	Stipulations
104.224	Objections to Petition, Written Comments and Request for Hearing
104.226	Amended Petition and Amended Recommendation
104.228	Insufficient Petition
104.230	Dismissal of Petition
104.232	Calculation of Decision Deadline
104.234	Hearing
104.236	Hearing Procedures
104.238	Standard of Review
104.240	Certificate of Acceptance
104.242	Term of Variance
104.244	Variance Conditions
104.246	Performance Bonds
104.248	Objection to Conditions

SUBPART C: PROVISIONAL VARIANCES

Section	
104.300	Applicability
104.300	
	Agency Action
104.304	Initiating a Request
104.306	Filing and Notice
104.308	Term
104.310	Simultaneous Variance Prohibition (Repealed)
	SUBPART D: ADJUSTED STANDARDS
Section	
104.400	General
104.402	Initiation of Proceeding
104.404	Request to Agency to Join as Co-Petitioner
104.406	Petition Content Requirements
104.408	Petition Notice Requirements
104.410	Proof of Petition Notice Requirements
104.412	Effect of Filing a Petition: Stay
104.414	Dismissal of Petition
104.416	Agency Recommendation and Petitioner Response
104.418	Amended Petition, Amended Recommendation, and Amended Response
104.420	Request for Public Hearing
104.422	Public Hearing
104.424	Hearing Notice
104.426	Burden of Proof
104.428	Board Action
	SUBPART E: TIME-LIMITED WATER QUALITY STANDARDS
Section	
104.500	Purpose
104.505	Applicability and Use
104.510	Severability
104.515	<u>Definitions</u>
104.520	General Procedures
104.525	Stay
104.530	Petition Contents
104.535	Agency Response
104.540	Board Established Classes and Deadlines
104.545	Substantial Compliance Assessment
104.550	Recommendation and Response
104.555	<u>Hearing</u>
104.560	Burden of Proof
104.565	Opinion and Order
104.570	USEPA Approval
104.575	Coverage Under Existing Time-Limited Water Quality Standards

104.580	Reevaluation	
104.585	Appeal Rights	
104.590	Extension	

AUTHORITY: Subparts B and C: Implementing Sections 5, 35, 36, 37 and 38 of the Environmental Protection Act (Act) [415 ILCS 5/5, 35, 36, 37, and 38] and authorized by Sections 26 and 27 of the Act [415 ILCS 5/26 and 27]. Subpart D: Implementing Sections 5, 14.2(c), 22.4, 27, 28, 28.1, 28.5 and 39.5 of the Act [415 ILCS 5/5, 14.2(c), 22.4, 27, 28, 28.1, 28.5 and 39.5] and authorized by Sections 26 and 27 of the Act [415 ILCS 5/26 and 27]. Subpart E: Implementing and authorized by Sections 4, 5, and 38.5 of the Act [415 ILCS 5/5 and 38.5].

SOURCE: Subpart B: Originally adopted as Chapter I: Procedural Rules, Part IV: Variances, in R70-4, at 1 PCB 43, October 8, 1970; amended in R77-16, 29 PCB 503, at 2 III. Reg. 16, p. 3, effective May 1974; amended in R79-9, 35 PCB 433, at 3 III. Reg. 51, p. 128, effective December 7, 1979; amended in R80-12, 40 PCB 451, at 5 III. Reg. 2763, effective March 2, 1981; codified at 6 III. Reg. 8357; amended in R84-10, 62 PCB 87, at 9 III. Reg. 1409, effective January 16, 1985; old Part repealed, new Part adopted in R00-20 at 25 III. Reg. 613, effective January 1, 2001; amended in R04-24 at 29 III. Reg. 8803, effective June 8, 2005; amended in R14-21 at 39 III. Reg. 2357, effective January 27, 2015; amended in R15-20 at 39 III. Reg. 12905, effective September 8, 2015; amended in R16-17 at 40 III. Reg. 7973, effective May 20, 2016; amended in \_\_\_\_\_ at \_\_ III. Reg. \_\_\_\_\_, effective \_\_\_\_\_\_.

## SUBPART E: TIME-LIMITED WATER QUALITY STANDARD

# Section 104.500 Purpose

- a) This Subpart sets forth procedures for obtaining a time-limited water quality standard. A time-limited water quality standard provides relief from water quality standards as set forth in 35 III Adm. Code 302 and 303.
- b) This Subpart must be read in conjunction with 35 III. Adm. Code 101. In the event of a conflict between the requirements of 35 III. Adm. Code 101 and those of this Subpart, the provisions of this Subpart apply.

(Source: Added at III. Reg, effective	)
---------------------------------------	---

#### Section 104.505 Applicability and Use

- <u>A time-limited water quality standard proceeding is a non-adjudicatory proceeding.</u>
- b) A time-limited water quality standard may be adopted for a single discharger, multiple dischargers, a watershed, water body, or a waterbody segment.
- <u>C)</u> The extent and coverage of a time-limited water quality standard shall be set forth in the Board's order as specified in Section 104.565 of this Part.

d)	A time-limited water quality standard, once adopted by the Board and approved
	by United States Environmental Protection Agency, shall be the applicable
	standard for the purposes of the Clean Water Act in developing National Pollutant
	Discharge Elimination System permit limits and requirements pursuant to 35 Ill.
	Adm. Code Part 309 for the term of the time-limited water quality standard. Any
	limitations and requirements necessary to implement the time-limited water
	quality standard shall be included as enforceable conditions of the National
	Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permit for any permittee granted
	coverage under the time-limited water quality standard by the Board or Agency.

<u>e)</u>	The Agency may use an approved time-limited water quality standard when
	issuing certifications under Section 401 of the Clean Water Act.

(Source:	Added at	_ Ill. Reg	, effective	)
----------	----------	------------	-------------	---

## Section 104.510 Severability

If any provision of this Part or its application to any person is adjudged invalid, the adjudication does not affect the validity of this Part as a whole or of any portion not adjudged invalid.

(Source:	Added	at	Ill. Reg	, effective	
----------	-------	----	----------	-------------	--

## Section 104.515 Definitions

- a) Unless defined in subsection (b) of this Section, words shall have the meaning as defined in the Act and 35 Ill. Adm. Code 101. Subpart B.
- b) The following definitions shall apply to this subpart:

A "time-limited water quality standard" means a time-limited designated use and criterion for a specific pollutant or water quality parameter that reflects the highest attainable condition during the term of the time-limited water quality standard.

"Pollutant minimization program" means a structured set of activities to improve processes and pollutant controls that will prevent and reduce pollutant loading.

	1	Source:	Added at _	III. Reg.	, effective	
--	---	---------	------------	-----------	-------------	--

#### Section 104.520 General Procedures

<u>A time-limited water quality standard may be sought for multiple uses and multiple parameters by:</u>

- 1) persons who file with the Board a petition for a time-limited water quality standard under Section 38.5 of the Act; and
- 2) persons who have a pending petition on February 24, 2017 for a variance from a water quality standard under Section 35 of the Act converted into a petition for a time-limited water quality standard pursuant to Section 38.5 of the Act.

#### b) Parties

- 1) Petitioner.
  - A) For a single discharger time-limited water quality standard, the person seeking the time-limited water quality standard must be named the Petitioner.
  - B) For multiple discharger, watershed, waterbody, and waterbody segment time-limited water quality standard, all dischargers seeking the time-limited water quality standard may act collectively as a single petitioner after the Board has established classes pursuant to Section 104.540.
- 2) The Agency shall be a participant.
- 3) Any person may become a participant in the time-limited water quality standard proceeding.
- 4) The Board shall develop and maintain a notice list of persons and organizations that have expressed an interest in or may, by the nature of their purposes, activities or members, be affected by any covered activity. The Board shall include in the notice list all dischargers or classes of dischargers affected by the water quality standard requested in the petition or amended petition as identified by the Agency pursuant to Section 104.535(b)(1).
- <u>Filing and Service. Unless otherwise provided by this Part, all documents must be served and filed in accordance with 35 Ill. Adm. Code 101.Subpart C.</u>

BOARD NOTE: The Board encourages persons addressing the same pollutants in the same waterbody, waterbody segment or watershed to join in filing a joint petition whenever possible, collectively satisfying the burden of proof as outlined in Section 104.555. When multiple petitions addressing the same pollutants in the same waterbody, waterbody segment or watershed are filed separately, the Board may join additional parties pursuant to 35 Ill. Adm. Code 101.403 and/or to consolidate the petitions pursuant to 35 Ill. Adm. code 101.406. The Board also may incorporate materials and evidence

filed in support of one	petition as evidence	in support of a	petition	addressing	similar
issues. 35 Ill. Adm. Co.	de 101.306.				

(Source: Add	ied at Ill. R	leg, effective	ve)
--------------	---------------	----------------	-----

#### Section 104.525 Stay

- a) The effectiveness of a water quality standard from which relief is sought shall be stayed as to the following persons from the effective date of the water quality standard until the stay is terminated as provided in this Section:
  - any person who has a petition for a variance seeking relief from a water quality standard under Section 35 of the Act converted into a petition for a time-limited water quality standard under Section 38.5 of the Act;
  - any person who files a petition for a time-limited water quality standard within 35 days after the effective date of the water quality standard from which relief is sought; and
  - any person who is a member of a class of dischargers that is identified in a Board order under Section 104.540 of this Part that concerns a petition for a time-limited water quality standard that was filed within 35 days after the effective date of the water quality standard from which relief is sought and who files a petition for a time-limited water quality standard before the deadline established for that class under Section 104.540 of this Part.
- b) For any person for which the effectiveness of the water quality standard is stayed under subsection (a), and the Board has determined that his or her petition is in substantial compliance as provided in Section 104.545, the stay shall continue until the Board:
  - denies the petition and all rights to judicial review of the Board's order denying the petition are exhausted; or
  - 2) adopts the time-limited water quality standard and the United States Environmental Protection Agency either:
    - approves the time-limited water quality standard; or
    - B) disapproves the time-limited water quality standard for failure to comply with 40 C.F.R. 131.14.
- c) For any person for which the effectiveness of the water quality standard is stayed under subsection (a), and the Board has determined that his or her petition is not in substantial compliance as provided in Section 104.545, the following shall apply:

- 1) if the person files an amended petition by the deadline established by the Board in Section 104.540, and the amended petition is in substantial compliance as provided in Section 104.545 then the stay shall continue until the Board:
  - A) denies the petition and all rights to judicial review of the Board's order denying the petition are exhausted; or
  - B) adopts the time-limited water quality standard and the United States Environmental Protection Agency either:
    - i) approves the time-limited water quality standard; or
    - ii) disapproves the time-limited water quality standard for failure to comply with 40 C.F.R. 131.14.
- 2) if the person files an amended petition by the deadline established by the Board in Section 104.540, but the amended petition is not in substantial compliance as provided in Section 104.545, then the Board shall deny the amended petition, and the stay shall continue until all rights to judicial review are exhausted.
- 3) if the person fails to file an amended petition by the deadline established by the Board in Section 104.540, the Board shall dismiss the original petition and the stay shall continue until all rights to judicial review are exhausted.
- d) If a person other than a person described in subsection (a) of this Section files a petition for a time-limited water quality standard, then the effectiveness of the water quality standard from which relief is sought shall not be stayed as to that person, but the person may proceed with his or her petition for a time-limited water quality standard by complying with 40 C.F.R. 131.14, Section 38.5 of the Act, and the rules under this Part.

(Source: A	Added at .	III. Reg	, effective	
------------	------------	----------	-------------	--

# Section 104.530 Petition Contents

- a) All time-limited water quality standard petitions or amended petitions must include:
  - 1) A statement indicating the type of time-limited water quality standard sought:
    - A) single discharger,

- B) multiple dischargers, or
- C) watershed, water body, or waterbody segment;
- 2) identification of the pollutant or water quality parameter for which a timelimited water quality standard is sought;
- 3) the location of the petitioner's activity and the location of the points of its discharge;
- <u>a map of the proposed watershed, water body or waterbody segment to</u> which the time-limited water quality standard will apply;
- designated uses of the waterbody or waterbody segment identified in subsection (a)(4) of this Section;
- data describing the nature and extent of the present or anticipated failure to meet the water quality standard or standards and facts that support compliance with the water quality standards regulation or regulations cannot be achieved by any required compliance date;
- a demonstration that attainment of the designated use(s) and criterion(ia) is not feasible throughout the term of the time-limited water quality standard because of one or more of the factors listed in Section 104.560(b) of this Part.
- 8) an identification, including the Board's docket number, of any prior water quality standards variances/time-limited water quality standards issued to the petitioner, watershed, water body, waterbody segment, and if known, the petitioner's predecessors, concerning similar relief;
- 9) an identification, by name and permit number, of the permits held by dischargers which may be affected by the adoption of the time-limited water quality standard;
- an identification and description of any process, activity, or source that contributes to a violation of a water quality standard, including the material used in that process or activity
- 11) a description and copy of all pollution minimization plans currently being implemented or have been implemented;
- the proposed highest attainable condition of the watershed, water body, or waterbody segment identified in subsection (a)(4) expressed as set forth in Section 104.565(d)(4), including projected changes in the highest

- attainable condition throughout the proposed term of the time-limited water quality standard;
- a demonstration of the pollutant control activities proposed to achieve the highest attainable condition, including those activities identified through a Pollutant Minimization Program;
- the proposed term of the time-limited water quality standard that is only as long as necessary to achieve the highest attainable condition, which includes a description of the relationship between the proposed pollution control activities and the proposed term;
- a proposed reevaluation schedule to reevaluate the highest attainable condition during the term of the time-limited water quality standard if the proposed term of the time-limited water quality standard is longer than five years pursuant to Section 104.580; and
- any other documentation required to support the petitioner's burden of proof in Section 104.560 of this Part.
- b) For a watershed, water body or waterbody segment time-limited water quality standard, the petition or amended petition must also include:
  - identification and documentation of any cost-effective and reasonable best management practices for non-point source controls related to the pollutant or water quality parameter and watershed, water body, or waterbody segment specified in the time-limited water quality standard that could be implemented to make progress towards attaining the underlying designated use and criterion; and
  - 2) if the petition is for an extension of an existing water quality standard, an explanation of the extent best management practices for non-point source controls were implemented to address the pollutant or water quality parameter subject to the time-limited water quality standard and the water quality progress achieved.
- For a watershed, water body or waterbody segment time-limited water quality standard, the petition or amended petition may also include proposed eligibility criteria to be adopted by the Board to be used at the time of renewal or modification of an individual's federal National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permit or at the time an individual files an application for certification under Section 401 of the federal Clean Water Act to obtain coverage under a Board-approved time-limited water quality standard.
- d) For a multiple discharger time-limited water quality standard, the petition may include proposed eligibility criteria to be adopted by the Board to be used at the

time of renewal or modification of an individual's federal National Pollutant
Discharge Elimination System permit or at the time an individual files an
application for certification under Section 401 of the federal Clean Water Act to
obtain coverage under a Board-approved time-limited water quality standard.

(Source: Added at III. Reg. , effective	)
---	---

#### Section 104.535 Agency Response

- a) The Agency must file a response with the Board within 21 days after the filing of the initial petition.
- b) The Agency response must:
  - identify the discharger or classes of dischargers, including applicable permit numbers, affected by the water quality standard or standards from which relief is sought in the petition;
  - identify the watershed, water bodies, or waterbody segments, including the receiving stream, affected by the water quality standard or standards from which relief is sought in the petition;
  - 3) identify the appropriate type of time-limited water quality standard, based on factors, such as the nature of the pollutant, the condition of the affected water body, and the number and type of dischargers; and
  - 4) recommend prompt deadlines by which each class of dischargers identified in subsection (b)(1) must file a substantially compliant petition to stay the effectiveness of a water quality standard or standards pursuant to Section 104.525.
- c) The petitioner or any person may file a question or response to the Agency's response within 14 days after the Agency files its response.

1	(Source:	Added at	III. Reg.	. effective	1
7	Douite.	Audeu at	III. ILCE.	CHICCHIAC	

#### Section 104.540 Board Established Classes and Deadlines

Within 30 days after receipt of a response from the Agency under Section 104.535 of this Part, the Board shall enter a final order which delineates the geographic scope of the time-limited water quality standard, and establishes the discharger or classes of dischargers that may be covered by the time-limited water quality standard and prompt deadlines by which the discharger and dischargers in the identified classes must, for the purposes of the stay, file with the Board either:

- a petition for a time-limited water quality standard, if the petition has not been previously filed; or
- an amended petition for a time-limited water quality standard, if the petition has been previously filed and it is necessary to file an amended petition to maintain a stay under Section 104.525 of this Part.

(Source:	Added at	III. Reg.	, effective	)
----------	----------	-----------	-------------	---

#### Section 104.545 Substantial Compliance Assessment

- <u>As soon as practicable after entering an order under Section 104.540 of this Part,</u> the Board shall conduct an evaluation of the petition to assess its substantial compliance with Section 104.530.
- If the Board determines in a final order that the petition is in substantial compliance, the Agency shall file a recommendation pursuant to Section 104.550.
- c) If the Board determines in an interim order that the petition is not in substantial compliance, then the Board shall identify the deficiencies in the petition that must be corrected for the petition to be in substantial compliance with Section 104.530.
- d) If effectiveness of the water quality standard from which relief is sought is stayed pursuant to Section 104,525 and the Board determines in an interim order that the petition is not in substantial compliance then:
  - the petitioner must file an amended petition by the deadlines adopted by the Board pursuant to Section 104.540 of this Part; and
  - 2) the Board shall enter, after the deadlines established pursuant to Section 104.540, a final order that determines whether the amended petition is in substantial compliance with Section 104.530
- e) Any party may file a motion for reconsideration pursuant to 35 III. Adm. Code 101.520 of a final Board order determining whether the amended petition is in substantial compliance with Section 104.530 of this Part.

(Source:	Added at	III, Reg.	, effective	
----------	----------	-----------	-------------	--

#### Section 104.550 Recommendation and Response

a) Unless otherwise ordered by the hearing officer or the Board, the Agency must file a recommendation with the Board within 45 days after the Board determines that a petition is in substantial compliance pursuant to Section 104.545.

b)	At a minimum	the recommendation	must include:
<u>U</u>	At a minimum,	me recommendation	must menude.

- The Agency's analysis of
  - A) whether the petitioner met its burden of proof as specified in Section 104.560 of this Part, including petitioner's proposed highest attainable condition of the watershed, water body, or waterbody segment;
  - B) whether the proposed time-limited water quality standard is consistent with applicable federal laws and regulations, and satisfies the requirements of Section 38.5 of the Act and the rules under this Part; and
  - C) the petitioner's proposed eligibility criteria to be adopted by the Board to be used at the time of renewal or modification of an individual's federal National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permit or at the time an individual files an application for certification under Section 401 of the federal Clean Water Act to obtain coverage under a Board-approved time-limited water quality standard, when applicable;
- any information the Agency believes relevant to the disposition of the petition, including any past or pending enforcement actions against petitioner;
- whether the Board should adopt, adopt with conditions, or deny the petitioner's requested time-limited water quality standard; and
- the Agency's recommended term of the time-limited water quality standard.
- <u>c)</u> The petitioner or any person may file a question or response to the Agency's recommendation within 14 days after the Agency files its recommendation.
- d) Concurrent with the filing of the recommendation with the Board, the Agency shall transmit a copy of its recommendation, including a copy of the time-limited water quality standard petition, to USEPA.

(Source: A	Added at	III. Reg	_, effective	
------------	----------	----------	--------------	--

#### Section 104.555 Hearing

a) The Board shall hold a public hearing on the petition.

## b) Hearing Notice

- 1) The Hearing Officer will schedule the hearing, and give the petitioner, participants and those individuals on the notice list maintained by the Board pursuant to Section 104.520(b)(4) at least 45 days written notice of a hearing.
- 2) The Clerk shall publicize notice both on the Board's website and in a newspaper of general circulation in the county where the facility or pollution source is located within 45 days of the hearing.
- 3) The notice shall identify the matters to be discussed at the hearing and shall include information on the availability of relevant materials and procedures for obtaining further information.
- 4) For a watershed, water body, or waterbody segment time-limited water quality standard, the notice shall include identification and documentation of any cost-effective and reasonable best management practices for nonpoint source controls related to the pollutant or water quality parameter and water body or waterbody segment specified in the petitioned time-limited water quality standard that could be implemented to make progress towards attaining the underlying designated use and criterion.
- <u>C)</u> The Board shall make the following available to the public at least 30 days before the hearing:
  - reports, documents, data relevant to the discussion at the public hearing;
  - the Agency recommendation; and
  - 3) for watershed, waterbody, and water body segment time-limited water quality standard petitions, the proposed best management practices for non-point source controls.
- <u>Except as otherwise provided in this Section, the hearings will be conducted pursuant to 35 III. Adm. Code 101.Subpart F.</u>
- e) The Hearing Officer shall schedule witnesses in advance to ensure maximum participation and allotment of adequate time. The Hearing Officer shall reserve some time for unscheduled testimony and may consider reserving blocks of time for major categories of witnesses.
- During the hearing, the Hearing Officer shall inform the audience of the issues involved in the decision to be made, the considerations the Board will take into account, and the information which is particularly solicited from the public.

- g) Public comments must be filed within 21 days after the hearing transcript is available unless the Hearing Officer specifies a different date. Any person may file written comments in a time-limited water quality standard.
- h) The Illinois EPA shall notify USEPA of the availability of the hearing transcript and inform USEPA of the comment deadline.

(Source:	Added at	III. Reg.	, effective	)
----------	----------	-----------	-------------	---

#### Section 104.560 Burden of Proof

- a) The burden of proof is on the petitioner.
- b) The petitioner must provide justification that attainment of the designated use and criterion is not feasible throughout the term of the time-limited water quality standard because of one of the following factors:
  - 1) Naturally occurring pollutant concentrations prevent the attainment of the use:
  - Natural, ephemeral, intermittent or low flow conditions or water levels prevent the attainment of the use, unless these conditions may be compensated for by the discharge of sufficient volume of effluent discharges without violating State water conservation requirements to enable uses to be met;
  - 3) Human caused conditions or sources of pollution prevent the attainment of the use and cannot be remedied or would cause more environmental damage to correct than to leave in place;
  - Dams, diversions or other types of hydrologic modifications preclude the attainment of the use, and it is not feasible to restore the water body to its original condition or to operate such modification in a way that would result in the attainment of the use;
  - 5) Physical conditions related to the natural features of the water body, such as the lack of a proper substrate, cover, flow, depth, pools, riffles, and the like, unrelated to water quality, preclude attainment of aquatic life protection uses;
  - 6) Controls more stringent than those required by Sections 301(b) and 306 of the Clean Water Act would result in substantial and widespread economic and social impact; or
  - 7) Actions necessary to facilitate lake, wetland, or stream restoration through dam removal or other significant reconfiguration activities preclude

attainment of the designated use and criterion while the actions are being implemented.

The petitioner must demonstrate that the term of the time-limited water quality standard is only as long as necessary to achieve the highest attainable condition. Such demonstration must justify the term of the time-limited water quality standard by describing the pollutant control activities to achieve the highest attainable condition, including those activities through a Pollutant Minimization Program.

(Source:	Added	at	III. Reg	, effective	
----------	-------	----	----------	-------------	--

## Section 104.565 Opinion and Order

- Where the Board adopts a time-limited water quality standard, the Board shall maintain, in its standards, the underlying designated use and criterion addressed by the time-limited water quality standard, unless the Board adopts and United States Environmental Protection Agency approves a revision to the underlying designated use and criterion consistent with 40 C.F.R. §131.10 and §131.11.
- b) A time-limited water quality standard may not be adopted if the designated use and criterion addressed by the time-limited water quality standard can be achieved by implementing technology based effluent limits required under Sections 301(b) and 306 of the Clean Water Act and 35 Ill. Adm. Code Part 304.
- c) The Board may not adopt a time-limited water quality standard if petitioner fails to meet its burden of proof as set forth in Section 104.560 of this Part.
- d) All orders adopting a time-limited water quality standard must include:
  - 1) Identification of the pollutant or water quality parameter;
  - 2) Applicability
    - A) Watershed, Water Body, Waterbody Segment and Multiple Discharger
      - i) identification of the watershed, water body, or waterbody segment to which the time-limited water quality standard applies;
      - ii) eligibility criteria that may be used by new or existing dischargers or classes of dischargers to obtain coverage under the time-limited water quality standard during its duration; and

- iii) the list of persons covered under the time-limited water quality standard at the time of the Board's adoption.
- B) Single Discharger
  - i) identification of the water body, or waterbody segment to which the time-limited water quality standard applies; and
  - ii) the person covered under the time-limited water quality standard.
- 3) The time-limited water quality standard requirements and conditions that apply throughout the term of the time-limited water quality standard
  - A) shall represent the highest attainable condition of the watershed, water body, or waterbody segment applicable throughout the term of the time-limited water quality standard based on petitioner's demonstration required by Section 104.560; and
  - B) shall not result in any lowering of the currently attained ambient water quality, unless the petitioner demonstrates that a time-limited water quality standard is necessary for restoration activities pursuant to Section 104.560(b)(7).
- 4) The highest attainable condition of the waterbody or water segment as a quantifiable expression of one of the following:
  - A) For a single discharger and a multiple discharger time-limited water quality standard:
    - i) The highest attainable interim criterion;
    - ii) The interim effluent condition that reflects the greatest pollutant reduction achievable; or
    - iii) If no additional feasible pollutant control technology can be identified, the interim criterion or interim effluent condition that reflects the greatest pollutant reduction achievable with the pollutant control technologies installed at the time the Board adopts the time-limited water quality standard, and the adoption and implementation of a Pollutant Minimization Program.
  - B) For a time-limited water quality standard applicable to a watershed, water body, or a waterbody segment:

- i) The highest attainable interim use and interim criterion; or
- ii) If no additional feasible pollutant control technology can be identified, the interim use and interim criterion that reflect the greatest pollutant reduction achievable with the pollutant control technologies installed at the time the Board adopts the time-limited water quality standard, and the adoption and implementation of a Pollutant Minimization Program.
- A statement providing that the requirements of time-limited water quality standard are either the highest attainable condition identified at the time of the adoption of the time-limited water quality standard, or the highest attainable condition later identified during any reevaluation consistent with Section 104.580 of this Part, whichever is more stringent.
- 6) The term of the time-limited water quality standard, expressed as an interval of time from the date of United States Environmental Protection Agency approval or a specific date.
- 7) For a time-limited water quality standard with a term greater than five years, a specified frequency to reevaluate the highest attainable condition pursuant Section 104.580, that must occur no less frequently than every five years after both Board and United States Environmental Protection Agency approval of the time-limited water quality standard.
- 8) A provision that the time-limited water quality standard will no longer be the applicable water quality standard for purposes of the Clean Water Act if the petitioner does not conduct a reevaluation consistent with the frequency specified in the time-limited water quality standard or the results are not submitted to the United States Environmental Protection Agency as required by Section 104.580.
- e) Any party may file a motion for reconsideration pursuant to the rules in Section 101.520 of a final Board order entered pursuant to this Section.

(Source:	Added at	III. Reg.	, effective	)
----------	----------	-----------	-------------	---

## Section 104.570 USEPA Review

a) Before a time-limited water quality standard becomes effective for Clean Water Act purposes, the Agency must submit the time-limited water quality standard to the United States Environmental Protection Agency and obtain the United States Environmental Protection Agency's approval in accordance with Section 303(c) of the Clean Water Act and 40 C.F.R. §§131.20 and 131.21.

- b) The Agency shall file the United States Environmental Protection Agency's decision with the Board.
- c) If USEPA disapproves of a Board adopted time-limited water quality standard the petitioner may file a Petition to Modify a Time-Limited Water Quality Standard.
  - The petition to modify shall address all deficiencies raised by USEPA and shall be served on all parties to the Board's proceeding adopting the time-limited water quality standard.
  - 2) The Board shall automatically incorporate the record from the Board's proceeding adopting the time-limited water quality standard.
  - 3) The Board shall accept public comments for at least 30 days after a petition to modify is filed.
  - 4) <u>If the Board, in its discretion, concludes a hearing would be advisable, then a hearing shall be held.</u>
  - 5) Any order issued by the Board modifying a previously granted timelimited water quality standard shall comply with Section 104.565.
  - 6) The Agency shall submit any order issued by the Board modifying a previously granted time-limited water quality standard to USEPA for review and approval.

(Common)	Addad at	III. Reg.	, effective	1
(SOUTCE:	Added at	III. KEE.	. CHECHIVE	, ,

# Section 104.575 Coverage Under Board-Approved Time-Limited Water Quality Standard

- a) Any discharger that has not obtained a time-limited water quality standard may obtain coverage under a Board-approved time-limited water quality standard by satisfying, at the time of renewal or modification of that person's federal National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit or at the time the person files an application for certification under Section 401 of the federal Clean Water Act, the Board-approved criteria for coverage under the time-limited water quality standard.
- Any applicant obtaining coverage under a Board-approved time-limited water quality standard must comply with the requirements and conditions that apply throughout the term of the time-limited water quality standard established pursuant to Section 104.565(d)(3) of this Part.

		quality standard must participate in any reevaluations of Section 104.580 of this Part.	onducted pursuant to
	(Sou	rce: Added at III. Reg, effective)	
Sect	tion 104	580 Reevaluation	
	<u>a)</u>	Proposed reevaluation. When a time-limited water quali greater than five years and the Board accordingly sets a	
		1) The petitioner and any person granted coverage must file its proposed reevaluation with the Boar reevaluation frequency set forth in the Board's o limited water quality standard pursuant to Section	rd according to the rder adopting the time-
		2) Petitioner must serve one copy of the proposed r Agency, each participant, and each member of the by the Board pursuant to Section 104.520(b)(4) of	ne notice list maintained
		3) The proposed reevaluation must assess the higher using all existing and readily available information	
	<u>b)</u>	The clerk shall publicize notice of the proposed reevaluate website and in a newspaper of general circulation in the or pollution source is located.	
	<u>c)</u>	The Board shall accept public comments for a period no	t shorter than 30 days.
	<u>d)</u>	The Board shall reevaluate the highest attainable conditionation.	ons using all existing and
	<u>e)</u>	The Agency shall submit the Board's reevaluation opinion States Environmental Protection Agency for approval wof the Board's order.	
	(Sour	ce: Added at III. Reg, effective)	

#### Section 104.585 Appeal Rights

Any person who is adversely affected or threated by a final Board order entered pursuant to this Subpart may obtain judicial review of the Board order by filing a petition for review within 35 days after the date the Board order was served on the person affected by the order, under the provisions of the Administrative Review Law, and the rules adopted pursuant thereto, except that review shall be afforded directly in the appellate court for the district in which the cause of action arose and not in the circuit court. For purposes of judicial review under this Section, a

person is deemed to have been served with the Board's final order on the date on which the order is first published by the Board on its website. [415 ILCS 5/38,5(i)].

#### Section 104.590 Extension

- a) If, at the end of the time-limited water quality standard, the underlying designated use remains unattainable, the petitioner may seek an extension of an existing time-limited water quality standard, consistent with the requirements of this Subpart.
- b) A petition to extend a time-limited water quality standard previously granted by the Board is a new petition for a time-limited water quality standard before the Board, and must be filed in accordance with this Subpart and 35 III. Adm. Code 101.Subpart C, including payment of the filing fee pursuant to Section 104.520(c) of this Part and 35 III. Adm. Code 101.302(e)(6).
- c) In addition to the requirements of Section 104.530, the petition for extension of the time-limited water quality standard must contain:
  - A detailed explanation showing that satisfactory progress toward attaining the designated use has been made during the term of the prior time-limited water quality standard and that additional time is needed to make further progress;
  - 2) a demonstration of whether conditions have changed such that the designated use and criterion are not attainable;
  - a demonstration of whether new or additional information has become available to indicate that the designated use and criterion are not attainable in the future;
  - documentation showing that the requirements and conditions established by the Board that applied throughout the term of the prior time-limited water quality standard have been fully met, or, if any requirement or condition has not been fully met, a detailed explanation of the reason or reasons that the requirement has not been fully met; and
  - 5) a motion to incorporate any material from the record of the prior timelimited water quality standard proceeding in accordance with 35 Ill. Adm. Code 101.306.

(Source:	Added	at	III. Reg	, effective	_)
----------	-------	----	----------	-------------	----

#### CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Sara G. Terranova, Assistant Counsel for the Illinois EPA, herein certifies that she has served a copy of the foregoing NOTICE OF FILING and MOTION FOR ACCEPTANCE; APPEARANCES; CERTIFICATE OF ORIGINATION; STATEMENT OF REASONS; and PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO 35 ILL. ADM. CODE PART 104, SUBPART E, upon persons listed on the Service List by mailing a true copy in an envelope duly addressed bearing proper first class postage and deposited in the United States mail at Springfield, Illinois on \$17/2017.

ILLINOIS ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY

By: /s/Sara G. Terranova
Sara G. Terranova
Assistant Counsel
Division of Legal Counsel
Sara.Terranova@illinois.gov

DATED: 8 9 7017

1021 N. Grand Avenue East P.O. Box 19276 Springfield, IL 62794-9276 (217) 782-5544 epa.dlc@illinois.gov

# SERVICE LIST

Office of Legal Service Illinois Department of Natural Resources One Natural Resources Way Springfield, IL 62702-1271

Division Chief of Environmental Enforcement Office of the Attorney General 100 West Randolph St. Suite 1200 Chicago IL60601 enviro@atg.state.il.us